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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
12 31
17,141 13,664 11,426 8,701 8,080
12,689 13,261 13,965 14,660 15,148
29,830 26,924 25,391 23,361 23,228
@ 34,176 31,207 29,520 26,953 27,338
4,665 5,799 5,914 6,308 6,623
@ 3,150 5,964 1,708 5,376 5,283
@ 3,124 6,139 2,284 5,256 5,145
1 @)
( ) 2.68 5.26 1.95 4.46 4.35
( ) 2.65 5.20 1.94 4.46 4.35
(O]
1,166 1,167 1,170 1,180 1,182
1,180 1,180 1,175 1,180 1,182
12 31
®) 9,609 8,124 9,008 8,898 5,311
74,122 68,331 72,159 71,174 58,464
®) 4,277 1,735 4,808 4,528 2,348
®) 7,169 7,941 9,547 11,042 13,605
1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229
Q) 45,808 43,406 42,848 41,523 29,927
m (A.1) (€.2)
@
©) (C.6)
*
®) (E.3)
®) (E.3) (D.5)
Q) (E-2)
SAP SE SAP SE SAP European Company Societas Europaea
SE SAP SE
SAP SE
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Systemanalyse und Programmentwicklung GbR  1972-1976) SAP Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der
Datenverarbeitung GmbH 1976-1988 SAP Aktiengesellschaft Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der
Datenverarbeitung 1988-2005 SAP AG 2005-2014
69190 16
+49-6227-7-47474

1972
SAP SE 1 2
3 4 5
6
SAP 2024 12 31 109,000
SAP SE
ADR NYSE DAX TecDAX
STOXX50
2024 12 31 DAX
S&P S&P ESG
5

1 IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Applications Software Market Shares, 2023: Cloud Foundation Brings Preparedness for
Al, Doc #US51079524, 2024 6
1DC 2 0.5

2 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2024H1, 2024 10
3 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2024H1, 2024 10
1DC 2 0.5

4 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2024H1, 2024 10
5 IDC, Worldwide Travel and Expense Management Software Market Shares, 2023: Resurgence of Business Travel
Heralds a New Chapter in Travel and Expense Software, Doc #US51658524, 2024 8

6 IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Resource Planning Applications Market Shares, 2023: Preparing for the Al-Enabled
World, #US52728224, 2024 12

SAP SE SAP 2024 12 31 SAP 226

(6-9)
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2024 SAP
SAP SE
2024 2024
o 12 31
( (€))
) (
)
SAP Deutschland SE
& Co. KG 100% 6,343,048 1,578,098 (@)
@
SAP hwei AG
(Schweiz) 100% 1,519,757 252,873 Q)
SAP (UK)Limited
ot 100% 1,565,630 223,774 Q)
SAP Espafia —
Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y
Productos en la 100% 718,448 110,369 @)
Informatica,
S.A.
SAP F S.A.
rance 100% 1,369,306 1,849,849 Q)
SAP Italia Sistemi
Applicazioni
Prodotti in Data 100% 848,348 120,584 Q)
Processing
S.p.A.
SAP Nederland
B.V. 100% 887,685 593,195 (@)
(O]
Ariba, Inc.
100% 1,197,707 3,637,872 ™
Concur
Technologies,
Inc. 100% 2,269,859 7,579,955 (@)
SAP America, Inc.
100% 9,534,492 21,910,872 ™
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SAP Industries,
Inc.
100% 646,265 1,709,305 (@)
SAP National
Security Services,
Inc. 100% 1,182,435 617,815 Q)
SAP Brasil Ltda.
@ 100% 860,542 100,749 @)
SAP Canada Inc. -
anada nc 100% 1,312,653 770,602 ™
SAP México S.A.
de C.V. 100% 583,793 113,858 (@)
®
SAP
100% 1,234,747 186,110 *)
SAP Australia Pty
Ltd. 100% 864,311 114,584 (@)
SAP (China) Co.,
Ltd. 100% 1,322,903 -81,494 (@)
(©))
SAP India Private
Limited 100% 902,960 263,069 Q)
(@)
€Y IFRS
® SAP SE
A

EMEA
APJ

2024 12 31 2023 12 31 2022 12 31

EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ
4,543 4,339 4,764 13,646 4,389 4,266 4,426 13,080 4,178 4,025 4,538 12,740

8,485 4,719 5,566 18,770 8,178 5,013 5,481 18,672 8,129 5,106 5,769 19,005

18,819 5,677 13,094 37,590 18,086 5,884 12,474 36,444 17,764 5,752 11,764 35,280
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12,042 9,801 5,139 26,983 12,086 10,300 5,342 27,728 11,671 10,633 5,463 27,766

3,836 1,83 1,300 6,971 3,619 1,777 1,307 6,704 3,387 1,804 1,240 6,431

3,076 1,164 921 5,161 2,834 1,274 867 4,975 2,795 1,382 912 5,089

SAP @3 ) 50,801 27,536 30,784 109,121 49,191 28,515 29,897 107,602 47,924 28,702 29,686 106,312
413 414 86 912 421 138 0 558 188 189 8 385
SAP C ) 49,764 27,394 29,997 107,155 48,222 28,239 29,582 106,043 47,359 28,785 29,438 105,582
2025
(8.6)
FTE
FTE
6
)
71,007
38,965
1
0
109,973
(8.6)
(8.1) (8.2)
2024 5
SAP SE Works Council WoC
SAP SE WoC
SAP SE SAP
SE SAP Deutschland SE & Co. KG SAP Germany Concur (Germany) GmbH Emarsys
Interactive Services GmbH
SAP SE SAP Germany Concur (Germany) GmbH Emarsys Interactive
Services GmbH SAP SE SAP Germany

SAP SE
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SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SYNTEC 2019 12 31
SAP France SAP France Holding

SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS

SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France
Concur (France) SAS SAP Osterreich
GmbH SAP Espafia — Sistemas, Aplicaciones y Productos en la Informatica, S.A. SAO
D.0.0. SAP Belgium NV/SA.  SAP Israel SAP Nederland B.V. SAP Italia Sistemi
Applicazioni Prodotti inData Processing S.p.A. SAP China Beijing

SAP CR, spol. s r.o. SAP Services s.r.o. Ariba Czech s.r.o. Concur Czech (s.r.o.) SAP
Brasil Ltda SAP Korea Ltd. SAP North West Africa Ltd. SAP Slovensko s.r.o.
SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o. SAP Romania SRL
SAP Svenska Aktiebolag SAP UK Ltd. SAP Ireland Ltd. SAP
SAP 2015 64
2024
20.2% 77.7% 77.7% 90.8%
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SAP Green Ledger

ESG
ESG

Al

SAP Business Suite 3
ERP LoB
SAP Business Suite
SAP SAP BTP
SAP SAP
Al
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AER D E N
g
EHAAYTLR
SAP Businoss Suile
Cloud ERP Suite SAP Business Suite SAP Business Suite
Suite
Al Suite
Al Al
Al Joule
Joule
Al
Suite Suite
Suite SAP BTP
RISE with SAP GROW with SAP
RISE with SAP ERP SAP Business
Suite
GROW with SAP ERP

ERP software-as-a-service SaaS
IT
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IT
SAP Al
SAP Al SAP BTP
Al
ERP
IT 30,000
Al
Al Joule
Al
Al Foundation on SAP BTP
SAP Al Services Al
Al
SAP Business Al SAP 30

Al 37,000 Al
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SAP S/4HANA

Al

ERP

SAP SuccessFactors

Al

SAP Ariba

SAP Fieldglass

SAP

Al
SAP

SAP
Al

SAP BTP

SAP Build

SAP HANA

SAP
Al

SAP S/4HANA  SAP S/4HANA Cloud

SAP BTP

IT
SAP Build Code

26/393

ERP

EDINETOOOO
O00DO0000O0O0n(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Concur

Al

SAP ERP

SAP BTP

ABAP Cloud
SAP HANA Cloud SAP



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0000O0O0n(E24727)

ooo0000
Datasphere SAP Analytics Cloud
integration platform as a service iPaaS
API SAP Integration Suite
LLM Al Al
Al Foundation on SAP BTP
Rise with SAP GROW with SAP

SAP Business Al

SAP
SAP 190
SAP Signavio
SAP LeanlX IT
WalkMe
SAP Enable Now
SAP E SAP Enable Now
WalkMe SAP
SAP Taulia

SAP Taulia Cash Flow Acceleration
SAP Taulia
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ESG

SAP Sustainability ERP
Al ESG
ESG
SAP Sustainability Control Tower SAP Sustainability Footprint Management SAP

Sustainability Data Exchange 2024 12 SAP Green Ledger
SAP Green Ledger

25,000

SAP BTP

SAP Enterprise Support SAP Enterprise Support

SAP Preferred Success SAP Cloud Application Services

SAP MaxAttention SAP ActiveAttention
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XM
CEO
CMI NPS
XM NPS
KP1
NPS
NPS KP1
2024 NPS 3 12 2023 9 9 13
SAP S/4HANA Cloud Private Edition SAP SuccessFactors
SAP Integration Suite NPS
3 3
2024
KP1 2024 1 2024
3 170 172.1
173
3 295 299.6
298
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2,3 & 82.3
80
35
41.1
40
9 13 12
70% 74% 74%
690
22.5%
()
1 2024 2024 1 2024 2024 10
3 4 2024
IFRS
2 IFRS
3
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2025
2025 2025
KP1 2024 2025
216
171.4
219 2
331
298.3
336 2
10%
32%
1 615 103
) 106 1,2
3 42.2 80
12 12 16
74% 4% 78%
690
BHCI #Unfiltered
10 80% 80%  82%
(BHCD)
1 IFRS
2
3 2024 2025 2025
2024 41.1
3 3 3 4 (3
3 5 3 6
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@
53 3 O
10
1
ESG
2)
News Center
3
UN SDGs
1
CEO

NGO
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25
ERP Al

Al

SAP Sustainability Control Tower SAP Sustainability Footprint
Management SAP Sustainability Data Exchange SAP Responsible Design and Production SAP Green Ledger
SAP Business Al Al ESG 2
Al
Al

1.5 2030

Al

400
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(IR)

26,000
SAP Support Portal

- NPO
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SAP University Alliances

34/393

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

IT
ESRS

Al

SAP SE

Web



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

NGO

2024 4

- Al
Al Al

SAP
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SAP
IRO
CEO CFO CEO CFO
ESG
ESG ESG
IRO
2 1
IRO
IRO
IRO
IRO
IRO IRO IRO
ESG ESG
IRO 2024
2024
IRO
(GRE&AS)
S2-1 S§2-8 E1-5 E1-6 E1-8 E1-13 E5-2 1RO
2024 IRO 2024 3 ESG
2024
Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz (LKSG)
)
#Unfiltered
IRO
ESG ESG

ESG
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€))
( CFO )
(GR&AS) SOX ESG
2024 GR&AS ESG
KPI
ESG
ESRS
ESRS 1
( / x )
5 2 1
7 4 3
9 8 6
(Bundesamt fiir Wirtschaft und Ausfuhrkontrolle, BAFA)

KP1 2024
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2024
3
HR
— SAP SuccessFactors
Al
SAP SuccessFactors
HCM
SAP One
Success Map
2025
300 60

80
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2
Al
3
6
SharePoint
SAP Learning
SharePoint
Al Learning Al
SharePoint Al
Leadership Journeys
2024 1 1 28 1 28
1 28
2024 97%2 300 3 13,025 50
1 36 4
90 S
6 95 6
75
( ): 72%7
482 71 8
1 FTE

2FTE
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5
6 6
1- 5-
5
TTaulia Emarsys Volume Integration LeanlX WalkMe
8Taulia Emarsys Volume Integration LeanlX WalkMe
SMART1
2 SAP Talk?
2024 84% 84 85 3 SAP Talk 2
SAP Talk 5 5 6 2024 533,952
SAP Talk 200,000 SAP Talk
1SMART Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Timely
25AP Talk
3 35,000 1
SAP Talk 012 3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
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1
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10
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NPS

#Unfiltered

#Unfiltered

Global Executive Level Senior Executive Level

GHG
ESRS

NPS
#Unfiltered
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NPS 10 9 10
1 6
7 8 NPS 100 100
BHCI 2024 6 #Unfiltered
#Unfiltered 2024 11 14
#Unfiltered
3 2024 6
RN =24 BN EORZ « AJILA -
r—t 2 FEE hILF r—iEM
86 83 80 80 =t R
.N.ﬂ_.xm
P0ER  H2NEE PEE WIAEE PP
—di—tg b

74 b =itk 78 $ meor

B StV b HL =T a & Jo+AOMMEE

FSRA R 42— 3 EN =t BR

Fui ks TOE—H— - =t R

AATER

—3
JOE—4—- —dii—r e k- 42— b
684, A3T 90-L Ak 641‘#4;&
#Unfiltered!
2 #Unfiltered
2024
6 11
NPS
EEI 1 STI
2024 EEI 76 80 7 2
2024 EEI 70 74 EEI BHCI NPS
2025 74 78
EEI
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6

10

13

#Unfiltered

#Unfiltered (

70 )

WalkMe

2024

77,577

#Unfiltered

(ENG)

76

)

ENGs

2023

3

83,042
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ADR

EU COVID-19

SAP

ESG
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12

DOJ

MPMG

CoEBC

2024 1

DOJ

CGE
CGE MPMG
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Al Global Al Ethics Policy

Al
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1
3 4 (3
2
2 3 3 4 (3
3
(A.1)
2024 ECB 1
ECB
ECB 2024
3
ECB
APJ ECB 1
11
1 8/2024 2025 1 9
IT 2024
International Data Corporation
IDC DX
DX 2 1
IDC 1 Al IDC
Al 2
Al Al

IDC
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Al
Al GenAl Al 2024
POCs 3 1DC
18
4
Al
2024
I1DC ERP
Al
5
EMEA Digital Transformation Market Forecast, 2024-2028, 2024 12 , IDC #EUR150281123

IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Business and Al Transformation 2025 Predictions, 2024 10 , 1DC #US52641124
IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Intelligent ERP 2025 Predictions, 2024 10 , 1DC #US51078024

IDC Future Scape: Worldwide IT Industry 2025 Predictions, 2024 10 , IDC #US51736824

IDC Wor ldwide Enterprise Resource Planning Applications Software Forecast, 2024—2028: GenAl Revamps Road Maps,

2024 12 , 1DC #US52739624

2024
IFRS
RISE with SAP GROW with SAP
SAP Business Al
2024 1 1
Al
2024 100 SAP Business Al
2023 6 SAP Business Al Joule
IT 2024
25 171
CCB 32 181 TCB
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(Thomas Saueressig) 4 9 “ 2019 2028
1985
(€00) (Sebastian Steinhaeuser) 11 7 ® 2025 2028
(CPO) 1975
(Gina Vargiu-Breuer) 1 14 ® 2024 2027
(1) CEO Vorstandsvorsitzender 45
1999 2018
2019 10 10 CEO 2020 4 20 CEO
Al
@ 48
2022 2024 4
SAP
17 Microsoft
® 56
INSEAD 2023 3
CFO
2019 4 2023 2 SE CFO
2011 A CFO
O 40
ESSEC
MBA 2004 2019
®) 39
MBA
2020 2025 -
®) 50 ESMT
2024 2
Siemens Energy
2024 12 31
SAP S 6.4) SAP SE
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13 5 28
Sanoma Corporation
(Or. h. c. mult. Pekka Ala- 1957 1 13 2024 2026
Pietila) (DG (M (®)
(Lars Lamadé)(D(3)(8) 1971 46 2002 2029
(Jakub Cerny)D®®) 1982 6 22 2024 2029
SAP SE (Pascal Denat) @G 1967 8 21 2024 2029
( )
Zoox, Inc.
(Aicha Evans)®©)(?) 1969 3 2 2017 2028
SAP SE ( ) (Andreas Hahn) (2 (3)(6) 1971 14 2024 2029
Hasso Plattner Institute for
Digital Engineering gGmbH (Prof. Dr. Ralf Herbrich) (D®) |1974 5 11 2024 2028
©)
SAP 0B 0G
(Margret Klein-Magar)(3)(4) 1964 9 5 2012 2029
Changcheng Investment Partners
(Jennifer Xin-Zhe L) G)(9) 1967 9 21 2022 2021
Miracle Plus CEO (r. Qi Lu)® 1961 9 3 2020 2027
SAP EMEA
SAP Spain (César Martin)(@)(®) 1972 11 26 2024 2029
Oswald Consulting GmbH
(Gerhard Oswald)(#)(6)(8) 1953 6 20 2019 2026
Deutsche Bank AG (Or. Friederike Rotsch)®®W |1972 10 31 2018 2028
(©))
SAP SE ) ( (Nicolas Sabatier) (D(3)(6) 1960 12 25 2024 2029
SAP SE (Dr. Eberhard Schick)(#)(5) 1967 5 3 2024 2029
HRBP
People Initiatives (Nina Strassner)( @ G)(®) 1981 9 24 2024 2029
Hasso Plattner Foundation
HPC Germany
1972 14 2021 202
GmbH & Co. KG General Partner| (Dr. Rouven Westphal)(3(G)(M) 9729 0 026
Wlarner Bros. Discovery InC. | n. Ginnar wiedenfels)®W®® | 1977 9 6 2019 2026

©®

(1) 2024 5 15
(2) 2024 4 25

SAP SE
SAP SE
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2024 5 15

11 ()

SAP SE

SAP SE

2024 12 31

SAP SE

2024 5 15
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KPI
KPI

1 Adobe Amazon.com Apple Automatic Data Processing Cisco Systems Cognizant
Technology Solutions Dell Technologies DXC Technology Meta Hewlett Packard Enterprise International
Business Machines Microsoft Netflix Oracle salesforce.com ServiceNow VMware Western Digital

Workday

SAP SE Mitarbeiterfinanzierte

Altersvorsorge

SAP

10

200 10
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2024 IFRS
2024 IFRS
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STl KPI 2025
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KPI 90 110
0.5
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1 STI
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STI
STI 10
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3
S0G
3 2024 1 1 1
CEO 200
S0G S0G S0G
20 S0G SOG 50 S0G 3
S06 S0G 2024 2024 12 31
S0G S06
( )
2,200,000 440,000 163.08 2,698
(2024 4 1 ) 860,000 172,000 176.50 975
800,000 160,000 163.08 981
800,000 160,000 163.08 981
800,000 160,000 163.08 981
o024 2 1 )
S0G
10
12 31
STI
STI
STI LT12024
20 120
2024
11.0 CEO
20.0
130
5 100
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20,000.0 20,000.0
8,250.0 8,250.0
(024 4 1 )
11,000.0 2,850.0 13,850.0
8,250.0 8,250.0
(2024 9 30 )
9,533.3 9,533.3
(2024 8 31 )
11,000.0 11,000.0
10,083.3 680.0 40.0 10,803.3
o024 2 1 )
7,333.3 7,333.3
(2024 8 31 )
2024 2024 LTI
2027
2023 LTI12020 2023
2026
15.0 CEO 34.5
STI LTI
2023
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2024
2024 5 ST12023 LTI12020 2020
2025 2 19
ST12024
2024 2 21 2024
11 2023 12 1
STI LTI
2024 5 5 2025 5 1 2028 4 30 3
2024 7 29
2024 9 1
2024 11 7 WalkMe ST12024 LTI 2022
LTI 2023 2024
2023 9 2023 2024
STI
LTI 2023 2024 KPI STI LTI
LT12020 2021 2022 2023 LT12024 2024
2024 STI STI12024
LTI 2021
2022 PSU 0.005 ST12023 0.049
ST12024
2024 STI
KP1 100
1 17,539 17,515 0.993
1 +8.64% +11.05% 1.260
1 +182 4325 1.400
+11 +12 1.050
78% 74% 0.750
1 IFRS
ST12024 1.143 STI STI
ST12024

KP1
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14 1.4 14
%12 ®i L %
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0.4 od 04
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o0 o0 an
2% 4% 6% B% 10% 17% 14% 50 100 150 200 250 300 15,500 17,500 19,500
KPI
fEE+v - Joe—4%—- HERATIF—TAHEY
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a0 20
18 i8
16 16
14 14
%12 %12
0 # 10
e £
B 0.8 & 08
0.6 06
0.4 04
0.2 02
0.0 00
@ 4 8 12 16 20 68% 72% 7T6% B0% 84%
STI STI 2020 2023 STI
STI
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
1.143 1.151 0.612 1.333 0
STI STI STI 2
STI 1
(CEO) 2,960,000 3,382,984 2,706,387 676,597 2,506
1,196,013 1,366,923 1,093,539 273,385 978
(2024 4 1 )
1,990,000 2,274,371 1,819,497 454,874 1,684
958,251 1,095,185 876,148 219,037 812
(2024 9 30 )
1,581,000 1,806,925 1,445,540 361,385 1,292
(2024 8 31 )
1,600,000 1,828,640 1,462,912 365,728 1,354
1,171,585 1,339,004 1,071,203 267,801 992
(2024 2 1 )
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1,063,000 1,214,903 971,922 242,981 868
(2024 8 31 )
1 STI 1.143
2 STI 269.98 279.71
LT12024 — 2024 — PSU ESG PSU 100
2024 LT12024 2024 PSU ESG PSU 100
2020 10 2025 Qualtrics
2023 7
100
KPI (2024 2026 )
1 67,300
1 29,600
1 47,800
1 2023 IFRS
100
KPI (2024 2026 )
2030 (Co%e) ( ) 17,400
( ) 70.8
70.8 3
LT12020 — 2021 —
2024 LT12020 2021 PSU PSU LTI
100
KPI (2021
2023 )
1 33,000 34,898 1.288
1 85,000 88,553 1.209
1 23,900 24,725 1.086
100 19 1.500
1 2020 IFRS
2021 2024 LTI
2020 2024 5 LTI 2020
2024 1 25 2 22
LTI LTI
LTI 2024 LTI 2020
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
1 1 1 1 1
2024 12 31 167.3 250.7 237.0 246.8 73.5
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2023 12 31 NA 149.1 158.5 165.9 63.0
1
2024
2023 162
100
STI
STI LTI
20
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2024 ST12024 LT12020 2021
LT12020 2021 PSU
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2020 2021
(100.0%) {100.0%)
N Y O EEOEETRT 5 (8. 2—0) bl it
— MTHEOMK EFET
#EE (RSU)
1/3
TE5EEDEILF ERM
BERNLURSBERTRLS 00 0583
15 1.201
—BEAOLETHROR el
FEROKMH B YVORYE (B : 1 —0)TERLB 14?.2 212.:;1'
—_— L=
e N 2023 2024
=B FOFHE(EFg : 2—0O) (63.006) (246.8%)
L IREN
BRSBTS + 1 #5% 7- U OB %48 (84 - 1—0) TRLA L *
R 42007 SHE (84 - 1—0) G|
1 200
73.5 63.0
2024 LT12020 — 2020
STI
STI
STI STI
(Christian Klein) (Muhammad Alam)
CEO (024 4 1 )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
1,100.01,100.0 1,100.0 5.8 1,100.0 15.4  600.0 600.0 31.0 0
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1 15.2  21.7 15.2 0.1 21.7 0.3 241 24.1 1.2 0
330.0 330.0 1.7 0 0 0
40.9 40.9
( )2
1,445.21,121.7 1,445.2 7.6 1,121.7 15.7 664.9 0 664.9 34.3 (] 0
STI 2023 1,900.0 0 2,186.9 30.6 0 0
STI 2024 2,368.0 2,706.4  14.3 0 889.6 1,016.7 52.5 0
(80 )
STI 2024 1 296.0 338.3 1.8 0 111.2 127.1 6.6 0
(10 )
STI 2024 11 296.0 338.3 1.8 0 111.2 127.1 6.6 0
(10 )
LTI 2016 - 0 386.9 5.4 0 0
2019
LTI 2020 — 2020 581.4 3.1 3,462.6 48.4 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2021 13,573.4  71.5 0 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 5,500.0 0 0 0 0
LTI 2024 — 2024 4,440.0 0 0 1,668.0 0 0
7,400.07,400.0 17,537.8  92.4 6,036.4 84.3 2,780.1 0 1,270.9 65.7 0 0
8,845.28,521.7 18,983.0 100.0 7,158.1 100.0 3,445.0 0 1,935.9 100.0 0 0
LT12020 2020 4,044.0
3,462.6 581.4
(Dominik Asam) (Juergen Mueller)
(2024 9 30 )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
800.0 655.1 800.0  24.4 655.1 16.6  600.0 700.0 600.0 8.4 700.0 19.2
1 26.8 57.5 26.8 0.8 57.5 1.5 11.3  15.7 11.3 0.2 15.7 0.4
180.0 180.0 5.5 0 180.0 180.0 2.5 0
1,600.0 0 1,600.0 40.6 0 0
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1,006.82,312.5 1,006.8 30.7 2,312.5 58.7 791.3 715.7 791.3 11.1 715.7 19.6
STI 2023 1,416.3 0 1,630.2 41.3 1,125.8 0 1,295.7 35.5
STI 2024 1,592.0 1,819.5 55.5 0 766.6 876.1 12.3 0
(80 )
STI 2024 1 199.0 227.4 6.9 0 95.8 109.5 1.5 0
(10 )
STI 2024 1 199.0 227.4 6.9 0 95.8 109.5 1.5 0
(10 )
LTI 2016 - 0 0 0 272.8 7.5
2019
LTI 2020 - 2020 0 0 229.9 3.2 1,368.8 37.5
LTI 2020 — 2021 0 0 5,028.1 70.4 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 2,654.8 0 0 2,174.3 0 0
LTI 2024 — 2024 2,932.1 0 0 1,920.0 0 0
4,922.14,071.1 2,274.4 69.3 1,630.2 41.3 2,878.3 3,300.1 6,353.1 88.9 2,937.3 80.4
5,928.96,383.6 3,281.2 100.0 3,942.7 100.0 3,669.5 4,015.7 7,144.4 100.0 3,653.0 100.0
3.85
2024
STI 0.51 LTI 0.71
2024
2.85
LT12020 2020 1,598.7
1,368.8 229.9
(Scott Russell) (Thomas Saueressig)
(2024 8 31 )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
698.91,000.0 698.9 8.2 1,000.0 32.5 800.0 800.0 800.0 9.7 800.0 22.2
1 112.6  64.5 112.6 1.3 64.5 2.1 17.0 15.9 17.0 0.2 15.9 0.4
0 0 0 0
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117.3 112.7 117.3 1.4 112.7 3.7
( )2
928.81,177.3 928.8 10.9 1,177.3 38.3 817.0 815.9 817.0 9.9 815.9 22.6
STI 2023 1,650.0 0 1,899.2 61.7 1,200.0 0 1,381.2 38.2
STI 2024 1,163.0 1,329.2 15.7 0 1,280.0 1,462.9 17.8 0
(80 )
STI 2024 1 145.4 166.2 2.0 0 160.0 182.9 2.2 0
(10 )
STI 2024 1 145.4 166.2 2.0 0 160.0 182.9 2.2 0
(10 )
LTI 2016 - 0 0 0 45.6 1.3
2019
LTI 2020 — 2020 0 0 229.9 2.8 1,368.8 37.9
LTI 2020 — 2021 5,898.9 69.5 0 5,365.8 65.1 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 2,850.0 0 0 2,800.0 0 0
LTI 2024 — 2024 3,271.0 0 0 2,400.0 0 0
4,724.84,500.0 7,560.4 89.1 1,899.2 61.7 4,000.0 4,000.0 7,424.3 90.1 2,795.6 77.4
5,653.65,677.3 8,489.2 100.0 3,076.4 100.0 4,817.0 4,815.9 8,241.3 100.0 3,611.5 100.0
LTI12020 2020 1,598.7
1,368.8 229.9
(Gina Vargiu-Breuer) (Julia White)
(2024 2 1 ) (2024 8 31 )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
733.3 733.3 34.8 0 556.3 750.0 556.3 6.9 750.0 29.3
1 36.4 36.4 1.7 0 81.2 73.9 81.2 1.0 73.9 2.9
220.0 0 0 0 0
85.3 230.1 85.3 1.1 230.1 9.0
( )2
300.0 0 0 0 0
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1,289.8 0 769.8  36.5 0 0 722.81,053.9 722.8 8.9 1,053.9 41.2
STI 2023 0 0 1,304.9 0 1,502.0 58.8
STI 2024 937.3 1,071.2 50.8 0 782.0 893.7 11.0 0
(80 )
STI 2024 1 117.2 133.9 6.3 0 97.7 117.7 1.4 0
(10 )
STI 2024 1 117.2 133.9 6.3 0 97.7 117.7 1.4 0
(10 )
LTI 2020 — 2021 0 0 6,262.8 77.3 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 0 0 2,461.5 0 0
LTI 2024 — 2024 1,757.4 0 0 2,199.3 0 0
2,929.0 0 1,339.0 63.5 0 0 3,176.8 3,766.5 7,379.9 91.1 1,502.0 58.8
4,218.7 0 2,108.8 100.0 0 0 3,899.6 4,820.4 8,102.7 100.0 2,555.9 100.0
2024 2023 2024 2023
5,888.5  5,005.1 5,888.5 10.1 5,005.1 20.9
1 324.6 249.1 324.6 0.6 249.1 1.0
910.0 0 690.0 1.2 0 0
( )2 243.4 342.8 243.4 0.4 342.8 1.4
300.0 1,600.0 0 0 1,600.0 6.7
7,666.5 7,197.0 7,146.5 12.3 7,197.0 30.0
STI 2023 0 8,597.0 0 0 9,895.1 41.2
STI 2024 (80 ) 9,778.5 0 11,175.8 19.2 0 0
STI 2024 1 (10 ) 1,222.3 0 1,397.0 2.4 0 0
STI 2024 1 (10 ) 1,222.3 0 1,397.0 2.4 0 0
LTI 2016 -2019 0 0 0 0 705.3 2.9
LTI 2020 — 2020 0 0 1,041.2 1.8 6,200.2 25.8
LTI 2020 — 2021 0 0 36,129.0 62.0 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 0 18,440.6 0 0 0 0
LTI 2024 — 2024 20,587.8 0 0 0 0 0
12,223.1 27,037.6 51,139.9 87.7 16,800.6 70.0
19,889.7 34,234.6  58,286.5 100.0 23,997.6  100.0
1
2
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LT12024
LT12020
(8.3)
2024 1 1 2024 12 31
©)/
»/
®
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 8,168 0 8,168 8,168
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 13,613 0 13,613 13,613
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 5,445 0 5,445 5,445
~ ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 3 24 16,726 0 0 16,726 16,726
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 16,726 0 0 16,726 16,726
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 16,726 0 0 16,726 16,726
~ RsU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197
PSU
(CEO) LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 3 28 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197
~ RSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 17,230 0 8,615 A 25,845 25,845
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 3 22 17,230 0 3,477 A 20,707 20,707
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230
- RSU
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2 29 8,656 0 8,656 E 0 0
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2 29 14,834 0 14,834 E 0 0
~ RSU
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LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 4 2 0 3,068 0 3,068 3,068
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 4 2 0 5,114 0 5,114 5,114
(2024 4 1 PSU
)
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 4 2 0 2,046 0 2,046 2,046
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 5,394 0 5,394 5,394
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 8,990 0 8,990 8,990
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 3,59 0 3,596 3,596
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,073 0 0 8,073 8,073
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 3 24 8,073 0 0 8,073 8,073
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,073 0 0 8,073 8,073
- RSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 6,017 5,012 F 1,005 1,005
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 10,029 -8,354 F 1,675 1,675
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 4,012 -3,342 F 670 670
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,667 0 5,054 F 3,613 3,613
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,667 0 5,054 F 3,613 3,613
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,667 0 5,054 F 3,613 3,613
- RSU
(2024 8
31 ) LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 8,911 0 -2,970 F 5,941 5,941
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 8,911 0 -2,970 F 5,941 5,941
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 8,911 0 -2,970 F 5,941 5,941
- RSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 8,170 0 3,062 A/F 11,232 11,232
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 8,170 0 829 A/F 8,999 8,999
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 8,170 0 -682 F 7,488 7,488
- RSU
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LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 3,532 2,870 F 662 662
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 5,887 4,783 F 1,104 1,104
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 2,355 1,913 F 442 442
~ ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 6,612 0 3,720 F 2,892 2,892
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 6,612 0 3,720 F 2,802 2,892
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 6,612 0 3,720 F 2,892 2,892
~ RSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 6,798 0 2,126 F 4,672 4,672
PSU
(2024 5; LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 6,798 0 2,126 F 4,672 4,672
30 _
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 6,798 0 2,126 F 4,672 4,672
— RSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 2,763 F 9,574 9,574
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 860 F 7,671 7,671
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 —429 F 6,382 6,382
~ RSU
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2 29 3,422 0 3,422 E 0 0
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2 29 5,864 0 5,864 E 0 0
~ RSU
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LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 4,415 0 4,415 4,415
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 7,358 0 7,358 7,358
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 2,943 0 2,943 2,943
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 3 24 8,515 0 0 8,515 8,515
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 3 24 8,515 0 0 8,515 8,515
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 3 24 8,515 0 0 8,515 8,515
- RSU
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 3 28 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 3 28 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 3 28 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125
- RSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 3,406 A 10,217 10,217
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 1,375 A 8,186 8,186
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 3 22 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811
- RSU
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2 29 3,422 0 3,422 E 0 0
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2 29 5,864 0 5,864 E 0 0
- RSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 3,233 0 3,233 3,233
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 5,388 0 5,388 5,388
PSU
(2024 2 1
) LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 2,155 0 2,155 2,155
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 4,046 3,370 F 676 676
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 6,743 5,617 F 1,126 1,126
PSU
LTI 2024 — 2024 2024 3 12 0 2,697 2,247 F 450 450
- ESG
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 3 24 7,486 0 4,366 F 3,120 3,120
PSU
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LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 24 7,486 0 —4,366 F 3,120 3,120
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2023 2023 24 7,486 0 —4,366 F 3,120 3,120
- RSU
(024 8 LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 28 10,944 0 -3,648 F 7,296 7,296
31 ) -
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 28 10,944 0 -3,648 F 7,296 7,296
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 28 10,944 0 -3,648 F 7,296 7,296
- RSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 22 8,674 0 3,251 A/F 11,925 11,925
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 22 8,674 0 880 A/F 9,554 9,554
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 22 8,674 0 —724 F 7,950 7,950
- RSU
506,312 126,244 -118,539 514,017 514,017
( ) )
LTI 2024 — 2024 - 2024
165.71
PSU 3 12
2026 12
2024
166.25
4 2
LTI 2024 — 2024 - 2024
201.42
PSU 3 12 2027
163.08 2027 2 2028 5
2024 12 31
202.37
4 2
LTI 2024 — 2024 - 2024
165.71
ESG PSU 3 12
2027 2
2024
166.25
4 2
LTI 2020 — 2023 -
105.81 2025 12
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2023 - 2023 2026
109.612 130.56 2026 2 2027 5
PSU 3 24 12 31
LTI 2020 — 2023 -
105.81 NA
RSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 -
96.84 2024 12
PSU
LTI 2020 — 2022 - 2022 2025
106.605 108.20 2025 2 2026 5
PSU 3 28 12 31
LTI 2020 — 2022 -
96.84 NA
RSU
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LTI 2020 — 2021
100.28 2023 12
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 2024
106.405 115.19 2024 2 2025 5
PSU 3 22 12 31
LTI 2020 - 2021
100.28 NA
RSU
LTI 2020 — 2020
110.65 2022 12
PSU
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2023
123.593 122.22 2023 2 2024 5
PSU 2 29 12 31
LTI 2020 — 2020
110.65 NA
RSU
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SAP SE
60 62
4
14 180
62
100 62
60
SAP SE
1
62
(DBO) « )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
0 85.5 452.2 621.8  1,275.1  1,244.8 -822.9 -623.0
(CE0)L
1 71.4 0 99.2 57.7 203.1 0 -103.9 57.7
1 0 46.4 238.5 286.7 796.5 777.4 -558.0 -490.7
(2024 9 30 )
74.0 52.9 396.7 307.2 800.9 625.3 —404.2 -318.1
1
145.4 184.8 1,186.6 1,273.4  3,075.6  2,647.5 -1,889.0 -1,374.1
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1
(DBO) C )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
122 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
0 0 414. 386.3 768. 750.2 -354. -363.
(2021 6 30 )
0 0 625. 589.8 1,159. 1,135.7 -533. 545,
(2019 3 31 )
0 0 726. 681.5 1,382. 1,358.5 —655. -677.
(2023 3 31 )
399.8 377.6 6,593. 6,944.0 6,421. 6,617.9 172. 326.
(2016 12 31
)
0 0 370. 345.5 696. 680.1 -326. -334.
(2020 5 31 )
0 0 258. 237.1 487. 487.4 —229. -250.
(2023 12 31
)
399.8 377.6 8,988. 9,184.2  10,914. 11,029.8 -1,926.4 -1,845.
12
50 3
GCGC
2024
)
(CE0) 2028 4 30 2.85 8,644.1
(2024 4 1 ) 2027 3 31 2.76 910.5
2026 3 6 2.68 1,590.3
2025 10 31 2.67 4,031.2
(024 2 1 ) 2027 1 31 2.74 996.6
16,172.8
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SAP SE

GCGC G.13 2

SAP SE 8 6

SAP SE

SAP SE
SAP SE
SAP SE

12

2024 9 30

2024 9 30

ST12024
LT12020 LT12024

2024 8 31
2024 12 31

2027 1 31 12,614,920 GCGC  G.13

2024 12 31
STI12024 2024 8 31
LT12020 LT12024 2024 8 31
GCGC  G.13
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2024 8 31
2027 2 28 9,000,000 GCGC  G.13
2024 8 31
ST12024
LT12020 LT12024
GCGC G.13
2024
LTI 2020 - LTI 2020 -
2021 2020
) 1
(D)
0 0 6,240.9 6,240.9 100.0 6,240.9
(2023 12 31 )
0 0 3,837.4 203.7 4,041.1 100.0 4,041.1
(2023 3 31 )
354.8 12,614.9 12,969.7 100.0 0 0 12,969.7
(2024 8 31 )
9,000.0 9,000.0 100.0 0 0 9,000.0
(2024 8 31 )
1 2024 2023 12 31
LT12020 2020 531,000
2024 LTI
2024 2024
11 12 31
&)Y/
w/
®
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 1,652 0 1,652 1,652
- PSU 3 24
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 1,652 0 1,652 1,652
— PSU 3 24
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 1,652 0 1,652 1,652
- RSU 3 24
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 4,303 0 4,303 4,303
_ PSU 3 28
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 4,303 0 4,303 4,303
PSU 3 28
(2023 12 31 )
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 4,303 0 4,303 4,303
- RSU 3 28
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 7,922 3,961 A 11,883 11,883
_ PSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 7,922 1,599 A 9,521 9,521
— PSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 7,922 0 7,922 7,922
- RSU 3 22
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LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 0 0 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 3,736 -3,736 E 0 0
— PSU 2 29
(2020 4 30 )
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 -6,403 E 0 0
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 0 0 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,861 -2,861 E 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
(2020 4 30 )
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 4,904 -4,904 E 0 0
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 543 0 543 543
- PSU 3 24
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 543 0 543 543
- PSU 3 24
LTI 2020 - 2023 2023 543 0 543 543
- RSU 3 24
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 2,824 0 2,824 2,824
_ PSU 3 28
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 2,824 0 2,824 2,824
— PSU 3 28
LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 2,824 0 2,824 2,824
- RSU 3 28
(2023 3 31 ) LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 4,871 2,436 A 7,307 7,307
_ PSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 4,871 983 A 5,854 5,854
_ PSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 4,871 0 4,871 4,871
- RSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 0 0 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 3,033 -3,033 E 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,198 -5,198 E 0 0
— RSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 0 0 0 0
_ PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 1,307 -1,307 E 0 0
(2020 5 31 ) PSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 -2,240 E 0 0
- RSU 2 29
96,027 -20,703 75,324 75,324
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SAP SE
D&0
D&0O 93 (@
SAP
162
162
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2020 2021 2022 2023 1 2023 1 204 1 2024 1
) ) ) ) (@D
(CE0) -40 425 -20 7,158 53 18,983 165
(2018 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 1,936 NA
(2024 4 1 )
NA NA NA 3,943 NA 3,281 -17
(2023 3 7 )
162 307 -1 3,611 109 8,241 128
(2019 11 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 2,109 NA
(2024 2 1 )
NA NA -65 2,017 43 6,241 209
(2023 12 31
2 2 0 110 8 119 8
(2014 6 30 )
-46 127 -25 11,634 258 4,041 -65
(2023 3 31 )
-56 307 10 3,653 14 7,144 96
(2024 9 30 )
-53 0 0 378 10 400 6
(2016 12 31
NA NA 2 3,076 35 21,459 598
(2024 8 31 )
NA NA -45 2,556 12 17,103 569
(2024 8 31 )
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SAP -1 2 11 31,207 6 34,176 10
( IFRS)( )
SAP SE —4 5 16 19,018 7 21,412 13
( ) ( )
SAP 1 -1 -2 6,514 9 8,153 25
( IFRS) ( )2
SAP SE 87 8 -29 4,766 149 366 -92
( ) ( )
SAP -12 13 4 156 12 184 18
3
2022 2023 2024 SAP IFRS

2 2023 IFRS 2019 2022 IFRS

2024 31

1
16
2024 5 15
165,000
600,000 220,000
50,000
35,000 95,000
50,000 43,500
72,500
50,000
12 1
2024
2024 2023
)
)
) ()
400.0 100.0 0 0 400.0 NA NA NA NA NA
(©r. h. c. mult. Pekka
Ala-Pietila)
(2024 5 15 )
114.6 64.0 64.6 36.0 179.2 275.0 64.0 155.0  36.0 430.0

(Prof. Dr. h.c. mult.
Hasso Plattner)
(2024 5 15 )
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220.0 68.9 99.2 31.1  319.2 220.0 67.7 105.0  32.3 325.0
(Lars Lamadé)
( )
68.8 57.9 50.0 42.1 118.7 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
(2024 5 15 )
110.0 70.2 46.7 29.8  156.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(Jakub Cerny)
(2024 5 15 )
110.0 70.2 46.7 29.8 156.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(Pascal Demat)
(2024 5 15 )
165.0 54.3 138.7 45.7  303.7 165.0 51.6 155.0  48.4 320.0
(Aicha Evans)
110.0 70.2 46.7 29.8 156.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(Andreas Hahn)
(2024 5 15 )
110.0 70.2 46.7 29.8  156.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(Prof. Dr. Ralf Herbrich)
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 68.8 70.3 29.2 29.8 97.9
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)
(2023 5 11 )
165.0 62.4 99.6 37.6 264.6 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(Margret Klein-Magar)
68.8 61.1 43.7 38.9 112.5 165.0 61.1 105.0  38.9 270.0
(Monika Kovachka-
Dimitrova)
(2024 5 15 )
68.8 51.6 64.6 48.4 133.3 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(Peter Lengler)
(2024 5 15 )
165.0 55.9 130.0 44.1  295.0 165.0 55.9 130.0  44.1 295.0
(Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li)
165.0 72.0 64.2 28.0 229.2 165.0 61.1 105.0  38.9 270.0
(©r. Qi Lu)
110.0 66.0 56.7 34.0 166.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(César Martin)
(2024 5 15 )
165.0 51.5 155.4 48.5 320.4 165.0 51.4 156.3  48.6 321.3
(Gerhard Oswald)
68.8 59.2 47.3 40.8 116.0 165.0 59.2 113.5  40.8 278.5
(Christine Regitz)
(2024 5 15 )
91.7 75.0 30.6 25.0 122.2 146.7 64.5 80.9 35.6 227.5
(Or. h. c. Punit Renjen)
(2023 5 11 2024 5
15 )
165.0 40.4 243.7 59.6  408.7 165.0 42.9 220.0 57.1 385.0
(Or. Friederike Rotsch)
110.0 70.2 46.7 29.8 156.7 NA NA NA NA NA

(Nicolas Sabatier)
(2024 5 15 )
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110.0 66.0 56.7 34.0 166.7 NA NA NA NA NA
(Dr. Eberhard Schick)
(2024 5 15 )
68.8 54.1 58.3 45.9 127.1 165.0 56.3 128.3 43.7 293.3
(Heike Steck)
(2024 5 15 )
68.8 100.0 0 0 68.8 165.0 100.0 0 0 165.0
(Helmut Stengele)
(2024 5 15 )
110.0 57.9 80.0 42.1 190.0 NA NA NA NA NA
(Nina Strafner)
(2024 5 15 )
165.0 53.5 143.3 46.5 308.3 165.0 53.4 143.8 46.6 308.8
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
165.0 52.9 146.7 47.1  311.7 165.0 55.0 135.0 45.0 300.0
(Or. Gunnar Wiedenfels)
68.8 51.6 64.6 48.4 133.3 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(James Wright)
(2024 5 15 )
3,507.5 2,071.2 5,578.7 3,185.4 2,241.9 5,427.3
2024 1,987,000 2023 1,959,000
2023 SAP 2024
5,000
2024
2024 5 2003 5
D&O
2019 2020 2021 2023 1 2022 2024 1 2023
2020 2021 2022 2023 1 2024 1
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) ) ) ) )
8 _58 NA NA NA 400 NA
(2002 5 3 2021 5 12
2024 5
15 )
0 6 64 325 0 319 -2
(2022 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 157 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 157 NA
(2024 5 15 )
0 6 52 320 0 304 5
NA NA NA NA NA 157 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 157 NA
(2024 5 15 )
0 4 10 285 0 265 -7
(2021 12 31 )
NA NA NA 295 63 295 0
(2022 5 18 )
NA NA NA 0 NA 167 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA 1,288 41 270 0 229 -15
(2020 12 21 )
6 -3 24 321 16 320 0
(2019 1 1 )
3 8 44 385 15 409 6
NA NA NA NA NA 157 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 167 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 190 NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA 133 309 -4 312 1
(2021 5 12 )
50 0 52 300 -3 NA NA
(2019 5 15 )
4 1 27 430 -2 179 -58
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA 200 285 11 119 58
(021 7 8 2024 5 15
)
50 1 42 270 0 113 58
(2019 5 15 2024 5 15
)
0 0 26 98 -58 NA NA
(2023 5 11 )
NA NA 255 285 0 133 53
(2021 8 10 2024 5 15
)
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1 5 34 279 0 NA NA
(2024 5 15 )
NA NA NA 219 NA 116 47
(2023 5 11 2024 5 15
)
50 9 32 270 0 127 -53
(2019 5 15 2024 5 15
)
NA NA 300 165 0 69 _58
(2021 10 29 2024 5
15 )
50 0 40 285 0 133 -53
(2019 5 15 2024 5 15
)
SAP -1 2 11 31,207 6 34,176 10
( IFRS)( )
SAP SE -4 5 16 19,018 7 21,412 13
( ) (
)
SAP 1 -1 -2 6,514 9 8,153 25
( 1FRS) ( ) 2
SAP SE 87 8 -29 4,766 149 366 -92
( ) (
)
SAP -12 13 4 156 12 184 18
3
2022 2023 2024 SAP IFRS
2 2023 IFRS 2019 2022 IFRS
2024 31
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@
11 () 5 3 (2
SAP SE
CEO
CEO
SAP SE 4 7
®
8 6 11 9 82%
(Prof. Dr. h.c. Hasso
Plattner)
2024 5 15
9 9 17 17 100%

Dr. h. c. mult. Pekka Ala-
Pietila
2024 5 15
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3 3 10 10 13 13 100%
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
2024 5 15
8 8 5 5 13 13 100%
Jakub Cerny
2024 5 15
8 8 5 5 13 13 100%
Pascal Demat
2024 5 15
11 10 16 16 27 26 96%
(Aicha Evans)
8 8 7 7 15 15 100%
(Andreas Hahn)
(2024 5 15 )
8 7 5 5 13 12 92%
Prof. Dr. Ralf Herbrich
2024 5 15
11 11 19 19 30 30 100%
(Margret Klein-Magar)
3 3 7 7 10 10 100%
(Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova)
(2024 5 15 )
11 11 15 15 26 26 100%
(Lars Lamadé)
3 3 11 11 14 14 100%
(Peter Lengler)
2024 5 15
11 10 16 16 27 26 96%
Jennifer Xin-zhe Li
11 1 8 8 19 19 100%
(Or. Qi Lu)
8 8 6 6 14 14 100%
César Martin
2024 5 15
11 11 19 19 30 30 100%
(Gerhard Oswald)
1 2 1 1 1 3 2 67
(Or. h. c. Punit Renjen)
2024 5 15
3 3 7 7 10 10 100%
(Christine Regitz)
2024 5 15
11 11 26 26 37 37 100%
(Dr. Friederike Rotsch)
8 7 7 7 15 14 93%
Nicolas Sabatier
2024 5 15
8 8 7 7 15 15 100%
(Dr. Eberhard Schick
(2024 5 15 )
3 3 6 6 9 9 100%
(Heike Steck)
2024 5 15
2 3 3 0 0 3 3 100%
(Helmut Stengele)
2024 5 15
8 8 9 9 17 17 100%
Nina Straf3ner
2024 5 15
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0000000
11 1 23 23 34 34 100%
(Or. Rouven Westphal)
11 10 20 19 31 29 94%
(Gunnar Wiedenfels)
3 3 11 1 14 14 100%
(James Viright)
2024 5 15 )
12024 2 11
2
2024 5
8
CEO
2024
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IFRS
ul SAP
12 31
2024 2023 2022

17,141 2,803,753 13,664 2,235,020 11,426 1,868,951
1,399 228,834 1,764 288,537 2,056 336,300
11,290 1,846,705 11,496 1,880,401 11,909 1,947,955
12,689 2,075,540 13,261 2,169,102 13,965 2,284,255
29,830 4,879,293 26,924 4,403,959 25,391 4,153,206
4,346 710,875 4,283 700,570 4,128 675,217
(A.1),(C.2) 34,176 5,590,168 31,207 5,104,529 29,520 4,828,586
-4,660 -762,236 -3,884 -635,306 -3,499 -572,331
-1,262 -206,425 -1,383 -226,217 -1,384 -226,381
-5,922 -968,662 -5,267 -861,523 -4,883 -798,712
-3,321 -543,216 -3,407 -557,283 -3,155 -516,063
-9,243  -1,511,878 -8,674  -1,418,806 -8,038  -1,314,776
24,932 4,078,127 22,534 3,685,886 21,482 3,513,811
(0.9) -6,514  -1,065,495 -6,324  -1,034,417 -6,080 -994,506
-9,090  -1,486,851 -8,828  -1,443,996 -7,946  -1,299,727
-1,435 -234,723 -1,364 -223,109 -1,289 -210,842
(B.6) -3,144 -514,264 -215 -35,168 -138 -22,573

/
-85 -13,903 -4 -654 -116 -18,974
-29,511  -4,827,114 -25,408 -4,155,987 -23,606 -3,861,233
4,665 763,054 5,799 948,542 5,914 967,353

/
.3 -298 -48,744 -3 -491 -1 -1,799
1,429 233,742 857 140,179 811 132,655
-1,031 -168,641 -1,313 -214,767 -2,200 -359,854
(.4) 398 65,101 -456 -74,588 -1,389 -227,199
.2 4,764 779,247 5,341 873,627 4,513 738,191
(C.5) -1,614 -264,002 -1,741 -284,775 -1,446 -236,522
3,150 515,246 3,600 588,852 3,068 501,833
3,124 510,993 3,634 594,413 3,277 536,019
26 4,253 -33 -5,398 -210 -34,350
0 0 2,363 386,516 -1,359 -222,292
@ 3,150 515,246 5,964 975,531 1,708 279,378
3,124 510,993 6,139 1,004,156 2,284 373,594
26 4,253 -175 -28,625 -576 -94,216
(C.6) 2.68 438.00 3.1 509.00 2.80 458.00

1 (
D (C.6) 2.68 438.00 5.26 860.00 1.95 319.00
(C.6) 2.65 433.00 3.08 504.00 2.79 456.00

1

( ) (C.6) 2.65 433.00 5.20 851.00 1.94 317.00
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SAP
12 31
2024 2023 2022
al (@) 3,150 515,246 5,964 975,531 1,708 279,378
( ) -30 -4,907 -45 -7,361 71 11,613
6 981 10 1,636 -15 -2,454
( ) -23 -3,762 -36 -5,889 56 9,160
-23 -3,762 -36 -5,889 56 9,160
2,371 387,824 -1,631  -266,783 2,190 358,218
18 2,944 12 1,963 6 981
( ) 2,389 390,769 -1,618  -264,656 2,195 359,036
-17 -2,781 21 3,435 -10 -1,636
( ) (E.2) 2,372 387,988 -1,597  -261,221 2,186 357,564
-111 -18,156 -11 -1,799 53 8,669
78 12,758 0 0 0 0
(F.1) -32 -5,234 -11 -1,799 53 8,669
9 1,472 3 491 -14 -2,290
( )  (E.2) -24 -3,926 -8 -1,309 39 6,379
2,349 384,226 -1,605  -262,530 2,224 363,780
2,326 380,464 -1,641  -268,418 2,280 372,940
5,476 895,709 4,323 707,113 3,988 652,317
5,421 886,713 4,670 763,872 4,385 717,254
54 8,833 -347 -56,759 -396 -64,774
@)
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12 31
2023 2022
(E.3) 9,609 1,571,744 8,124 1,328,843
(0.6),(E.3) 1,629 266,456 3,344 546,978
(A.2) 6,774 1,108,023 6,322 1,034,090
(A.3),(6.1) 2,682 438,695 2,374 388,315
707 115,644 407 66,573
21,401 3,500,562 20,571 3,364,798
®.2) 31,147 5,094,715 29,081 4,756,779
®.3) 2,706 442,620 2,505 409,743
(D.4),(D.5) 4,493 734,920 4,276 699,425
(D.6),(E.3) 7,141 1,168,053 5,543 906,669
(A.2) 209 34,186 203 33,205
(A.3),(6.1) 3,990 652,644 3,573 584,436
359 58,722 382 62,484
(C.5) 2,676 437,713 2,197 359,363
52,721 8,623,574 47,760 7,812,103
74,122 12,124,136 68,331 11,176,902
1,990 325,504 1,783 291,645
585 95,688 266 43,510
(E.3),(D.5) 4,277 699,589 1,735 283,794
(B.3),(B.5),(6.2) 5,533 905,033 5,647 923,680
(A.4),(B.6),(6.3) 716 117,116 235 38,439
(A.1) 5,978 977,821 4,975 813,761
19,079 3,120,752 14,641 2,394,828
10 1,636 39 6,379
509 83,257 874 142,960
(E.3),(D.5) 7,169 1,172,633 7,941 1,298,909
(B.3),(B.5),(6.2) 749 122,514 698 114,172
(A.4),(B.4), (B.6) 494 80,804 432 70,662
(.5) 215 35,168 267 43,673
(A.1) 88 14,394 33 5,398
9,235 1,510,569 10,284 1,682,154
28,314 4,631,321 24,925 4,076,982
1,229 201,028 1,229 201,028
2,564 419,393 1,845 301,787
42,907 7,018,298 42,457 6,944,691
4,694 767,798 2,367 387,170
-5,954 -973,896 -4,741 -775,485
45,440 7,432,621 43,157 7,059,190
(E.2) 368 60,194 249 40,729
(E.2) 457,808 74,883,655 43,406 7,099,919
74,122 12,124,136 68,331 11,176,902
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SAP
12 31
(E.2) (E.2) (E.2) (E.2)

2022/1/1 1,229 1,918 37,022 1,757 -3,072 38,853 2,670 41,523

ul @ 2,284 2,284 -576 1,708

56 2,044 2,100 180 2,280

2,340 2,044 4,385 -396 3,988

1,163 1,163 325 1,488

-2,865 -2,865 -29 -2,895

-1,500 -1,500 -1,500

230 230 230

-92 -92 90 -3

13 13 2 15

2022/12/31 1,229 3,081 36,418 3,801 -4,341 40,186 2,662 42,848

al @ 6,139 6,139 -175 5,964

-36 -1,433 -1,469 -172 -1,641

6,103 -1,433 4,670 -347 4,323

1,032 1,032 121 1,153

-2,395 -2,395 -21 -2,417

-968 -968 -968

568 568 568

-2,268 2,197 -71 -2,164 -2,235

135 135 -1 134

2023/12/31 1,229 1,845 42,457 2,367 -4,741 43,157 249 43,406

al @ 3,124 3,124 26 3,150

-23 2,320 2,297 28 2,326

3,101 2,320 5,421 54 5,476

399 399 399

320 320 320

-2,565 -2,565 -2 -2,566

-2,108 -2,108 -2,108

895 895 895

-86 7 -79 66 -13

2024/12/31 1,229 2,564 42,907 4,694 -5,954 45,440 368 45,808
@
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SAP )
12 31
(E.2) (E.2) (E.2) (E.2)

2022/1/1 201,028 313,727 6,055,689 287,392 -502,487 6,355,185 436,732 6,791,917
ol

@ 373,594 373,594 -94,216 279,378

9,160 334,337 343,497 29,443 372,940

382,754 334,337 717,254 -64,774 652,317

190,232 190,232 53,160 243,392

-468,628 -468,628 -4,744 -473,535

-245,355 -245,355 -245,355

37,621 37,621 37,621

-15,048 -15,048 14,721 -491

2,126 2,126 327 2,454

2022/12/31 201,028 503,959 5,956,892 621,730 -710,057 6,573,224 435,423 7,008,647

al ¢)) 1,004,156 1,004,156 -28,625 975,531

-5,889  -234,396 -240,284 -28,134 -268,418

908,268 -234,396 763,872 -56,759 707,113

168,804 168,804 19,792 188,596

-391,750 -391,750 -3,435 -395,349

-158,336 -158,336 -158,336

92,908 92,908 92,908

-370,977 359,363 -11,613  -353,965 -365,579

22,082 22,082 -164 21,918

2023/12/31 201,028 301,787 6,944,691 387,170 -775,485 7,059,190 40,729 7,099,919

.l @ 510,993 510,993 4,253 515,246

-3,762 379,482 375,720 4,580 380,464

507,231 379,482 886,713 8,833 895,709

65,264 65,264 65,264

52,342 52,342 52,342

-419,557 -419,557 -327 -419,721

-344,806 -344,806 -344,806

141,488 146,395 146,395

-14,067 1,145 -12,922 10,796 -2,126

2024/12/31 201,028 419,393 7,018,298 767,798 -973,806 7,432,621 60,194 7,492,815
()
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2024 2023 2022
(&) 3,150 515,246 5,964 975,531 1,708 279,378
al

0 0 -2,363 -386,516 1,359 222,292

(0.2)-
(0.4) 1,280 209,370 1,373 224,582 1,569 256,641
(8.3) 2,385 390,114 2,220 363,125 1,431 234,069
al (C.5) 1,614 264,002 1,741 284,775 1,446 236,522
al (C.4) -398 -65,101 456 74,588 1,389 227,199
30 4,907 -10 -1,636 77 12,595
110 17,993 23 3,762 -175 -28,625
-247 -40,402 -393 -64,283 196 32,060
-632 -103,376 -700 114,499 -1,213 -198,410
603 98,633 633 103,540 154 25,190
869 142,142 443 72,462 643 105,176
(8.3) -1,282 -209,697  -1,091 -178,455  -1,180 -193,013
-550 -89,964 -393 -64,283 -244 -39,911
563 92,090 469 76,714 156 25,517

(

@ 2077 872,409 ) 353,475 o -268,582
5,220 853,835 6210 1015770 5675 928,260
) (0.1) 0 0 129 19,956 o9 -4,744
@ 5,220 853,835 6,332 1,035,725 5,647 923,680
-1,114 -182,217  -1,168 -191,050 -679 -111,064
0 0 0 0 289 47,272
0 0 -91 -14,885 0 0
-797 -130,365 -785 -128,402 -877 -143,451
122 19,956 99 16,193 95 15,539
-6,401  -1,047,012  -3,566 583,291  -2,320 -379,482
7,533 1,232,173 907 148,358 4,190 685,358
-656 -107,302  -4,603 -752,913 699 114,335
®-1) 0 0 5,510 901,271 -32 -5,234
() -656 -107,302 906 148,194 667 109,101
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(E.2) -2,565 -419,557 -2,395 -391,750 -2,865 -468,628
-1 -164 -13 -2,126 -12 -1,963
(E.2) -2,106 -344,478 -949 -155,228 -1,500 -245,355
(E.3) 2,767 452,598 13 2,126 158 25,844
(E.3) -1,185 -193,830 -4,081 -667,529 -1,445 -236,359
-310 -50,707 -332 -54,305 -410 -67,064
(E.2) 11 ~1,799 0 0 0 0
-3,412 -558,101 -7,758 -1,268,976 -6,074 -993,524
0.1 0 0 24 3,926 -263 -43,019
@ -3,412 -558,101 -7,734 -1,265,050 -6,337 -1,036,543
333 54,469 -388 -63,465 134 21,918
1,485 242,901 -883 -144,432 109 17,829
¥ (E.3)
8,124 1,328,843 9,008 1,473,439 8,898 1,455,446
® (E.3)
9,609 1,571,744 8,124 1,328,843 9,008 1,473,439
(¢H)
@ 2023 ( ) 2,973
815
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SAP 2024
( IFRS) (HGB) 315e(1)
2024 12 31 EU IFRS
2024 12 31 EU 2024 2023 2022 12 31
1ASB
EU IFRS
2025 2 19
al I al T
( )
@ IFRS
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(A.-2)
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B-9
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€.1)
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(FX)
/
2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
AUD 1.6772 1.6263 1.6399 1.6285 1.5174
CAD 1.4948 1.4642 1.4819 1.4596 1.3703
CHF 0.9412 0.9260 0.9526 0.9717 1.0052
GBP 0.8292 0.8691 0.8466 0.8699 0.8526
JPY 163.06 156.33 163.82 151.94 138.01
usb 1.0389 1.1050 1.0821 1.0816 1.0539
A.3
®-3)
A.3
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A1
(A-2)
(A4, (6.3)
(8-3)
(€.5)
®-1)
®-2)

®-3)
(0-6)

1ASB IFRS IFRS 9 IFRS 7 (
) IFRS 9 IFRS 7

1ASB 2024 4 IFRS 18
2027 1 1
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30 60

EMEA
APJ

2024 2023 2022

5,359 4,921 4,469

EMEA 10,216 9,083 8,440

EMEA 15,575 14,004 12,909

11,056 10,204 9,799

2,752 2,558 2,427

13,808 12,762 12,227

1,388 1,243 1,218

APJ 3,404 3,199 3,166

APJ 4,793 4,441 4,384

.l SAP 34,176 31,207 29,520
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2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
EMEA 6,892 5,241 4,137 13,534 12,028 11,081
7,872 6,642 5,810 11,987 10,959 10,456
APJ 2,377 1,781 1,478 4,308 3,937 3,855
I SAP 17,141 13,664 11,426 29,830 26,924 25,391
2024 12 31 784 2023 12 31 : 587
7
( ) 2024 12 31 633 2023 12 31 : 443
1
40 12
2024
2024
2024
$2023 12 31 58.7
- 36.2
- 10.8
- @ 5.1
2024
- 17.1
- 11.3
- 4.3
@ 0.4
T2024 12 31 78.4
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(€]
a7 2023 12 31 :45
(A.-2)
@
ocn
(F.1)
/

162/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooOooodn
2024 2023
6,231 0 6,231 5,892 5 5,897
543 209 752 429 198 627
4 6,774 209 6,983 6,321 203 6,524

2024 12 31 441
2023 12 31 :- 307

(F-D

(A.3)
®

18 7
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IFRS 15
2024 2023
1,086 3,221 4,307 1,046 2,918 3,964
264 272 536 199 236 436
1,350 3,492 4,843 1,246 3,154 4,400
2,682 3,990 6,672 2,374 3,573 5,947
T

50 88 73 52 88 74

2024 2023

1,107 1,000

418 327
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€.5)
(8.1
EMEA APJ
2024 12 31 2023 12 31 2022 12 31
EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ
(€H) 4,543 4,339 4,764 13,646 4,389 4,266 4,426 13,080 4,178 4,025 4,538 12,740
8,485 4,719 5,566 18,770 8,178 5,013 5,481 18,672 8,129 5,106 5,769 19,005
1) 18,819 5,677 13,094 37,590 18,086 5,884 12,474 36,444 17,764 5,752 11,764 35,280

12,042 9,801 5,139 26,983 12,086 10,300 5,342 27,728 11,671 10,633 5,463 27,766

3,836 1,836 1,300 6,970 3,610 1,777 1,307 6,704 3,387 1,804 1,240 6,431
3,076 1,164 921 5,161 2,834 1,274 867 4,975 2,795 1,382 912 5,089
SAP
@ 3
50,801 27,536 30,784 109,121 49,191 28,515 29,897 107,602 47,924 28,702 29,686 106,312
413 414 86 912 421 138 0 558 188 189 8 385
SAP

49,764 27,394 29,997 107,155 48,222 28,239 29,582 106,043 47,359 28,785 29,438 105,582
2025

(8-6)

(8-2)

2024 2023 2022
12,244 12,128 11,369
2,003 1,919 1,779
2,385 2,220 1,431
435 438 447
3,143 222 85
68 64 44
20,278 16,992 15,157
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(®-3)
@
SAP
(8-6)
PSU
SAP 2024 2020 (LTI 2024 LTI 2020)
NASDAQ-100 TSR NASDAQ-100 TRS
TSR
LTI 2024 LTI 2020
NASDAQ-100 TSR LTI 2024
LTI 2020 SAP
OWN SAP
SAP
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2024 2023 2022
138 94 53
42 38 48
360 375 250
751 703 440
876 834 503
217 175 137
2,385 2,220 1,431
1,591 1,414 1,075
794 806 356
SAP 309 2023 SAP
(8-6)
a)
Move SAP Move
Move
Move b)
- RSU
- 6 3
- PSU
- 12 3
PSU 2 KPI
( IFRS )
PSU 0 KP1 2024 134.5% 2023
112.4
(E.2)
2024
Move (2024
175.09
(€))
170.40
1.23
1.7
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@
2023
Move (2023
111.23
@
114.25
1.79
1.7
@
Move (2023-2024 )
2022 12 31 11,504
&) 13,760
KP1 115
-7,675
-403
@ -471
2023 12 31 16,830
@ 6,944
KPI 151
-10,193
-392
@ -1,149
2024 12 31 12,192
@ Move
2024 197.14 2023 130.59 2024 12 31
0.9 2023 12 31 : 1.1
Own SAP Own
Own SAP
40%
20 2024 SAP 2024 10 12
40 100
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2024 2023 2022
Own 4.9 6.5 9.2
Own SAP
196.90 2023 : 124.20
WalkMe WalkMe (WalkMe Rights)
2024 WalkMe WalkMe
(RSU PSU SAP (WalkMe Rights) WalkMe
Rights
- SAP (ADR)
- SAP 1 14.00 3 10 SAP ADR
215.89
WalkMe RSU PSU 0.3
42 18 24
2024 11 20 WalkMe Rights 4.2
2024 12 31 WalkMe Rights
3.9
2024 2023 2022
Move (2022-2024 ) 1,240 1,175 768
own 343 239 307
WalkMe Rights 9 NA NA
1,591 1,414 1,075
b)
Grow SAP Move SAP Move
Move
2022
Move SAP B.3 a
2020 2023 Grow SAP
Move SAP SAP
- RSU
- 3
- 6 3
- KP1 PSU
- 3
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112.4
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IFRS
PSU
2022
PSU

184.3 )

PSU

IFRS
200
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KP1

134.5% 2023



SAP 2020 2024 LTI 2020
LTI 2024 LTI 2020
LTI 2024 LTI 2020 SAP
LTI 2024
LTI 2024 LTI 2020 4
LTI
SAP
( PSU)50% ( PSU)30% ESG
PSU 3 PSU 3
4
PSU
3 IFRS KP1
& LTI 2020
3 KPI
20
G o e A TE
15
% 10
;:
05
o0
TG B0 a90%
EinE
PSU
TSR SAP
1.0 SAP
1.0
2.0
1.5
b
10
0.5
0.0
P25
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LTI 2024
LTI 2020 SAP
LTI 2024 LTI 2020
2020 20 LTI 2024 10
LTI 2024
(ESG PSU) LTI 2020
3
PSU PSU ESG PSU
SAP
LTI 2024
3
PSU
KP1 100%
3
R
100 1108 120% 130%
B
3 NASDAQ-100
TSR SAP TSR
TSR
th il P-75
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ESG PSU SAP 2
KPI net zero 2030 2 2
KP1 ESG PSU
KPI 100%
3
20
iﬂlli:!tli.ﬁﬂ.
15 -
= 10
05 4
0o ! ! |
705 0% a0R 100% 110% 1209
%5
SAP SAP
3 SAP
LTI 2024 10 LTI 2020 20
SAP 200%
3
2024
LTI 2024 LTI 2020 Move
(2024 (2021-2023 (2021-2024
) ) )
2024 12 31 24823 222.26 234.51
(©)
236.30 236.30 236.30
) 23 20 22 NA
(@) NA NA 0.91
2024 12 31 () 3.2 1.0 0.8
(©)
2023
LTI 2020 Move
(2020-2023 (2020-2023
) )
2023 12 31 154.24 137.98

®
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139.48 139.48
) 15 23 NA
(@D) NA 1.52
2023 12 31 () 1.9 0.7
®
LTI 2020 NASDAQ-100 31 2023 34 36 SAP  NASDAQ-100
16 21 2023 24 27 SAP  NASDAQ-100
LTI 2024 NASDAQ-100 34 SAP  NASDAQ-100 25
SAP  NASDAQ-100 TSR 2024 12 31  NASDAQ-100
25,376.22 2023 20,158.42
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LTI 2024 LTI 2020 Move
2024 2020-2023 2021-2024
2022 12 31 NA 546 11,859
O] NA 215 1,900
KPI NA -64 -57
NA 0 -7,234
NA -91 -266
NA NA 470
2023 12 31 NA 605 6,672
O] 126 0 823
KPI 0 41 15
0 =72 -6,333
=37 -74 -126
(O] NA NA 1,149
2024 12 31 89 501 2,200
2023 12 31 NA 59 644
2024 12 31 7 98 343
2023 12 31 NA 15 0
2024 12 31 2 57 0
2023 NA NA 117.86
2024 NA 172.16 181.68
2022 NA 8 346
2023 NA 36 764
2024 7 51 729
(O] Move
2024 2023
303 151 453 555 152 707
T 5,533 749 6,282 5,648 698 6,346
T
5 20 7 10 22 11
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(B-4)
&
&
C )
2024 2023 2022
396 381 425
39 57 22
435 438 447
DBO
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
1,204 1,060 752 686 285 256 2,241 2,002
1,209 1,063 707 672 124 98 2,040 1,833
@ 0 0 61 64 161 158 222 222
0 0 -18 -17 -1 -63 -19 -79
0 0 79 80 162 221 241 301
T
0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
I
0 0 16 19 33 51 49 69
@
DBO 1,150 2023 1,006
DBO 597 2023 535
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2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
3.4 3.5 4.2 1.5 2.0 2.6 5.3 5.3 5.5
2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
50
1,156 1,015 908 710 649 505 271 247 203 2,137 1,911 1,616
50
1,256 1,108 993 798 727 562 292 266 219 2,346 2,101 1,774
2024 2023
701 1,338 714 1,120
220 0 190 0
240 0 233 0
10 1,337 59 1,120
2025
2024 12 31 2023 12 31 10
2024 12 31 2,803 2023 : 2,707
73 (2023 76 ) 5 58 (2023 55 )
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@
2024 2023
4,208 598 4,806 4,205 546 4,751
T 5,533 749 6,282 5,648 698 6,346
T
% 76 80 e 74 78 75
(B-6)
@
2024 2023 2022
-3,143 -222 -85
-2 8 -52
aul -3,144 -215 -138
2024 SAP Al SAP Al
2024 1 SAP
2025
SAP
2025 WalkMe
2024 SAP 2023
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32

(8.3) 2024 2024

2024 25 2025 2024 7

2024 2023 2022

-95 7 20
-85 -8 -9
-566 -31 -70
-1,197 -42 -16
-1,043 -121 -58
-158 -19 -4

a -3,144 -215 -138

2024

2024 1 1 37
3,144

-1,061

-1,310

-123

2024 12 31 681

2024

1,061
1,325

171
-170

2,487

2024
SAP 13

(8-5)
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C.D

2024 2024 SAP

RISE with SAP  GROW with SAP
2024
@
(CODM)
CODM
CODM
IFRS IFRS
IFRS
CODM
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2024 2023 2022
( ) @ ()
17,141 17,212 13,664 14,058 11,426
1,399 1,400 1,764 1,801 2,056
11,290 11,343 11,496 11,782 11,909
12,689 12,743 13,261 13,584 13,965
29,830 29,955 26,924 27,641 25,391
4,346 4,355 4,283 4,392 4,128
34,176 34,310 31,207 32,033 29,520
-4,582 -4,597 -3,842 -3,930 -3,445
-1,262 -1,261 -1,356 -1,372 -1,350
-5,844 -5,858 -5,199 -5,302 -4,795
-3,321 -3,329 -3,405 -3,473 -3,154
-9,165 -9,187 -8,604 -8,775 -7,949
12,559 12,616 9,821 10,128 7,981
25,011 25,124 22,603 23,258 21,571
-16,858 -16,892 -16,089 -16,476 -15,124
8,153 8,232 6,514 6,781 6,447
1 2024 2023 2023 2022
2023 1,034 2024 940 9 9%

A.D

181/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooooo
(C.2)
2024 2023 2022
1
( ) ® @
34,176 34,310 31,207 32,033 29,520
0 -135 0 -826 0
a 34,176 34,176 31,207 31,207 29,520
8,153 8,232 6,514 6,781 6,447
0 -78 0 -267 0
-356 -356 -345 -345 -395
a -3,144 -3,144 -215 -215 -138
11 11 -155 -155 0
al 4,665 4,665 5,799 5,799 5,914
al -298 -298 -3 -3 -11
-63 -63 -311 -311 -196
461 461 -145 -145 -1,194
al 4,764 4,764 5,341 5,341 4,513
1 2024 2023 2023 2022
(C.3) C )
2024 2023 2022
-246 46 -144
355 543 -188
300 56 243
-496 -514 17
-348 -30 -317
-69 18 39
( HO® -52 -48 133
al ( -298 -3 -11
Qa 2024 2023 12
2022 176 /() /
(.49 )
2024 2023 2022
1,429 857 811
348 376 100
91 99 88
943 380 608
-1,031 -1,313 -2,200
-316 -336 -153
1 -316 -525 -1,802
-111 -105 -87
aul 398 -456 -1,389
@
2024 2023 853

606
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2024 2023 2022
418 596 539
1,516 1,356 1,165
1,934 1,952 1,704
-67 74 86
-253 -285 -344
-320 =211 -258
1,614 1,741 1,446
2024 2023 2022
1,881 1,935 1,717
53 17 -13
1,934 1,952 1,704
-258 -222 -216
-62 11 -42
-320 =211 -258
1,614 1,741 1,446
2024 2023 2022
-1,078 1,201 1,814
5,842 4,140 2,699
4,764 5,341 4,513
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26.7% (2023 :26.5% 2022 : 26.4%)
2024 15.0% (2023 :15.0% 2022 : 15.0%) 5.5% (2023
5.5% 2022 :5.5%) 10.8% (2023 :10.7% 2022 :10.6%)
2024 2023 2022
a 4,764 5,341 4,513
26.7% 2023 26.5% 2022
26.4% 1,270 1,418 1,193
-220 -210 -134
325 241 138
-208 =77 297
465 297 176
-91 -89 -84
-70 -8 4
100 138 -124
43 31 -20
a 1,614 1,741 1,446
% 33.9 32.6 32.0
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1,120 1,074

39 37

374 379

69 85

79 61

48 27

215 211

313 267

928 813

148 188

138 164

844 679

107 21

310 151

80 44

4,812 4,201

-2,136 -2,004

T 2,676 2,197

596 581

80 89

336 334

249 199

79 135

739 648

28 33

5 6

21 10

44 42

157 191

12 1

5 2

2,351 2,271

-2,136 -2,004

T 215 267
()
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2024 2023 2022
1,930 1,854 1,490
320 211 258
-2 34 -39
155 53 0
-9 -128 81
67 -94 64
2,461 1,930 1,854
2024 2023 2022
291 151 315
4 28 14
392 216 344
687 395 378
375 325 378
41 59 9
8 5 20
49 64 29
146 2023 181 2022 276
2024 494
2023 90 2022 17
195.7 2023 :221.5
1,250 2023 1,815
726 2023 1 003
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(.6) 1
2024 2023 2022
3,124 3,634 3,277
3,124 6,139 2,284
1,229 1,229 1,229
-62 -61 -58
1,166 1,167 1,170
13 12 5
)2 1,180 1,180 1,175
SAP
2.68 3.11 2.80
SAP 2.68 5.26 1.95
SAP
2.65 3.08 2.79
SAP 2.65 5.20 1.94

188/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooooo
D -
(CRY)
@
2024
WalkMe
2024 6 5 SAP DAP WalkMe Ltd( WalkMe)
100% 2024 9 12 WalkMe 2024
9 12
SAP WalkMe
1,257
41
31
1,329
14 13 )
WalkMe
WalkMe SAP (
) WalkMe Rights (B.3)
WalkMe
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502
202
235
939
264
264
675
654
1,329
WalkMe
2024 12 31
WalkMe
SAP WalkMe SaaS
SAP WalkMe
WalkMe Al SAP Joule
SAP
WalkMe SAP
WalkMe
2024 9 12
2024 2024 WalkMe
WalkMe :SAP
2024
- 34,176 61
&l 3,150 -47
WalkMe 2024 1 1 34,328
3,050
2023
LeanIX
2023 9 7 SAP SAP EAM LeanIX GmbH

LeanlX 100
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2023 11 7
1,231 LeanlX
LeanlX
476
106
582
210
210
372
859
1,231
2024 4 LeanlX
LeanlX
SAP SAP
LeanIX SAP
SAP Signavio SAP
IT
LeanlX Lean
D.2
2023 2023 LeanlX
LeanlX :SAP
2023
-l 31,207 10
-l 5,964 -8
LeanlX 2023 1 1 2023
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2023
Qualtrics
1 26 SAP Qualtrics International Inc. Qualtrics 423
2023 3 13 Silver Lake
Qualtrics 2023 6 28
1 18.15 SAP 77 77
71
F.1 Qualtrics (IFRS 5 )
( )
SAP Qualtrics go-to-market
SAP IFRS 5 Qualtrics Qualtrics
Qualtrics
3,562 (7,003
SAP 5,800 4,007
1,294 2,337 22
SAP 799
7,068 SAP 713
SAP Qualtrics Qualtrics SAP
Qualtrics Qualtrics SAP
2023 2022
621 1,129
745 1,351
-88 -265
-196 -499
( ) -1,155 -2,771
3,562 0
3,152 -1,420
( ) 3,162 -1,423
@ -799 64
( ) 2,363 -1,359
2,505 -993
1 ( ) @ 2.15 -0.85
1 ( 2.12 -0.85
12023 799
(22023 2022 1,167 1,180 1,170
11,175 ) ( )
Qualtrics 403 (2022 1,182 )
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2023 2022
122 -29
5,510 -32
24 -263
2022
2022 Taulia Inc. Taulia INNAAS
srl
Taulia
2022 1 27 SAP Taulia
SAP (6.9)
2022 3 9
705
Taulia
Taulia
157
87
244
88
88
156
549
705
2022 12 31 Taulia (SCF)
SCF
IFRS 10 SCF
SCF
2023 1 Taulia 28
Taulia
SAP SAP
SAP CFO SAP
Taulia SAP
Taulia
Taulia Taulia
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2022 2022 Taulia
Taulia :SAP
2022 @
- 30,871 59
-l 1,708 -38
@
2022 1 1 2022
2022
2022 8 17 SAP Francisco Partners FP FP SAP America, Inc. FP SAP SAP Litmos
2022 12 1
175 /
(0.2)
@
4
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2023 1 1 33,181
-848
859
-4,008
2023 12 31 29,184
1,415
654
2024 12 31 31,253
2023 1 1 104
-1
2023 12 31 103
2
2024 12 31 105
2023 12 31 29,081
2024 12 31 31,148
2024 2024 2
2023 SAP 5
2024 c.1)
WalkMe ®.1) WalkMe
654
2024 a) b)
2023
2024
2024 10 1
4

SAP SAP
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IAS 38

IFRS

- IFRS
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2023 1 1 1,057 2,527 7,057 10,641
-1 -65 -185 -251
0 121 355 476
22 3 59 84
-92 -767 -2,307 -3,166
87 0 -87 0
2023 12 31 1,073 1,819 4,892 7,784
2 103 247 352
0 187 315 502
20 3 66 89
-84 -326 -174 -584
25 0 -25 0
2024 12 31 1,036 1,786 5,321 8,143
2023 1 1 544 2,041 4,221 6,806
-1 -57 -118 -176
146 77 305 528
-95 -477 -1,307 -1,879
2023 12 31 594 1,584 3,101 5,279
2 89 15 242
139 89 253 481
-68 -326 -171 -565
2024 12 31 667 1,436 3,334 5,437
2023 12 31 479 235 1,791 2,505
2024 12 31 369 350 1,987 2,706
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2024 2023
Concur - 540 588 6 -10
LeanlX - 333 345 12
WalkMe - 246 0 14
WalkMe - 183 0 7
1,302 933
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©.9
@
25 - 50
2-6
4-20
4-5
2023 12 31 1,430 1,320 1,309 55 162 4,276
2024 12 31 1,501 1,391 1,379 66 156 4,493
2023 58 102 470 82 98 810
2024 87 321 549 90 91 1,138
I
(0.5
@
IFRS 16

2024 2023
12 31 12 31
- 1,391 1,320
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1,457 1,375
3 4,493 4,276
3 ) 32 32
295 294
T 4,277 1,735
T () 7 17
1,420 1,327
T 7,169 7,941
I ) 20 17
2024 2023
280 325
0.4) (F.1)
(E-3)
(0.6)
@
AC FVOCI
FVTPL
FVTPL  FVOCI
FVTPL
FvoCl
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2024 2023
0 6,401 6,401 0 4,967 4,967
0 144 144 0 135 135
0 6,545 6,545 0 5,102 5,102
1,629 7,141 8,770 3,344 5,543 8,887
0 92 75 0 92 57
SAP 20
20

2024 2023

144 135

10 -16

SAP Fioneer GmbH
G.9
2024 2023
267 269
SAP
2024 12 31 1,100 2023 977
833 2023 708
2024 12 31
2025 267

267
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(R
2024 2023
7,351 7,117
EMEA 6,781 5,902
EMEA 14,132 13,019
26,840 25,236
511 526
27,351 25,762
405 361
APJ 952 809
APJ 1,356 1,170
SAP 42,839 39,951
EMEA WalkMe D.1
®-2)
B.1 Al
©-8)
2024 2023
270 164
9,322 10,377
9,592 10,541
2024 12 31
2025 2,870
2026 2029 6,576
146
9,592
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2023
2027

329
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E.D

Al ( ) S&P A+ (
)
2024 12 31 2023 12 31 t
% %

T 45,808 62 43,406 64 6
T 19,079 26 14,641 21 30
T 9,235 12 10,284 15 -10

T 28,314 38 24,925 36 14

9,385 13 7,755 11 21
1,715 2 1,621 2 6
T 74,122 100 68,331 100 8
2024 9  SAP Walke 12.5 2025 9
2024 12 SAP 1 10 2
250 5 2024 850
3 2300 1
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E.2
@
SAP
SAP NCI
1

2022 1 1 1,228.5 -48.9

0 -15.7

0 3.3
2022 12 31 1,288.5 -61.4

0 -7.6

0 7.7
2023 12 31 1,228.5 -61.3

0 -10.9

0 10.2
2024 12 31 1,228.5 -61.9
2023 2024
- 2025 5 19 250
- 2025 5 19 250

I
2024 12 31 100

100 2023 100
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/

2022 1 1 1,830 -22 1,808

2,186 39 2,224
2022 12 31 4,015 16 4,031

-1,597 -8 -1,605
2023 12 31 2,418 9 2,426

2,372 -24 2,349
2024 12 31 4,790 -15 4,775

2018 5 17 2023 5 11
SAP SE 2028 5 10
120
SAP SE SAP
SE SAP SE 10%
2023 5 2025 12 31 50
2024 2108
)
SAP IFRS 40
IFRS 40
2024 2023 2,565 2.20 2023 2022
2,395 2.05 2022 2021 2,865 2.45
50 0.50
Handelsgesetzbuch
2024 12 31
2.35 2,741

2024 26 2023 SAP 33

Qualtrics 141
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(.3
@
( 3
)
(AC) (FvoCI)
(FVTPL)
FVTPL
(ACQ)
FvoCl
FVTPL
AC
cP
3
1 12

207/393




EDINETOOOO

DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
FVTPL AC
AC
1
2024 2023
S 9,609 8,124 1,485
1,471 3,151 -1,680
11,080 11,275 -195
-3,639 -1,143 -2,496
5,746 —6,612 866
-9,385 —7,755 -1,631
1,695 3,521 -1,825
2024 2023
3,962 0 3,962 3,369 0 3,369
1,659 0 1,659 2,130 0 2,130
3,991 0 3,991 2,478 0 2,478
0 0 0 150 0 150
-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3
T 9,609 0 9,609 8,124 0 8,124

208/393



EDINETOOOO

DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

2024 2023

1,425 0 1,425 3,028 0 3,028

53 74 128 129 0 129

0 287 287 0 244 244

98 231 329 58 50 108

-7 0 -7 -7 0 -7

1,569 593 2,161 3,209 294 3,503

E 3 1,629 7,141 8,770 3,344 5,543 8,887

T 96 8 25 96 5 39

(D)
3 3
(F-D

2024 2023
889 5,650 888 5,201 6,090 850 6,521 849 5,932 6,780
0 96 0 99 99 292 90 294 95 388
500 0 498 0 498 0 0 0 0 0
2,250 0 2,250 0 2,250 0 0 0 0 0
3,639 5,746 3,636 5,301 8,937 1,143 6,612 1,143 6,026 7,169
T 4,277 7,169 11,446 1,735 7,941 9,676
T 85 74 78 66 76 74

)
2024 3.33 2023 3.49 2022 1.23
12 2024 12 31
(F.1) (F.2)
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2024 2023
1.750%
2027 99.284% 1.87% 1,000 947 914
9-2014
1.000%
2025 99.264% 1.13% 600 600 599
12-2015
1.000%
2026 99.576% 1.06% 500 500 499
15-2018
1.375%
2030 98.687% 1.50% 500 442 428
16-2018
0.750%
2024 99.227% 0.89%% 850 0 849
19-2018
1.250%
2028 98.871% 1.38% 1,000 923 891
20-2018
1.625%
2031 98.382% 1.78% 1,250 1,079 1,045
21-2018
0.125%
2026 99.200% 0.26% 600 599 598
23-2020
0.375%
2029 98.787% 0.51% 800 712 686
24-2020
5,801 6,509
us 4.69%
2025 100.000% 4.74% 300 289 271
2018
6,090 6,780
2024
2023
( )
8-2012 2024 3.33% ( ) 3.37% 323 0 294
9-2012 2027  3.53% ( ) 3.57% 100 99 95
99 388
2024 12 31 500
12 498 (2023 12 31 0 ) 2024 12 31 cP -
3.03% (2023 12 31 0%)
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SAP WalkMe 2 250 2025 12
2024 3.25% 2023 0%
2024 1 1 2024 12 31
1,143 1,594 0 35 0 868 3,639
6,612 0 0 2 0 -868 5,746
7,755 1,594 0 37 0 0 9,385
-550 0 0 0 131 0 -419
-35 -3 0 0 0 10 -29
( 7,169 1,591 0 37 131 10 8,937
94 13 0 0 0 123 230
537 0 0 0 -129 0 408
(€Y 1,621 -310 0 32 0 372 1,715
9,421 1,294 0 69 2 504 11,290
)
2023 1 1 2023 12 31
3,986 -3,986 0 0 0 1,142 1,143
7,778 0 0 -24 0 -1,142 6,612
11,764 -3,986 0 -24 0 0 7,755
-773 0 0 2 221 0 -550
47 0 0 0 0 12 -35
( 10,943 -3,986 0 -22 221 12 7,169
203 -83 0 0 0 =27 94
753 0 0 -1 -215 0 537
2,140 -332 0 55 0 -241 1,621
14,039 -4,400 0 32 7 -256 9,421
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SAP P
2023
2024 12 12
2024 12
FCF
FCF
FCF P

2024 12

1:1
12

2023
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2024 12 31
2024 2023
-19 0 19 -15
-19 0 19 0
3 0 -7 0
0 -15 0 -15
12 31
( ) ( )
( ) ( )
2024 2023
3,735 0 2,390 0
12 0 33
32 0 -20
oct -19 0 19 15
0 0 -106
ocI 3 0 -7 0
ocl
78 0 62 0
ocl
17 0 -9 0
12 31
2024 2023
16 7 12 16 7 12
2,078 1,657 1,364 1.025
EUR GBP 0.83 0.84 0.88 0.88
EUR JPY 158.63 157.46 148.12 152.10
EUR CHF 0.92 0.91 0.96 0.94
EUR AUD 0 0 1.64 1.67
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EUR USD 1.06 1.07 1.10 1.09
- SAP
12 31
2024 2023

5.6 4.2

4.5 3.3

5.6 4.2

3.3 2.5
12 31
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2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
-10%  2022:
-10% 2021: -10% 375 238 135
+10%  2022:
+10% 2021: +10% -375 -238 -135
-10%  2022:-
10% 2021 -10% 281 131 29
+10%
2022:+10% 2021 +10% -281 -131 -29
10% ) -56 -63 _38
+10% 56 64 31
10%  2022:-10% 2021 -10% -45 -48 -20
+10%
2022:+10% 2021 +10% 45 48 20
10% ) -101 -112 -63
+10% 101 112 63
10%  2022:-10% 2021 -10% -39 -46 -44
+10%
2022:+10% 2021 +10% 39 46 44
/ (2024 60 2023 53 )
2024 86 2023 100
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1:1
2024 12 31 40% 2023 43%
12 31
2024 2023
4,550 0 4,550 90
4,103 0 3,964 89
423 -3 556 -6
133 -3 226 1
0 -3 0 -7
2023 12 31
2024 2023
4,550 0 4,550 90
0 0 0 0
-408 0 -535 -1
-127 -1 -214 -2
12 31
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2024
2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
(@) 4.535% 3.827% 3.056% 3.746% 3.912%
USD
@
2023
2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
[€)) 4.324% 3.679% 2.924% 3.630% 3.817%
USD
90
[€)) 5.695%
(@) 12 31
12 31
2024 2023
(€)) 3.99 3.85 4.29 3.29 2.48 4.12 6.93 2.48
( y® 0.72 0.74 0.78 0.75 0.78 0.58 0.78 0.51
1.25 0.42 1.25 0 0 1.10 1.73 0
4.55 4.63 4.64 4.55 4.64 4.64 4.64 4.64
@ 2023
IFRS 7

220/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

12 31
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2024 2023 2022
+100 bps / +100 bps
2023 +100 bps / +100 bps -46 -46 -58
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps
-100 bps 7/ -100 bps
2023 -100bps / -100 bps 46 46 5
2022 -25bps / -10 bps
+100 bps / +100 bps
2023 +100 bps / +100 bps -4 0 -14
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps
-100 bps / -100 bps
2023 -100 bps / -100 bps 4 0 1
2022 -25 bps / -10 bps
+100 bps / +100 bps 47 32 26
2023 +100 bps / +100 bps
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps
-100 bps / -100 bps -47 -32 -5
2023 -100 bps 7/ -100 bps
2022 -25bps / -10 bps
2024 12 31 6,401 2023 4,967
2022 5,137
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2024 2023 2022(1)

640 1,093 503
10 (2023 22 ) -

-640 -1,093 -503
10 (2023 22 ) -
12022+ 10%
NASDAQ  S&P500 12

2024 + 10 2023

+ 22

BBB

Tier 1
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1 12
SAP
90
A.2
12 31

2024

1- AAA BBB- -0.1% 7,004 0 -7

2— BB+ D 0.0% 105 0 0

3- NA —5.5% 55 0 -3

-0.1% 7,164 0 -10

2023
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1- AAA BBB- -0.1% 8,664 0 -7
2— BB+ D 0.0% 66 0 0
3- NA -3.9% 77 0 -3
—0.1% 8,807 0 -10
Deutscher Rahmenvertrag fir Finanztermingeschafte
( ) 2024 2023
60 42 18 90 35
-525 -42 -483 -623 -568
12 31
2024
—0.2% 4,439 —7
30 —0.9% 619 64 —6
30 90 —1.4% 603 28 -9
90
—29.2% 445 263 —207
—3.5% 6,106 355 —229
2023
-0.3% 4,036 2 -13
30 —0.6% 770 51 -5
30 90 —1.5% 564 32 —9
90
—27.3% 432 213 -176
-3.3% 5,802 298 —203
( ) 2024 2023
11 -203 -261
-112 -32
86 90
12 31 —229 —203
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2023 2028 1 2 30
2017 25
EURIBOR
7
2019 9 cP 2024 12 31
498 2023 0 6
2024 2023 12 31 1,200 555
2024 10 (E.3)
2023
2024 12 31
2023 12 31
Qualtrics
Qualtrics

12/31/2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2029

-1,178 -1,178 0 0 0 0 0
—6,090 -970 -1,161 -1,045 -1,033 -828 1,775

-99 -3 -3 -100 0 0 0
-2,250 -2,300 0 0 0 0 0
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—498 -500 0 0 0 0 0

-1,715 =371 —287 —237 -184 -148 -821

@ -270 -21 -32 0 0 0 0

-12,099 5,343 1,483 -1,382 -1,217 -976  -2,596

0 -19 -19 -19 -20 -20 -315
12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2028

-1,022 -1,022 0 0 0 0 0

6,780 -941 -952 -1,161 -1,045 -1,033 -2,604

-388 -305 -3 -3 -94 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

-1,621 -350 -260 -204 -159 -127 -804

—263 -34 -30 0 0 0 0

-10,075 -2,652 -1,245 -1,368 -1,298 -1,160 -3,408

0 -19 -19 -19 -19 -19 -309

(@)
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12/31/2024 2025 2025 12/31/2023 2024 2024
-85 -66
4,003 0 -2,048
3,942 0 2,017
-32 -20
-2,805 -958
2,749 948
~408 -537
-230 649 —242 848
60 241 63 301
-525 -287 —408 -623 -220 -547
51 52
~2,921 -2,992
2,977 3,042
12 33
-948 -1,418
964 1,441
63 72 0 85 73 0
—462 -215 —408 -538 -147 -547
(A0
(FVoCI) (FVTPL)
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2024 12 31
9,609
o AC 3,962 3,962
(€Y} AC 1,656 1,656
FVTPL 3,991 3,991 3,991 3,991
6,983
€3] AC 6,231 6,231
® - 752
8,770
AC 53 53 53 53
FoCI 74 74 74 74
FVTPL 6,401 6,401 135 6,266 6,401
&) - 144
AC 1,418 1,418
@) - 287
AC 329 329 329 329
FX - 12 12 12 12
FX FVTPL 51 51 51 51
-2,000
@ AC  -1,178 -1,178
@) - -823
-11,446
AC  -2,250 -2,250
AC  -6.090 -6,090 -6,286 -6,286
AC -99 -99 -94 -94
®) -1,715 -1,715
AC -498 -498 -498 -498
AC -270 -270 -270 -270
FX - -32 -32 -32 -32
- -408 -408 -408 -408
FX FVTPL -85 -85 -85 -85
11,916 1,550 10,004 -2,032 -995 6,266 3,238
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2023 12 31
8,124
[©) AC 3,369 3,369
@) AC 2,277 2,277
FVIPL 2,478 2,478 2,478 2,478
6,525
[©) AC 5,775 5,775
[©) FvoCl 122 122 122
®) - 628
8,887
AC 129 129 129 129
FVIPL 4,967 4,967 156 0 4,811 4,967
- 135
AC 3,021 3,021 3,021 3,021
@ - 244
AC 300 300 300 300
FX - 33 33 33 33
- 0 0 0 0
FX FVTPL 52 52 52 52
FVTPL 0 0 0 0
FVTPL 5 5 5 5
-1,822
) AC  -1,022 -1,022
® - -800
-9,676
AC -
AC -6,780 -6,780 -7,005 0 -7,005
AC -388 -388 -374 -374
® - -1,621 -1,621
©) AC -263 -263 -263 -263
FX - -20 -20 -20 -20
- -537 -537 -537 -537
FX FVTPL -66 -66 -66 -66
12,038 4,798 7,034 -4,242 2,268 4,816 2,720
(@)
®
(©))
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2024 12 31
FVTPL 10,443 10,443
FVOCI 74 74
AC 13,649 13,649
FVTPL -85 -85
AC -10,385 -10,385
2023 12 31
FVTPL 7,502 7,502
FVOCI 122 122
AC 14,873 14,873
FVTPL -66 -66
AC -8,454 -8,454
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1.5-
24.0)

5%-39%
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1
2
1 2024
2023 (2022 : 93 ) 2
3
2024 2023
11 4,817 4,883 0
7 9
-2 -8
773 417
-132 -101
91
481 -219 -106
325 -164 15
12 31 6,269 4,817 0
674 532 0
FVTPL
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(G.1)
2024 2023
988 430 1,418 844 386 1,230
256 67 323 241 33 274
1,244 497 1,741 1,085 419 1,504
T 2,682 3,990 6,672 2,374 3,573 5,947
T 46 12 26 46 12 25
)
VAT
6.-2)
2024
2024 1 1 11 142 153
30 84 114
0 -71 =71
0 -16 -16
9 -9 0
2 4 6
2024 12 31 52 134 186
716 494 1,210
7 27 15

T ®)
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) 2024 2023

1,009 0 1,009 870 0 870
T 5,533 749 6,282 5,647 698 6,345
T 18 0 16 15 0 14

()
6.3
.5
@
(A.4)
2024 12 31
SAP
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2024 12 31
2018 6 Teradata Corporation Teradata US, Inc Teradata Operations, Inc Teradata
SAP SE SAP America, Inc SAP Labs, LLC Teradata
SAP Teradata Teradata
Teradata
2019 SAP Teradata
2020 Teradata SAP 2
2021 2 Teradata
Teradata 2021 11 Teradata
Teradata 2024 12 Teradata
Teradata
274 (2023 416 )
Cc.5
2024 1
207
2023 12 31 155 2023
2024
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2024 12 31 SAP

Christian Klein

CEO adidas AG, Herzogenaurach
Al
Muhammad Alam 2024 4 1
SAP
SAP
Dominik Asam
(CFO) Bertelsmann Management SE Bertelsmann SE & Co.
KGaA Guetersloh
IR

Thomas Saueressig
Nokia Corporation, Espoo

Gina Vargiu-Breuer = 2024 2 1
CPO

2024
Scott Russell (2024 8 31 )

Julia White (2024 8 31 )
Juergen Mueller (2024 9 30 )

2024 12 31 SAP

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Pekka Ala-Pietila 2024 5 15
2.6).(M

Sanoma Corporation, Helsinki,

Lars Lamadé @..M

SAP SE, Walldorf,
Jakub Cerny 2024 5 15 @D.®.06)
SAP CR, ,
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Pascal Demat

2024 5 15

HCM

SAP Belgium, Brussels, Belgium

Aicha Evans
Zoox, Inc.

Andreas Hahn

Prof. Dr. Ralf Herbrich

Margret Klein-Magar
SAP 0B 0G

SAP SE

Jennifer Xin-zZhe Li

@.®.6).()

Changcheng Investment Partners

Dr. Qi Lu
CEO, MiraclePlus Ltd.

César Martin
SAP EMEA
Spain, Madrid,
SAP

SAP SE

Gerhard Oswald
Osward Consulting GmbH

Dr. Friederike Rotsch

@

, Madrid,

2024 5 15

, SAP SE, Walldorf,

2024 5
SAP

, Walldorf,

EDINETO OO
OoOOOoOoOoOoOoOonoE224727)
Ogoooood
@).06).(M
SAP SE ,Walldorf,

Joby Aviation LLC

D.2.4%
Digital Supply Chain Standards SAP SE, Walldorf,

SAP SE , Walldort,
SAP SE , Walldorf,

2024 5 15 ®.6)
Al

Hasso Plattner Institute for Digital Engineering
gGmbH, Potsdam,

0.2.®

3.5
ABB Ltd.
Full Truck Alliance Co. Ltd.

Pinduoduo Inc.
Pine Field Holding Limited

Pine Field Holding Limited
Pine Field Ltd.

15 0.3).®»

.4.D

TSG 1899 Hoffenheim FuRbal I-Spielbetriebs GmbH

appliedAl Initiative GmbH

?.(3).6).M
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Nicolas Sabatier 2024 5 15 @.2.4%

SAP France SA, Paris,

SAP SE ( ), Walldorf,

SAP , Paris, France

Dr. Eberhard Schick 2024 5 15 0.3.
SAP SE , Walldorf,

Nina StraBner 2024 5 15 D.3.®.M

HRBP

SAP SE, Walldorf,

Dr. Rouven Westphal 2.0).(6)

Hasso Plattner Foundation

HPC Germany GmbH & Co. KG

@.06).6
OWN LLC

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels
Warner Bros. Discovery, Inc.

Speechagain, Inc.

Sharks Sports & Entertainment LLC

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2024

Prof. Dr. h. c. Hasso Plattner
Manuela Asche-Holstein
Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova
Peter Lengler

Christine Regitz

Dr. h. c. Punit Renjen

Heike Steck

Helmut Stengele

James Wright

(2024 5 15
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15 )
(2024 5 15 )

)

)

(DsAP SE

&)

®

O]

®

®

)

(8)Go-To-Market and Operations
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G.5
@
“<<STl=* STI 1 STI
1 2 2
STI
2024 LT12024 2022 2023
LT12020
B.3
IFRS 2
2024 2023 2022
2024 2023 2022
21,116 19,632 12,556
22,279 24,469 20,726
43,395 44,101 33,282
-269 1,033 -1,429
-711 673 -1,433
441 360 4
21,615 NA 9,600
64,741 45,134 41,453
2024 2023 2022
126,244 214,530 205,965
52,062 36,127 9,986
DBO
( ) 2024 2023 2022
DBO 12 31 1,187 2,192 1,462
88 137 114
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( ) 2024 2023 2022
5,579 5,427 5,206
3,507 3,185 3,149
2,071 2,242 2,058
/DBO
( ) 2024 2023 2022
2,444 2,329 2,217
DBO 12 31 32,213 33,251 31,217
2023 2024 SAP Flex
5,000
2024 2023 2022
©.6)
SAP SE
SAP SE SAP
SAP SAP SAP
SAP SE SAP
SAP
2024 5 15 Hasso Plattner Pekka Ala
Pietila 2024 5 15 Pekka Ala Pietila Hasso
Plattner 2024 5 15
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( ) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NA NA NA 0 0 0 55 13
NA NA 20D 2D 1 3 90 110
NA NA NA NA 5 7 NA NA
) NA NA NA 0 NA 0 2 6
) NA NA 0 0 NA 0 20 0
NA NA NA 0 NA 42(2) NA NA
Dsap
(6.5)
6.7
2024 5 15 2024 BDO AG
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesel lschaft (BDO) BDO 2023 Jens Freiberg 2023
SAP SE
2002 2022 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft Bodo Rackwitz
2018 2022 SAP SE
BDO BDO 2024 2023
2022 KPMG
2024 2023 2022
BDO AG ( BDO BDO AG ( BDO KPMG AG KPMG
) ) ( )
8 6 14 8 5 13 4 10 14
1 6 7 0 1 1 3 7 10
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9 11 20 8 6 14 7 17 24
BDO SAP SE BDO AG
BDO
BDO
BDO
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6.8)
2025 1
Thomas Saueressig 2028 10 3
2025 2 1 Sebastian Steinhaeuser €00
2025 2 1
2025 1 CS&D
Thomas Saueressig
G.9
2022 12 31 288
12
—65
2023 12 31 235
10
-19
2024 12 31 226
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@
2024 2024 2024
2024 12 31 12 31
0) / @
2024 12 31 ® @)
%

Ariba Technologies India 100 134,983 27,654 60,931 1,345
Private Limited,
Ariba Inc., , 100 1,197,707 481,663 3,637,872 1,393
Concur Technologies, Inc., 100 2,269,859 599,747 7,579,955 2,763
SAP (China) Co., Ltd., 100 1,322,903 15,722 -81,494 6,442 13
SAP (Schweiz) AG, , 100 1,519,757 55,674 252,873 821
SAP(UK) Limited, 100 1,565,630 49,980 223,774 1,531 13
SAP America, Inc., 100 9,534,492 9,274,460 21,910,872 8,521
SAP Argentina S.A., 100 238,181 2,785 12,472 1,262 13
SAP Asia Pte. Limited., 100 771,104 57,192 62,465 1,128 13
SAP Australia Pty Ltd, 100 864,311 28,631 114,584 1,187
SAP Brasil Ltda, 100 860,542 16,541 100,749 3,234 13
SAP Canada, Inc., 100 1,312,653 111,144 770,602 2,961
SAP Deutschland SE & Co. 100 6,343,048 534,083 1,578,098 5,217 9
KG, ,
SAP Espafia — Sistemas, 100 718,448 122,449 110,369 997
Aplicaciones y Productos
en la Informatica,
S.A_, ,
SAP France, 100 1,369,306 136,775 1,849,849 1,406
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%
SAP Hungary Rendszerek, 100 202,374 6,111 36,671 1,607
Alkalmazasok és Termékek az
Adatfeldolgozasban
Informatikai Kft.,
SAP India Private Limited, 100 902,960 73,322 263,069 2,567
SAP Industries, Inc., 100 646,265 185,900 1709, 305 192
SAP Italia Sistemi 100 848,348 59,871 120,584 823
Applicazioni Prodotti in
Data Processing S.p.A.,
SAP Japan Co., Ltd., , 100 1234,747 75,870 186,110 1,364
SAP Labs Bulgaria EO0D, 100 147,639 7,814 40,977 1,648
SAP Labs India Private 100 1052,776 152,223 359,228 11,474
Limited, ,
SAP Labs, LLC, . 100 694,989 108,643 1002,786 1,462
SAP Mexico S.A. de C.V., 100 583,793 3,365 113,858 1,218 13
SAP National Security 100 1182,435 203,689 617,815 726
Services, Inc.,
SAP Nederland B.V., 100 887,685 165,855 593,195 667
SAP Philippines, Inc., 100 127,743 4,116 12,794 1,033 13
SAP Service and Support 100 356,597 84,637 174,992 1,732
Centre (Ireland) Limited,
SAP Services s.r.o., 100 151,161 3,719 24,496 1,574 13
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SAP Kazakhstan LLP, , 100
110405, Inc., , , 100
Abakus Ukraine Limited Liability Company, , 100
Ambin Properties Proprietary Limited, Johannesburg, )

100 13
AppGyver Inc., , , 100
AppGyver Oy., , 100
Ariba Czech s.r.o., , 100 13
Ariba India Private Limited, , 100
Ariba International Holdings, Inc., , ,

100
Ariba Technologies Netherlands B.V., 100
Baiza Capital Designated Activity Company, , 0 8
Baiza Capital Italia s.r.l., , 0 8
Baiza Capital LLC, , , 0 8
Baiza Capital S.A., , 0 8
Business Objects Option LLC, , , 100

Business Objects Software Limited, (Trading as SAP Solutions),

s 100
Callidus Software Inc., s , 100
CallidusCloud (India) Pvt. Ltd., , 100
Cleanshelf, Inc., , , 100
CNQR Operations Mexico S. de. R.L. de. C.V., , 100
Concur (Canada), Inc., , 100
Concur (Czech) s.r.o., , 100 13
Concur (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur (Germany) GmbH, , 100 10,11
Concur (Japan) Ltd., , 100
Concur (Philippines) Inc., , 100
Concur (Switzerland) GmbH, , 100
Concur Holdings (Netherlands) B.V., , 100
Concur Technologies (Australia) Pty. Limited, ,

100

Concur Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited, , 100
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Concur Technologies (India) Private Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., , 100 13
Concur Technologies (UK) Limited, s 100 13
ConTgo Consulting Limited, , 100
ConTgo Limited, , 100
Delos Cloud GmbH, , 100
Emarsys eMarketing Systems GmbH, , 100 13
Emarsys iletisim Sistemleri Tic. Ltd Sti., , 100
Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH, , 100
Emarsys Limited, , 100
Emarsys North America, Inc., , s
100
Emarsys Pte. Ltd., , 100
Emarsys Pty Ltd, , 100
Emarsys S.A.S., , 100 13
Emarsys Schweiz GmbH, , 100
Emarsys UK Ltd, , 100 13

EMARSYS-Technologies Informatikai Szolgaltaté Kft.,

100
FreeMarkets Ltda., , 100
LeadFormix, Inc., s s 100
LeanIX France S.A.R.L., , 100
LeanIX GmbH, , 100
LeanIX SI d.o.o0., , 100
LeanIX UK Limited, , 100
LeanIX US Holdings, Inc., , , 100
LeanlX, B.V., , 100
LeanlX, Inc., , , 100
LLC ““SAP Labs~”, . 100
LLC ““SAP Ukraine’”, , 100 13
Loyalsys Technologies Israel Ltd., , 100
LXTECH India Private Limited, , 100
Outerjoin, Inc., , , 100
OutlookSoft Deutschland GmbH, , 100 10,11
PT SAP Indonesia, , 99
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Quadrem Africa Pty. Ltd., s 100
Quadrem Brazil Ltda., , 100
Quadrem Chile Ltda., , 100
Quadrem International Ltd., , 100
Quadrem Netherlands B.V., , 100
Quadrem Overseas Cooperatief U.A., , 100
Quadrem Peru S.A.C., , 100
SAP (Beijing) Software System Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP (China) Holding Co., Ltd., . 100
SAP Andina y del.Caribe C.A., , 100 13
SAP AZ LLC, , 100
SAP Belgium — Systems, Applications and Products S.A., ,
100
SAP Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Bulgaria EOQOD, , 100
SAP Chile Limitada, , 100 13
SAP CIS, LLC, , 100
SAP Colombia S.A.S., , 100 13
SAP Costa Rica, S.A., , 100 13
SAP CR, spol. s r.o., , 100
SAP Cyprus Limited, s 100
SAP Danmark A/S, , 100
SAP Dritte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs,GmbH, ,
100

SAP druStvo s ogranicenom odgovornos¢u za digitalnu ekonomiju novog

tisucljeca, , 100

SAP East Africa Limited, , 100 13
SAP Egypt LLC, , 100 13
SAP EMEA Inside Sales S.L., , 100

SAP Erste Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs, ,

100 10,11

SAP Estonia 00, , 100

SAP Financial, Inc., , 100

SAP Finland Oy, , 100

SAP Foreign Holdings GmbH, , 100

SAP France Holding, S.A., , 100
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SAP Global Marketing, Inc., s , 100

SAP Hellas Single Member S_A., , 100

SAP Hong Kong Co., Ltd., , 100 13
SAP Hosting Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100 10,11
SAP India (Holding) Pte. Ltd., , 100

SAP International Panama, S.A., , 100

SAP International, Inc., , , 100

SAP Investments, Inc., , , 100

SAP Ireland Limited, , 100 13

SAP Ireland US - Financial Services Designated Activity Company,

, 100
SAP Israel Ltd., s 100 13
SAP Korea Ltd., , 100
SAP Labs France SAS, , 100
SAP Labs Israel Ltd., , 100
SAP Labs Korea, Inc., , 100
SAP Latvia SIA, , 100
SAP Lietuva UAB, , 100
SAP Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., , 100
SAP Middle East and Africa North Regional Headquarter Company, ,

100 5

SAP Middle East and North Africa L.L.C., , 100 13
SAP Middle East FZ L.L.C., , 100 13
SAP Nederland Holding B.V., , 100
SAP New Zealand Limited, . 100
SAP Norge AS, , 100
SAP North West Africa Ltd, , 100
SAP Osterreich GmbH, , 100
SAP Perd S.A.C., s 100 13
SAP Polska Sp. z o0.0., , 100
SAP Portals Holding Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Portals lIsrael Ltd., , 100
SAP Portugal — Sistemas, Aplicagdes e Produtos Informaticos,
Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda., , 100
SAP Projektverwaltungs- und Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
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SAP Public Services, Inc., DC, 100

SAP Puerto Rico GmbH, , 100 10,11,13

SAP Retail Solutions Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH, ,

100
SAP Saudi Software Services Ltd, , 100
SAP Saudi Software Trading Ltd, , 75 13
SAP Sechste Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs GmbH,
» 100 10,11
SAP Siebte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, ,
100 10,11
SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o.,
. 100
SAP Slovensko s.r.o., , 100
SAP Software and Services WLL, , 49 6,13
SAP Svenska Aktiebolag, , 100
SAP System Application and Products Asia Myanmar Limited, ,
100
SAP Systems, Applications and Products in Data Processing (Thailand)
Ltd., , 100
SAP Taiwan Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP Technologies Inc., s s 100
SAP Training and Development Institute FZCO, , 100
SAP Tiirkiye Yazilim Uretim ve Ticaret A.S., , 100
SAP Ventures Investment GmbH, , 100 10,11
SAP Vierte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH,
, 100
SAP Vietnam Company Limited, , 100
SAP West Balkans d.o.o., , 100
SAP Zweite Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, ,
100 10,11
SAP.i0 Fund, L.P., , , 0 7
Sapphire Fund Investments 11 Holdings LLC., , ,
100 7
Sapphire Fund Investments 11, L.P., , , 0 7
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, Holdings LLC., , ,
100 7
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Sapphire Fund Investments 111, L.P., , 0 7
Sapphire SAP HANA Fund of Funds, L.P.,
0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund I, L.P., , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund 11, L.P., , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund 111, L.P_, , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund 1V, L.P_, , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund V, L.P., , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund VI, L.P_, , 0 7
Sapphire Ventures Fund VII-A, L.P., , 0 7
SAPV (Mauritius), , 100
SC SAP Romania SRL, , 100
Shanghai SAP Cloud Technology Company, Ltd., , 70
Signavio, Inc., s 100
SuccessFactors (Philippines), Inc., 100 13
SuccessFactors, Inc.,
100
Sybase Angola, LDA, 100
Sybase, Inc., , s 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa Region) Proprietary Limited,
, 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa) Proprietary Limited,
s 100
Systems Applications Products (South Africa) Proprietary Limited,
, 81 13
Systems Applications Products Nigeria Limited,
100 13
Taulia (Shanghai) Smart Technology Co. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Arabia LLC, , 100
Taulia Australia Pty. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Bulgaria EOOD, , 100
Taulia GmbH, 100 12
Taulia LLC, 100
Taulia Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Trade Technology GmbH, 100 12
Taulia UK Ltd., , 96 13
TRX Europe Limited, , 100
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TRX Technologies India Private Limited, s 100
TRX UK Limited, , 100
TRX, Inc., , , 100
Volume Integration, Inc., , , 100
WalkMe Australia Pty. Ltd_, , 100 5
WalkMe Canada Ltd., , 100 5
WalkMe Germany GmbH, s 100 5,12
WalkMe K_K., , 100 5
WalkMe Ltd., , 100 5
WalkMe Middle East LLC-FZ, , 100 5
WalkMe Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100 5
WalkMe UK Limited, . 100 5
WalkMe, Inc., , , 100 5
¢!
@ IFRS
/

(3 2024 12 31 FTE
4 HGB, 285 313 SAP S.E.

HGB, 313(2) 3 4 286(3)1
(G 2024
6 SAP SE
(@ SAP SE SAP IFRS 10
(8 IFRS 10
(¢ SAP SE
o )
(11 HGB, 264(3) 264b
(12 HGB 316 (1) 2024 12 31
@13
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China DataCom Corporation Limited, ,

28

Procurement Negocios Eletroni

cos S/A,

17

SAP Fioneer GmbH,

20

G

)

All Tax Platform - Solucoes Tributarias S.A.,

CDQ AG, »

Charlton House Professional Services Limited,

Cofinity-X GmbH, ,

Data.R.X. Ltd. (dba Datricks Ltd.), ,

Digital Hub Rhein-Neckar GmbH,

InnovationLab GmbH,

innoWerft Wal ldorf GmbH,

Smart City Planning, Inc.,

Vistex, Inc.,

47th Street Partners I, L.P.,

83North 1V, L.P.,

Adverity GmbH, )

Alation, Inc.,

Alchemist Accelerator Fund |

LLC, ,

Aleph-Bigg SPV, L.P.,

Amplify Partners 11 L.P.,

Amplify Partners 111, L.P_,

Amplify Partners IV, L_.P.,

Amplify Partners, L.P_,

Ask Sage, Inc., s

Asylum Ventures 2024, LP (

Filament 2024, LP),

BGS Holdings, Inc.,

BioCatch Ltd., ,

Bitonic Technology Labs, Inc.,

Blue Yard Crytpo 2, L.P. (

BlueYard Crypto 1, L.P.),

Boldstart Ventures V, L.P.,
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G )

Boldstart Ventures VI, L.P., s

Brightfield Holdings. Inc.,

Bryj Technologies, Inc. ( Follow Analytics, Inc.),

BY Crypto 1 GmbH & Co. KG ( BY Capital 1 Alternative GmbH & Co. KG),

Blue Yard Capital 1 GmbH & Co. KG,

BY Capital 2 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Catchpoint Systems, Inc.,

Chalfen Ventures Fund I L.P.,

Chalfen Ventures Fund Il L.P.,

Chalfen Ventures Fund 111 L.P.,

CircleCl, Inc., ,

Clari.Inc., Inc. )

Collectly, Inc., s

ComponentLab, Inc., ,

Constructor Topco Inc.,

Contentful Global, Inc., ,

Costanoa Venture capital Il L.P_,

Costanoa Venture capital QZ, LLC,

Costanoa Venture capital 111 L.P.,

Creandum SPV TR (D) AB,

Creatio Inc., ,

Culture Amp, Inc., ,
Cypress.io, Inc., ,
Data Collective Il L.P_, , .
Data Collective Il L.P., , ,
Data Collective 1V, L.P., , s

Defense Unicorns, Inc.,

DocEquity, Inc. (dba Supio), ,

Dremio Corporation, ,

Elise A.1. Technologies Corp.,

Essence VC 111, L.P., ,

FeedZai S.A., ,
Felix Capital Fund 111, ,
Felix Ventures 11, L.P., ,

Finco Services, Inc. (dba Current),
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F oQast, Inc., ,

GitGuardian SAS, ,

Gorgias Inc., ,

Haystack Ventures V. L.P.,

Haystack Ventures VI. L.P.,

Haystack Ventures VII, L.P., San Francisco, CA, United States

Huntress Labs Incorporated, Ellicott City, MD, United States

IDG Ventures USA 111, L.P.,

IEX Group, Inc., ,

InfluxData, Inc., )

Initialized CBH SPV LLC,

Involve.ai, Inc., ,

JetLenses Inc. (dba Verse Medical), ,

JupiterOne, Inc., )

LeanData, Inc., ,

LGVP F I LLC, s »

Local Globe Opportunity Fund, L.P.,

Local Globe VII, L.P.,

Local Globe VIII, L.P.,

Local Globe X, L.P.,

Local Globe XI, L.P.,

Mango Capital 2018, L.P.,

Mango Capital 2020, L.P.,

Mango Capital 2022, L.P.,

Matillion Ltd., )

Medable Inc., )

Mosaic Ventures Investors Fund I, L.P.

Moxxie Ventures 111, L.P.,

Notation Capital Il CIRC, LLC,

Notation Capital, L.P.,

Notation Capital I, L.P_,

Notation Capital, 111, L.P.,

OpenX Software Limited, ,

Paper Education Company, Inc.,

Pendo.io, Inc., ,
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G )

PivotNorth Early Fund I. L.P., s )

Point Nine Annex GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Point Nine Capital Fund Il GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund 111 GmbH & Co. KG, )
Point Nine Capital Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund V GmbH & Co. )

Project 44, Inc., , »

PubNub, Inc., , ,

Qualified.com, Inc., , s

Reltio, Inc., , s
Restream, Inc., , ,
Rewst Inc., , ,

Ridge Ventures 1V, L.P_, , ,

Ridge Ventures V, L.P., , ,

SafeGraph, Inc., , ,

Sapphire Sport, L.P., , ,

Sapphire Sport, Parallel Fund, L.P., s s

Sapphire Sport, L.P_, , s

Side, Inc., , ’

Simpplr Inc., , s

Splashtop, Inc., , ,

Spring Mobile Solutions, Inc., ) ,

StackHawk, Inc., , ,

Storm Ventures V, L.P., , ,

SV Angel 1V, L.P., , »

Tetrate.io, Inc., , ,

The SaaStr Fund, L.P., , ,

The SaaStr Fund I, L.P., , ,

Third Kind Venture Capital Il, L.P_, ,

Third Kind Venture Capital 111, L.P_, , ,

Tractian Ltd, , ,

Tribe Capital LLC Series 3, ,

Tribe Capital LLC Series 8, , ,

UJET. Inc., , ,

Unmind Ltd., s
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G )

Upfront vV, L.P., , ,

Uptycs, Inc., , ,

Upvest GmbH, ,

VerblT, Inc., , ’

Walkabout Ventures Fund Il L.P., , ,

Yapily Ltd., ,

Zesty Tech Ltd., ,

Kaltura, Inc., , ,
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
Equity ABritstable bo Swners of Parent
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
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Notes

(IN.1) Basis for Preparation

General Information

The registered domicile of SAP SE s in Walidord, Germarny (Commencial Register of the Lower Cout of
annheim HRE 7190151 The Consolidated Financial Staterments for 2024 of SAP SE and ils
subsigiaries (ool lectively, Swe *us” “cur “SAP" “Groun,” and “Company™) have been prepared in
accordance with Infemational Financial Wiﬂa Standards (IFRS] and the additiond) reguirements
set forthin section 31%e (1} of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

W have apolied all IFRS standards and inlerpretations that were effective on and endorsed oy the
Eurcpean Unlon (EL) &s at Decembber 31, 024, There were no standards or interpretations as at
Decemnbxer 31, 2024, impacting cur Consclidated Financial Statements for e years ended
Decemnber 31, 2004, 2023, and 2022, that wene effective but not yet endorsed, Thenefone, cur
Consolidated Financial Statements comply with bath, IFRS 25 issued by the nlemational Accounting
Stancands Board (LASE) and IFRS as encorsed oy the ELL

Our Execulive Boand approved the Consoalidatea Finandal Statements on February 19, 2025, Tor
submission 1o cur Supendsory Board which approved the Consclidated Financial Statesments an the

SAME Clay.

All armounts included in the Censolidated Financlal Staternents are reparted i milions of eurcs

(€ millons) except where othenwise stated, As fgures are rounded, numbers presented throughout this
document may not add up precisely to the otais we provide and percentages may not precisely
refect the absclule Fgures

Amounts disclosed in the Notes that ane taken directly fram our sl Conselidated Income Statements
or our P Consclidated Statements of Financial Position are marked with (he symbcls dl and I,

e spectively,

Furthermare, all inancie numbers in the Consolidated Financial Statements are based on continuing
aperalions (unless olhenise noted)

Accounting Policies, Management Judgments, and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

How We Present Our Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

To ease the understanding of cur financial stalements, we present the accounting policies,
management judgments, and sources of estimaticn uncertainty (hereafter. accounting polices,
iudaments, and estimates) on @ gven subject lopether with cther disclosunes related to te same
subjectin the Note that deals with this subjed.. Accounting policies, judgments, and estimates that cio
nol relate 1o 3 soecilic subied ane presented i the foliowing sedion

For epsier identification of our accounting policies, judgments, aad estimates, the respectve
disclosures are marked with the symibol (B and highlighted with a light gray bose They locas on the
acoounling choloes made within the ramewar of the prevailing IFRS and relrain from repeating the
underlying promulgated IFRS puidance, uniess we consider [t particularly important to the
understanding al 2 Nales content
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The foliowing tabbe provides an ovendew of where cur accounting policies, management judgments,
20 estimates are disclosed.

Zmccounting Policks, Juagments, and Estimates

Bty bl Pragusd sl ioon
BTl

Tracie arei Criher Reorivalibes
Coplalized Cost from Contracts with Custome s
Cusomer-Relued Provisions

Shue-Aaed fpmeanie
Pevrsion Mars and Similar Olligsliors
thor Employes-Felaled Obligations
Restructuring
PrSHR —
noome Taomes
Hueiress Conlseations snd Deeslituies
Gaochl
mlangghle Aty
Deaputety, Mird arstf Egiigiesnt
[Lr ]
Equity irvesmerts
MO REAMED GO Pnert Citants
Total Ecuity
Financisl Risk Faclors and fisk Lanagesnent
Fake Vit Dinclosunes on Finaral istiuments
Cther Litigation, Clalms, and Legal Cortirgencies
Eancatin and Superninony oo Compensation

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE]S

EE

(# General Accounting Policies

Bases of Measurement

The Consalidated Financial Stalements have been prenared on the historical cost basis excent for the

Telowing

— Derivative financial instruments, liabiltics for cash-seftled share-based payments, and financial
Bssels with cagh liows that-are not solaly payments of principal or interest ane messuned at fair
value,

= Pest-emolayment benefits are measured a1 the present value of the defined benefil obligations
less the fair value of the plan assels

- Manetary assels oni labilities denominated i lonsipn cumencies ane ranslaled al period-end
cxchange @les.

= Provisicns are recognized ot the Dest estimate of their Tulfillment amaount when they oocur,

Foreign Currencies

nearre: and expenvses anvd operating cash Nows of our foreign subsigiaries that use a furctional
currency olher than the Eurc are transiated at average rates of foreign exchange (FX)computed ana
manthly basis Exchange differences resulling from foreign curmency Fansactions ang récegnized in
ather non-operating Income/expense, net.
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The exchange rates of key currencies alfecting the Company wene as follows:
Exchange Rates
Ml Aali
. - ol 50 kmﬁ.m.'qeimaeh‘d:
024 203 2024 il Forrd
Ay alin chollm A 146732 LEMT 18335 6% 15172
Canakan ool CAD 1443 Lagad 14259 e 1IMi3
St rane CHF 09412 B i) 09T 1082
Bound sheilieg G CLiac (gt Cugdas Ll QEmad
it yo oy 16306 LI56.3T 16362 L 1301
W5, gicltar D 103 L1058 108 10418 10839
Cost Classification
Cost of Cloud and Software

Cost of clowd and software includes the costs incurred in providing the services and progucing the
foocs thal penarate cloud and softwane revenue. Consequently, this line item primasily includes
employes eupenses relaling lo these senvices, amortizalion of acquired intangibles, fees for thing-party
licenses, deoreciation of our property, olant, and equipment (Tor example, of our data centers inwhich
we host our cloud solutions), and costs for third-party hosling sendces. For more informetion about the
capitatization of cosis from contracts with customens, see Note (A3)

Cost of Services
Cost ol services includes the costs incurred in praviding the servioes that generate senvios revenus

Consequently, this line itermn primarily includes employee expensas and related treining, system and
system administration oosts, and costs for thind-party resources,

Research and Development

Research and development includes the casts incurred by aetivities related to the develapment of
choud and softwane solutions including resource and harhwane costs for (he development fystems,
The some applies lorall aclivities related to chanpes in the code of SAPS cloud and software
selutions. For more infesmation about the recognition of intematly penerated inlangible assets from
development, see hiote (0.3}

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing inclwdes Lhe oosts incurmed for the selling activities (such as sales commissions
and amorlization of capitalized sales commissions) and manketing activities related to our scitware
2 cloud soiutions and cur senvice portfalio. For mone infarmiation about the capitalization of costs
from contracts with custome s, see ote (831

General and Administration

General and administratian incluges the costs related 1o linance and acminstrative lanctians, Ruman
rescurces, and general management as long as they ane not directly attributabie bo one of the other
aperating expense lne fems.
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(Z) Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires cur management bo make
judgments, eslimates, and assumplicns that affect the application of accounting policles and the
reported amounts of assets, labilites, revenues, and expenses. 05 well 35 gesciosune of contingent
liabities.

We base our judgments, eslimales, and assumplions on historical and lorecast infarmatian, and on
regional and industry econcmic conditions inwhich we or our cuslomers cpemte. Changes tolnese
concilions could adversely affect our estimates. Althouph we Delieve we have made reasonatiie
estimates about the ultimate resclution of the underlying unceralnties, no assurance can be given that
the fimal outcome of these matters will be consistent with what is reflected inour recognized assels,
llabfities, revenues, and expenses and disclosed contingent laollies. Actual resulis could differ
signifeantly from ariginal estimates

The accgunting palcies that most freguently or significantly reguing us 1o make jucements, estimates,
and assumptions, and therefore are critical to understanding our results of aperations, include the

Tellowing,
Mote Z Material Accounting Polickes
AL Rewenue iecognition and neveme presentotion
g Valuattion of brade receivables
[A41063  Acoountingfor begel conlingencies, peosisiors
151 Accounting lor share-based payments
fisla) Accounting for income 1
5} Accountinglor business cambinstions
2 Accountingfor gecc
B n!n:mm.lh'gh;ril.arﬂ:lurmird;ﬂqlwllmd r!lEfrui',- aenﬂmrluwemh from
cevelaprent)
L6 Acuntingor souly evestmerts

Our manapement periodically discisses these matenal scoounting palicles with the Audit and
Compliance Committee of our Supenviscry Board.

(%) New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

Thee BASE haes issued various amendments to the IFRS standands (Sach as IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
{Amendments to the Classification, Measurement, and Disclesure of Finandal Instraments) and IFRS
9and IFRS 7 (Amendments (o Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity)) thal ane retevant
lor SAP DUt not yel effective, Wie are curmenlly assessing the impact on SAR but do not expect material
effects on ow finonclal position or prolit after tax.

In April 2024, the 1ASE released IFRS 18 (Presenlation and Disclosure in Financial Statementsh The
new stanacard will substantially alfect the presentation of conscl:daled inceme stalements snd
introduce acditicnal disciosure requirements. The standard will become effective on Janaany 1, 2027,
SAP s currently evalunting this stanclaad and the impact it may have on SAP'S fingncial statements
distlosues
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Section A - Customers

This secticn discusses disclesures related o contracts with our customens, These include but are not
Umited to explanations of how we recopnize revenue, revenue disaggregation, and informaticon about
aur race receables and customer-related coligations.

{A.1) Revenue

@ Accounting for Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Claszes of Revenue

‘We cerive cur revenise frams fees charged to cur customess for the use of our cloud offerings, for
lipenses W our on-premise scitware products, and Tor standardized and premium Sunpom Senioes,
consuiling customer-specific softwane developments, Iraining, and other services,

Cloud and software revenue, &5 presented inour Consolidated Incame Statements, is e sum of our
cloud revenue, cur software license revenue, and cur software support revenue.

Cloud revenue represents fees earned fram providing customers with any of the fellowing:

Soltware &5 o service (Saas), thal i, a right to use software funct:anality (including standand
Tuncticnalities and cusiom cloud applications and edensions) in a cloud based infrastruclune hosted
loy AP or third parties enpaged by SAF, wieve the customer does not have the right to lerminate the
hesting contract and take possession ol the saftware to cithver run il on s own IT infrastructune o to
engape a thind-party provider unrelated to SAP to host and manage the software; Saas alsc includes
transaction and sgent fees for transactions that Cuslomens eeecube on our cloud-Dased transactian
plathorms.

Pialform as a senaoe {Paalb), thal is, acoess 1o a clowd-based platiorm to develop, deploy, integrate,
and manage appications.

Infrastruchure as a senvice (laaS), that is, hosting and related application management services for
soltware hosted by SAP or third panies engaped oy SAP

Premium cloud suppart, thet is, support beyond the regular suppart embedded in the underlying
choud subscriplion services.

Software license revenue regresents hees eamed from the sale o Ucense of soltware to customers
lor use on the premises owned or fully contralled oy Lhe custemer, in olner wonds, whene the cusiomer
Inas the right to take pessession of the soltware for installation on the castomner's premises or on
hardweare of thind-pary hosting providers unelated 1o SAP (on-premise scftware), Scftware license
revenue includes sevenue from bath the sate of our standard software procucts and customer-specific
on-premise-soliwane development agreements.

Software support revenue represents fees earmed fram providing customers with standasdized
support senvices that compeise unspecifed fulure softwane updates, upgrades, and enfancements as
well 95 technical prodiuct support services for on-premise software products.

Services revenue primarily represents fees eamed from professional consualting senvices, premium
support senvices, and training senvices.

Identification of a Contract

We frequently enter into muitiphe contracts with the same customes, For accounting purposes, we treat
these contracts 2% a single contract [ they ane entered into al ar near the same time and are
econcmically interrelated. We do not combine contracts with clesing days mase Lhan three monihs
203 because we do nol consicer Lhem Deing entaned Inlo Aear he same Lime. Jusipret s reguired
in ewaluating whether visrous contracts are interrelated, which incluces consigerations as to whether
they werne negolialed as a package with a single commercial chiective, whether the amount of
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cansideration on cne conlract is dependent on the performance of the other contract, or if same or all
foods in the contracts are a single performance obligation

New amangements with existing custemers can be eflher a new contract o Lhe modifcation of pricr
contracts with the customer, Our judpment in mexing this determination considers whether there is a
conneclion between Lhe new arrangemeni and the pre-existing conlracts, whether the goeds and
services under the new amanpement ane highly interrelated with the poods and sendoes sobd uncer
prior contracts, and how the poods and services under the new arangement ane priced. In determining
whether o change in tramgaction price represents a contract mocification or a change in variable
consideralion, we axamine whether the change in price results from changing the contradt or from
applying unchanped existing contract provisions,

ldentification of Performance Obligations

Our cusiomer contracts ofien include various products and services. Typically, the producis and
services autlined in the Classes of Revenue secticn qually a5 separate performance obligations and
the porticn of the contractual fee allocated to them is recognired separately. Judgment is requined,
nowever, in determining whelher o pood or service i3 considered 3 senardle perfomance o blipation,
For our professional seneoes and iImplementation activities, jwdgment is required to evaluate whelher
such sendces sipnificantly inteprate, custemize, or modily the on-premise softwane o cloud senico fo
winich they relate. In this context, we consicer the nature of the senvices and their volume reative 1o
the volume of the on-premise softwane or cloud service o which they relate, In peneral, the
implementation sendces for our cdoud services po beyond oure selup adivilies and qualily as
separale perdformance obiigations. Similarly, our on-premise implementation seniices and cur custom
development servioes tynically qualify 235 separte perdomnce obligatians. Mon-distinet poods and
sefvices am combined into one distinct bundle of poods and services (combined perdomance
oblipation}.

When selling goods or services, we frequently grani cusiomers opticns to acguire adoiional poods or
services (for example, renewals of cloud or support arranpements, or additicnal volumes of purchased
cloud solutions or software) We apply judgment in determining whether such cplions provide a
material right to the customer that the custamer wauld nat receive withaul enlering ine that cantract
In this judgment, we consider, lor example, whether e oplicns enlitle the customer 1o a discou that
exneeds the discount pranted for the respective poods of services sold tegethar with the option

In scenasdos where SAP

= Sells directly 1o end customers via partners

= Sells thind-pafy products 1o end cuslamérs

- Provices seniies 1o end custamens with (e support of sunplions

SAP determines the resnective nature of the performance obligation and whether SAP i oroviding the
specilied pood or sendce isell or aranging for the pood or service Lo be provided by the third pary.
SAPidentilies whether it (or the partner)is acting 25 principal or apent in Bne with this performance
obligation assessment. SAP exercises judgment in making this assessment, which is based on the
question of whether the intermeciary controls the specified pood or senvice belore It is transferred to
e customer, In exercisng this judpment, SAP relies in Ihe majarily of cases on the legal responsibility
towards the customer in providing the specified good or sendce and on s pricing discretion For that
oo o service,

Determination of Transaction Price

We apply judgment in determining the amaunt to which we expect (o be entitled in exchange for
translerring promised goods or senices 1o a customern Generally, variable consideration s estimated
lbased on the most Likely amcwnt and i inclucded in the ransaction price to the extent that the:
cansiraint coes not apply. This incluces estimates a5 o whether ang Lo whal exlent subsequent
Conoessions may be granled to customers and whether the customer is expecled (o pay the
contractual lees In this Redgment, we oongicer our histary with the resnective custamer or on
portiofic basis.

The recognition constraint is applied to on-premise soltware transactions that include usage-based or
sales-based continpent lees. In confrast, cur typical cioud senvices do nol provide the customer with a
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scitwarne lcense because the customer does not have the right o terminate the hosting contract and
1La%e possession of the softwane. Consequently, variabie cloud lees are conskdernsd in the transaction
jorice based on eslimaltes, rather than being accounied for as usage-based or sales-based license
royaities, I SAP pays consideration to & customer In exchanpe for a distingt pood or service, and such
murchase is inked 1o a customer contract, an estimate of fair value of such goods and services is
reguited bo conclude whether or not to acoount for a reduction in the tansaction price of the Fnked
cuslomer comract

Only very rarely 8o our contracts include signilicant ingacing companents. We ca not account for
financing components i the peried between when SAP transfers the promised goods or services o
the customer and when the customer pays for those gooos of sendoes Is one year o less
Allecation of Transaction Price

We have estabiished a niemrchy to Identily the standalone selling prices [(55Ps) that we use o allocate
e ransaction price of & custamer contract 1o the performance coligations in the contracl

- Where the 55Ps lor an offering are coservable and reasonably consistent acress customers {ihat is,
nict highly vasiable), cur 5P estimates are derived Irom our respective pricing history, Typically, our
standardized supporn offerings and our professional senvice offerings follew this approach

= Where sales prices for an cffering are not directly olosenvable or highly varable across customers,
we use estimation technioues.

Effective 2024, we applied a new technigue to estimate the 55P of our cioud offerings, using inpad
parameters that mose sppropriately reflect SAPs matured commercial medels and cbserved peicing
practices in the Cioud. This 5P consicers overall pricing objectives, taking market conditicns and other
lactors inte account. We cstimale the SSP using a specilic pricing range that encompasses ihe majority
of owr transacticns,

SAP estimes the impact of (hes change In eatimation lechaigos for our cloud afferings en the
#lecation of transaction prices to peformance cbligations within customer contracts 1o be immaternisl
for the current pericd.

- A3 SAP's go-lo-markel sirategies evolve Turther, SAP conlinuausiy mandors its commencial models
and pricing practices, which could resall in changes 1o our SSP3 in Lhe lulure., For afferngs for which
we cannat justify o range and we observe highly variabie pricing. and for which we lack substantial
direct costs o estimate based on a cost-plus-margin aporoach, we allocate the transaction price by
applying a resicdual approach, We use this techniguee in particuliar korour standard on-premise
scitware offerings.

Judprment is required when estimating 55Ps, To judge whetner the historical pricing of our goods and
senvices is highly variable, we have eslablished thresholds of pricing varability.

When we estimate an 55P ranpe based on pricing otjectives, we use judgment in determining the
upper and lower end of the range. Such judgment considers price points achieved in the market as
wiedl a5 stralegic pricing decisions.

The S5Ps of material right options depend on the probabdity of option exercise. In estimating these
probabilities, we apply jusgment considering historical exencise paltems,
- Recognition of Revenus

Cloud reverrie is recopnized over lime as the sendces are performed. For cloud business models
Wit we grant fgnls 1o continuousty acoess and use ot of marne clowd oflerings for a certain term,
revenye is recognired based on time elapsed and thus ratably over this kerm. For cloud business
MOels pravisionad on 3 consumplion Dasis where 3 customer cammits 1o o fued value of spend on
cloud senvices throughcut the contract term, but with the discretion to call off cloud services during
the cantrsct term, we recopnize revense based on consumplian a3 it best rellects our measure
lewards satisfaction of that pedormance cblipaticn. In Emiled scenadios where Lhe transaction price is
entirely variable and determined by the customer's consumplion, we recognize revenue based on
usage [n the pericd inwhich it was eamied.
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Software loense revonue s recognized at a point In ime or over time depending on whether we
deliver standard software, custamer-specific software, or software subscription conlracts That comiing
the delvery of software and the obligation e delver, in the Tuture, unsoecified softwane products:

= Licenses for our standard on-premise saltware products ane typically delivened by providing the
customer with access io download the software. We recognize revenue for these cn-premise
loenses at the podt i time when we granl the icense riphis (o the customer and the customer nas
access lo and thus control over the soltwane, In judging whether our on-premise saftware offerings
grant customers 3 right to use, rather than a right (o pocess, our inteliaciud propery, we have
consicencd the useluiness of our software withoul subseguent updates to L

= Typically, our cusiomer-specilic on-premise software development agreements

* Represent soltwane developed for specilic neads ol Individual customers and therefore do not
nawe any use for us

= Prowide us with an énlarceable Aghl Lo payment kar perlormancs compleled Lo dale

For such cevelopment agneements, we recoinize revenue over lime as the software development
propresses, Judpment = requined inidentilying an aporopate method 10 measure the propress
toward compiete satisfection of such performance obligations. We typically measure progress of
our develcpment agreements based on the direct costs incarmed to date in developing the software
as.a percentape of the total reasonably estimatea direct costs 1o fully commete the development
wiork {inpul-based percentage-of-completion method). This methad of measuring progress laihfully
depicts the transier of the development services ta the customer, as substantially all of these costs
are coslt of the stall or thind parties perlorming the development work In estimating the total cosiie
Tuwlly complete the develcpment work, we consider our istory with similar projects,

= [For agreements that combing the delivery of softwane and the obligation to defver, in the future,
unspecific software products, we recognize revenue ai a poind intime for loenses that are made
Immediately accessible te the customer. We recognize revenue ralably over the term of the
scitware subscription contract for the unspecilied sofbwane products, as ouwr performance cbligation
% b Hland ready 10 deliver such preducts on g wien-and-il-available basis.

Softwane suppcr revenus ig yically recopnized based on Time elansad 300 thus ratably over the
lermi of the supper arangement. Under cur slandandized support services, ol perormance
obligation & to stand ready o provide technical product suppart and unspecified updates, upgrades,
and enhancements on a when-and-availatle basis. Cur customers simultanecusty neoehne and
consume the benefits of these suppor sendoes as we perform.

Sendor revenue s typically recognized over time. Where we stand ready Lo provide the service (such
8% pocess (o leaming conlent) we recopni 7 revenue Dased on ime elapsed and thug ratably over the
sefvice peried, Convsummlion-based servioes (such as separately identifizble consulling senvices and
premivem support services and classroom training senvices) are recopnized over time as the senices
ane utilizes, typically following the percentage-of completion metnad or ratably, We apply judgment in
delermining whether a sendce quatifies as a stand-ready senvice or as a consumpltion-based senvice,
Revenue lor combined pedormance obligaticns is recopnized aver Lhe longest period of all promises
inthe comiined perfarmance obliaticn.

Judgment is also requined in determining whether revenue is 1o be recognized at @ poind in time or
aver time. For performance cblgations satislied ower Lime, we need 10 meagune progness using the
method that best reflects SAPs performance. When using cost Incurred as a measure of progress for
FECOPRIZIAY FEVEnUE Sver IMe we apply [udpment in estimating the tolal oot (o satisly the
pedormance obligation

All ol the jucigments and estimates menticned sbove can signilicantly impact the timing and amaunt ef
revenue o be recopnizec,

Contract Balances

We recognize rade receivables for performance ciligations satisfied ower lime gradually as the
perfcrmance obdigation is satisfed and in full once the iwoice s duwe. Juggment is reguired in
determining whether a right o consicderation is unconditional and thas gualifies as a recenable,
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Contradt labilities primarily reflect invoices due or peyments received in adwance of revenue
recopnition,

Typically, we invaice fees for on-premise slandard software on conlract clesure and software delivery.
Periodic fxed fees for cloud subscription services, softwarne support senvices, and other mulll-period
agreemenis are ypically invoioed yearly or guarterly in advance, Such fee peepayments account for
the majority of our contract Habiity balance, Fees based on actual ransaction volumes for cioud
subsoriplions and lees champed for non-periodical servioes are iwoiced as the services are delivered,
While poyment terms and conditions vary by contract type o region, our terms typically requine
payment within 30 1o 60 days.

Geographic Information

The amounis for revenue by reglan in the following lables are based on ihe location of customers. The
regions in the foliowing tabie are EMEA (Europe, Middie East and Africa), Americas (North America and
Latin Americal and AR {Asla Pacilic Japan).

Total Revenue by Region
Eritlars 024 a3 Foired
Cuirpredey £3589 LEFS 4465
et ol EMES, E02I6 5083 EE
EMEA 13575 14,004 12909
Linite] Siies L1056 ] wra
;tﬂ_d;u:m i 2558 2837
AT icas 13,808 12763 1227
M 1368 1243 178
Rt ol AP A0 il g 3166
ARJ 4,793 4441 EI
M5AP Group 14176 11,207 20520
Major Revenue Classes by Region
Lo Forenmun et et Soltvepes Rirverus
ewiglong
X024 028 2023 st ] 2 ikl

EMEA L) fa41 4197 13534 120 11041
Arries g LE f8:4 4] 11067 a5 10456
AR} *377 131 1474 45{8 3437 3555
_.Hmtinq: 17,141 T3 EEd 11426 20E30 26974 3al

Remaining Performance Obligations

Amounts of a cuslomer conlract’s ransaction price that are allecated Lo the remaining perdormance
abligations represent contracted revenue that has not yet been recopnized. They Include amounts
recognized as contract labilities and amounts that are contracied but not el due.

The trensaction price allocated to performance cbllgations that were unsatisfied or partially
umsatished a3 ot December 31, 2024, was €784 bitlion (December 31, 202X €287 billlan), The orior-
year's figure was corrected to reflect an increase of €007 billion to include the tansaction price from
remium engagement conlracls previcusly classilied as having a terminationfor-comeenience-right
The transaction price theseol gllocated to cloud performance cbligations that were unsatisfied or
partally uasatisfied (iotal coed backlog) as al Decemier 31, 2024, was €633 bilion

(December 31, 2023 €44.3 billion}. The remaining amount mostly compeises obigations to provice
software suppon senvices. The vast majerly of saftware suppor contracts ane contracts i he renewal
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phase that typically have a one-year contract lerm, while cloud subscription contracts typically are
multipie-vegr contracks. The poartion of remainag perkormance obipations relatad (o Services conssts
al non-cancelable reverue from contracts lor projects with 2 predefined ouwlout and froen premium
engepements. Overall, approximately 409 of the total remaining perfarmance gbligations s expacted
1 b recagnized cver the nesd 12 months ollowing the respective balance sheet date.

The transactian prioe Alkocated 1o remaning perdormance abligations wanes pelyean renaring
pefiods, primarily doe 1o the recognition of revenue for performance obiigations culstanding at the
end of the prior year and the addition of new contracts within SAP's clowd, mainfenance, and senices
Iursiness Other contributing lactors include contract medifications, upsells, rencals, currency
exchange rate lluctuations, and prcing aciustrents.

The revenue recognized in fiscal year 2024 Tor contract renewals, new contracts, and contract
madificatans it preseatad on a pross boss in the followiap recanciistion of sutslandging oedormance
obligations This means that it is included as a positive entry under “Add renewals, now contracts and
madiicatans” 5ad 05 & negative eatry under *Less revenue recophized in 2024

Reconciliation of Remalning Performance Obligations

© bilions poare )
T 1oz 587
Ak rerewals, rew comtracts and o difications
- MRl e 108
Sorvices and cifess’ 51
Less eyt Fecognined in 200
l::lmu 171
[Te— 113
Leivnn 43
Aoquisicns and divestmenls’ 04
E 1231202 : e

A v gl y Comproes cuniney Ruciustionn oy gur v prd rard enance sonbiichy, price Rkpe i b cor mainderndnce Sonltists,
el ohenges 10 the rermbing perlormance obligations lor our soltwan congraals

T 2004 proyukdions sl divestreents Sgure refers o ihe soruislion of Wakhte

Performance Obligations Satisfied in Previous Years

Revenue recopnized in the reporting pericd for performance colgaticns satisfied in earler periods
was €73 millan (Decemiber 31, 2023 €78 millian), maily sesulling frem chanpes in estimates of
varabie considerations and changes in estimates related to percentape-of-completion-based
contracts,

Contract Balances

The lolowing lable presents the activilies mpadcting contract Uabilities balances during the year ended
December 31, 20040
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€ blllians a4
B uwmas - - [T
reyeases iesulling feom Diling and inoices becorring cue 132
Ceecrmases remiting from satistsdion of pedamranos obigation: =123
e ¢ <A . S Y i =
T razyz024 Bl

TR echaion (G e ple, the impast of fotegn Gumency tanslation s ininess conebirations,

The amownt of revenue recognized inthe reporting pericd that was incuded in the contract llabdity
batance at the bepinning of the reporting period was €47 billion (Decemiber 31, M2E €45 billlen)

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

(3 Accounting for Trade and Other Receivables

Depending cn the business model, we measure trade receivabies and contract assels from contrads
with custamers either al amortized cost, or at fair value through other comprehensive income (OC)
less expected credil losses. We account for expectod credit losses by recording an allowanoocn a
porticlc basis. We apoly the simplfied impairment apomach, On inflial measurement of the
fecehanles, we consider sl credil losses that ane expected Lo eceur dusing the Uketime of the
recehvables. We use a provision malrix to estimate these losses,

Additicnally, we recognize allowances for individual receivabies I there is cbjective evidence of credit
irmpairment,

Account Dalances ane writlen off efther partially or in full if we [udpe that the lkelinood of recovery is
nemaote.

For information aboul how the cefaull sk lor rade recevanles s analyzed and managed, now the
foss rates for the provision matrix ane determined, how credit impairment & determined and what our
ceiterin for write-offs are, see the section on credil sk in Note (E1)

In our Consclidated Income Statements, net gainsfosses from expected credit loss allowances are
included in Other operaling inoome/expense, nel. Gains/osses nom lonegn currency exchange rale
fluctuations are cluded in Other non-cperating incomefexpense, mot.

Determining our expected credit [oss allowance imvolves sgnificant juagment. In this judgment, we
primarily consider our historical experience with credil losses in the respective provision matrix risk
class and current data on overdue receiables. We cxpect thal our historical defaull rates represent a
reascnable approximation for future expected customer cefaults, Besides storical data, our
fudigment used in develoning (he DROVISIon malrx Considens neasonaiole and supporiabie karward-
looking information {for example, chanpes in country risk ratings, and Ruciuations in credit default
Swaps of the counlries inwhich our customens ae localed)

The assessment of whether a recevable s collectible involves the use of [udgment and requires us 1o
make assumplions about customer defauits that could change significantly.

By applying this judgment, we record an allowance lor a specilic customer when it is probable that a
credit loss has aocurred and the amcunt of the loss is reasonably estimable. Basing the exmpected
credit loss allowance for the remaining receivables primarily an our nistorical loss experience Ukewise
reguines judgment, as history may not be indicative of future development Also, including reasonable
and supportable forwanrd-logking infarmation i the loss rates of the expected credi loss allowance
requines judgment, as ey may nol provide a reliaile predictian lor future development.

249324

275/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

EEUY integrated Report 2024

Ta Gt Cormolidated Gioup il idated Finamnclal Adclithonal
Stakeholdenrs Managemert Repon Sistaments IFRS Information
Trade and Other Receivables
Hza Fiorx]
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Contract assets ane Included in Cther receivables inour Statements of Financial Position, Contract
assels as al December 31, 2024, were €441 milion (December 31, 2023 €307 millan)

Far mone infarmiation apout financial fisk, Row we Manage Credt sk, and celails of cur frache
recevaoles and contract assels allowances, see Note (E1Y

(A.3) capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

(#) Costs of Obtaining Customer Contracts

Capitali#ed costs from customer contracts are classified as Other non-financial assels in cur
Staterents of Finoncial Position,

The capitalized assels for the incremental costs of cbtaining a cusiomer contract consist of sales
commissions eamed by our sples lorce and pariners as well as amaunts paid 1o employeas with non-
sales roles when the payments meet the definition of being an intremental cost 1o obtain a contract
with & custarmer Judpment i reguired in determmining the ameants 1o be canialized, particalary where
the commissions ane based on cumulative targets and where commissions relate tomullinge
pedormance obiigations in'one customer contract. We capitalize such cumulative target commissions
foe all custormner cenlracts that count iewarnds the cumulative tangel bul only if nothing other than
abtaining customer comtracts can contribute to achlewing the curmulstive tarpet. Cormmissions fior
contracts wilh mulliohe performance obiigations ar for probable renewals thereol ane allocated 1o
these performance oblipations and probable renewals relative Lo the respective standalone selling
price,

Cur sales commission payments for customer contract renewais are typically not commensarate with
lhe commissions paid for new cenlracls. Thus, the commissions paid for renewabie new contracts also
relate o expected renewals of these contracts. Consequently, we amontize seles commissions paid for
new custamer conlracts on 3 straiphl-ine basis aver (he expected conlract [He including probable
contract renewals. Judpment is reguired in estimaling these confract Dves. In exercising this [udgment,
W consider OUF expectation sooul Tuture eanlrpet renewals whlch we evaluate peiocheally 1o conlirm
that the resulting amertization period properly reflects the expedied contract ife or if there are
potential indicators of impairment Commensurate payments are omartized over the contract term o
wiich they relate.

The amotization pencas aage ram 18 months 1o Seven years depending aathe type of olferag,
Amortization of the capilalired oosts of obtaining customer condracts is classilied mainly as sales and
marketing expense. We expense the incremenial cosis of ebiaining a custemer conltract as incurred if
wie expect 2n amortization pericd of one year or less,

(Z) Costs to Fulfill Customer Contracts

Capialized costs ncured o [ullill customer contracts mainly consist of direct costs for set-up and
implementation of cloud products and custom cloud cevelopment contracts as far as these costs ane
not in scope of other accounting standards than IFRS 15 These costs are amoriized afier completion
af the setup and mplementalion o the development, respectively, ona sraighl-ine basis over e
expecied e of the cloud subscription contract including expected renewals. For the life of the
conlrmct, we congider aur expectation aboul future contract renewals which we evaluate perodically
1o confirm that the resulling amorization pericd propery reflects Uee cipecled contract e The
amaortization perods range from five to seven yean depending on the type of olfering Iy sddition, the
capilalized costs include thind-pany license fees which are amortized gver the term of the third-party
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lloense contract. Judgment is requined in evaluating whether costs are direclly related 1o customer
contmcts 3 inestimating controct lves,

Amorlization of capitalized costs to lullill customer conlracts is incllded in the cost of cloud.

Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

mza Fatried
£l Hon- Hon
Curment P Totsl Cumert e Tolal
Capdtslived coot of aldainicy) = »
s oiteats 1,080 3221 4307 1040 2518 3,904
Capdtalized cost fo hulfill
e ] e 536 199 3 436
Capitslized confract cost 1358 3402 4243 1246 2154 4400
E ather nondnancial amets 2 kL] BEIT 2374 5T 5547
Capatalized corltact et - o ' -
5 % ool T Othew wcsin-linsecial L] - 73 L o 4
Amortization Expense
& mallicrr, 024 R
T T PR
CapRalizad cont o cbtanny customer <cruocts 1407 1000
Capitalized cost i hifill custamel conlrssls 418 ax

{A.4) Customer-Related Provisions

() Expected Contract Losses

Customer-reiated provisions mainly include expected contract Losses. We adjust these provisions as
furnes infermation pecomes svailable and 23 circumsiances change, Non-cument prenisians are
measured at the present value of their expected settlement amounts as al the reposting date.

The unil of acceunt for the identilication of potential onevous customer conlracls s based on the
cantract delinition of IFRS 15 including the contract combination guidance. The economic benecfits
consicered in the assessment compeise the Tulure Denefls we ane cireclly entithed 1o under the
contract as well as the anticipated future benefits that are the economic consegueence of the contract
il these benefits can be reliably determingd,

& Customer-Related Litigation and Claims

Cusiomes-related provisions also include obligations resulling from customer-related [igation and
claims We are currently confronted with varicus clalms and lepal proceedings, including claims that
relate o customens demanding ndemnification for proceedings inftiated againgl them Dased on their
use of SAF software, and cccasionally claims that relate o customers being dissatisfied with the
oroducts and seniees that we have getivered (o them The obligations ansing Irom customer-related
litigathon and claims comprise cases in which we indemnify our customers against liabilities arsing
from a claim that our products infringe a third party's patent, copyright, Lrade secret, or other
prooretary rghts.

Due 1o uncenainties reating o these mallers, provsons ane based on Lhe best information awilable
Significant judgment is required in the determination of whether and whien a provision is o be
recorded and what the appropriate amount for Suchn provision should pe Motably, judgment is
requined in the following areas:

- Determining whether an colpation exists
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— Determining the probability of cutilow of econcmic benefils
= Determining whether the amount of an cbligation i relianly estimable
- Estimating the amoum of the expendilure required Lo settie the present ocoligation

Al the end of each reporting pericd, we neassess the potlential coligations related to our pending
claime and litigation and adjust our respective provisions (o reflect the current best estimate, In
addition, we monior and evaluate new information that we receive after the end of the respective
reporting period, bul before the Consclidpled Financial Staterments are authorized Tor issue, 1o
determine whether this provides additional information regarding conditions that cdsted at the end of
the reporting period. Changes 1o the estimates and assumptions uncerlying our acoounting for lepal
contingences, and autoomes thal differ fram these estimates and assumotions, cowd reaguing maleral
adjustments to the carrying amounts of the respeclive provisions recarded and additiona] provisicns
The expected timing or amounts of any outlows of economic bencelits resulting ram these lawsails
and clalms are uncertain and not estimable, as they generally cepend on e curation of the legal
proceedings and settlement nepotialions reguired bo reselve the Egation and claims and the
unpredictanility of the cutcomes of legal disputes in several juriscictions.

Coatmgent liabilities exist in respect of custamerrelated litgation and claims for which no provisian
nas been recopnized. It 5 nol prcticrble to estmate the financial 'mpact of these contingent labilives
dupe to the uncertamties around these Lawsails and claims as outlined above.
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Section B - Employees

This section provides financial insights into cur emaloyee benelil arangements. i should be readin
conjuncticn with the compensation disclosures Tor key management personnel in Note (G5),

(B.1) Employee Headcount

The lallowing table provides an ovenview ol employee headoount, broken down by lunction and by
he regions EMEA (Eurone, Middie East, and Alvical, Americas (North America and Latin Amernica), and
AP {Asia Pacific Japan)

Employee Headcount by Region and Function
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Rl S@piviant w
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Mast ol the ermployees participating in the Companmy's valumany leave prograns are scheduled (o
eave SAP at the bepnning of 2025, For mone informaticn aboaut the transformation program and its
mpact an employes heacoount, see hole (B.6).

{B.2) Employee Benefits Expenses

Erilions 2024 Fat-k} Faerd
Sadanes ﬁlm- li‘a'.;l.i. -'.L3ﬂj“:'|
Socisl secusiy Eepannes 2:-0.'I 1815 L¥Ha
[T ———— I ey 2280 L4
;-hfsi@:{-q.mr;t".- } ‘!:3.5- 438 aar
rrrr.l':.fcel.;sldm e UL g _—1'.4&- Frkd ar.'
TiaTrireaicr: Lol 5 o sicie of neslaiuning plans e B4 aa
Employes beanefits sxponses 03278 169932 15,157

{B.3) Share-Based Payments

&) Accounting for Share-Based Payments
Classification in the Income Statements

Share-based payments cover eguily-settled and chsh-sellied davands Bsued (o our employees. The
respeclive expenses ane recognized as employee benefits and classifed in cur Consclidated Income
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Statements acconding (o the activities that the receiving employees perdorm. Accelerated share-based
noyrent expenses trippered by SAP's restructuring program are ciassillied as restruclusing expenses in
our Consolidated Income Statements and includied Tn the restructuring peovisions in our Statements of
Financial Position For more informaticn about SAFs translormation program, see Note (B6).

Valuation, Judgment, and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

We use certain assumptions in estimaling the fair values for pur share-based payments, Including
expected share price volatility and expected dividend ylelds. In addithon, the final number of
Performance Share Unets (PSUs) vesting also depends an the achievement of pedormance indicators.
Furthermore, the oayout for cash-gettled share unils depends on our shore prce an ine respective
vesting dates. Changes Lo these assumptions and oulcomes Uhat differ from these assumplions could
reguine mstenial aojustments io the carrying amount of the Fabilities we have recognized for these
share-based payments. The fair valse of the shane units granted undger the SAP Long Term Incentive
Program 2024 and 2020 (LTI 2024 and LTI 2020) s dependent on cur performance against the total
shareholser return (TSR} for NASDAQ- 100 companies, the volatiidy, and the expected cormelation
between the TSR of the KASDAD-100 companies and cur TSH.

Reganding lulure payoul under our cash-settled plans, the SAP share price is the most relovant factor,
With respect bo our LTI 2024 and LI 2020, we beleve that future payout will be signficantly imoacted
not only by cur share price but also by the relative TSR performance against the NASDACH-100
companies. Fulure payouts under cur LTI 2024 and LTI 2020 will also be dependent on meeting non-
markel-based performance conditions based on SAP's long-term strategy, The Latler, however, is nol
incorporated into our fair value calculation but beads 1o adjustments of the quantity of awards granted.
Changes in these lactons could sipnificantly affect the estimated fair votues as calculated by the
valueation model, and the future payout.

Uncler Ine OWh SAP share purchase plan, we grant our employees discounts on shane purchases, As
those discounts are nol dependent on futune senioes to be provided by car employees, the discount
& recognized 2% 3 @oense when the discounts ane grantec

Presantation in the Statements of Cash Flows

We present the payments of our cash-settled share-bosed payment plans and our equity-setiied
share-based payment plans that ane [ulfled by share purchases at the markel separately inour
Staterents of Cash Flows under Cash Rows from operating acthities. As a result, the changes in Other
assels and n Ofher labitities presented in e reconciliation of coerating cash flow 9o nol consicer
share-based payment-related assets or labilties. Payments of cash-setlied share-based paymenis
Iripgered Dy SAPS restructuring program ae included in the restruciuring oayments.

The cperating expense ine ltems in our income stalemenits Include the Tellowing share-bosed
Daymenl CODenses!

Share-Based Payment Expenses by Functional Area
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Additionally, SAP also recognized €309 million (7023 €0 million} in accelerated share-based payment
expenses trigpered oy SAP's translormalion orogram. These share-odsed oayment expenses are
classified a5 restruciuring expenses in cur consclidated income statemenis. For mone information
apout SAFs restructuing program, see hNote (B.6).

254384

280/393

EDINETOOOO



EDINETOOOO

OOoDoOnogogodo(E24727)
ooogodo
Integrated Report 2024
Ta Gur Coraplidated Gioup Conualldated Financlal Adanisns
Stakeholders Managemert Repon Stataments IFRS Information

Our major share-based paymenl plans ame descriibed below
a) Equity-Settled share-Based Payments
Equity-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move)

Ta retain and enpage execulives and certain employees, we grant share unts under Move thal we
intend to precominantly settle in shares. For more information aocat the lerms and conditicns of the
cashsellied Move pian, see section b) Cash-Settled Share Based Payments in thvs Note (B3

Ditferent vesting schedwes aoply to specific share units. Granted share units will west in different
iranches mainly as follows:

— Restricted Stock Units [RSUs) with service condition oniy
Crer a hall-year period,
Ower athresyear period on a guanerly basts after a wailing perdod of s montis, or

= Perfermance Share Linds (PSUS) wilh sendce condilion and upcn achieving certain key
perdormance indicators (KPis)

Crver athrec-year poriod on a guarierly basis alter a wailing perod of 12 manths.

The numiper of PSUS that will vest under the gifferent ranches i menly continpent upon achisvement
ol twa equally weighted KPIs in the year of grant Operating prafit {non-IFRS al constant cumencics)
and Cloud revense (31 constant curencies), Depending o the weighted sverape pedformance, the
number of PSUs westing mnpges between 09% and 200% of the number initially granted. Performance
apalnst the KM target was 134.5% in 2024 (2023 112.4%)

W intend o settle the shane units classified as equity-selblied by reissuing reasuny shares upon
vasting (lar mare information, see Note (E5T)

The wvaluation was based on the following parameters and assumptions:

Fair Value and Parameaters Used at Grant Date in 2024

g " Wave
#5124 Toarche)
Wotghheo inerage o value o5 ol grant dale 17509
Intarmation how fal value was measured 31 gracd date
" Valuation mocel used Cinay!
.qul:d Tags M e 170D
Wesghted Mﬂewrdl:ﬁnm yiedd {n %) 13
qummmwesummﬁ-mﬂ Ly

' For these m re——— ml:uulr.-dlrr :..ﬂ'l-cﬂng upemdl.mmclddud:. ek ITII_:"EI'H‘E rl.-spedM: R ———
il s i 0 o e eetolarmend dete

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Grant Date in 2023

Wave
. (2022 Taarche)
leuvﬂuuvuﬂdue 11133
hered Tale value wis 81 grard date

\'MnﬂTmT‘:ﬂ e by’
Wisghted average share prics 15425
_'l“-"""llﬂ atags st ciisien vield (in ) 17
WWWHWW#!»]H clahe (i piars) 87

1 r'l:!'ﬁi; Mrﬂi_h! T vt B eﬂwumhmm et ad b Bt (8 Pty o N deigeiit frvid Briat I e

g dhade gice: s ol dhe reewremiont dels
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Changes in Outstanding Awards
Wove
TR, LT Oy g ke [A0E2-2024 Tranches)
1272002022 1150
Gt 15,060
AdpsAment bated on KFY Laget actievemment 11%
Ewsiriaes ~TBTS
Forflled ~&G
Change in settlsment? 471
1303002033 1680
Garted” B
Adpstment based on P target achkevement 151
Extoioed =101%3%
Frif e =392
Change in sefilament” =114
1273002024 12192

T e have changeed B o malficalicen o some s undls granded under the Loge planosith he el il enion bo setlle in shenes feor egquity-
S e S SR Rogansa & canbs datfor B grodabd i, o paticaton st 10 B it naturing peogram. Sr qoits with switchisd
cleadlication are constered imthe rumber of grRted shade units

The weighted average share price for awards exercised in 2024 was €197.14 (2023 €130.59) The
wesphied average remaining Ufe of awards autstanding as at December 31, 2024, was 0.9 years
(December 31, 2023 1.1 years)

Own SAP Plan (Own)

Under the share purchase plan Own, employees have the coportunty o purchase, cn a monthly basls,
SAP shares withoul any required helding period. The imvesiment per each eligiole employes is Limied
1o a percentage of the respective employee’s monthly base salary, SAP matches Lhe employes
imeestment by 40% and adas a subsigy of €20 per manth for non-execuives. To recopnize the
empiayees’ contribulion to SAP's success in 2024, SAFs contribulion was temporarily increased from
A% o 1007 from October 1o December 2024, This plan is not open to memibers of the Executive

Board.

Numbers of Shares Purchased

Hlidors ria 2033 0FF
(e F 85 02

As a resull of Owm, we hawe commiiments to grant SAP shanes to employees. We have fulfilled and
intend 1o continge 1o meet These cemmitmants (hrough an agent who admnistens the eauily-setiled
programs and purchases shares on the open markel The fair vatue at grant date is determined based
an the guerape share price of 19690 (2023 £124.20)

Equity-Settled WalkMe Awards Replacing Pre-Acquisition WalkMe Awards
{WalkMe Rights)

In conjunction with the acouisition of WalkMe in 2024, under the terms of the acguisition agreement,
SAP exchanged uvested equity-seltled Restricled Share Units (RSUS) and Performance Share Units
{FaUs) held by employees of WalkMe into eguity-settled share-based payment awards of SAP
(Walkhe Rights) The Walkbe Rights closely minos the temms of the replaced awands excent (st

- They are settled in SAP American Depesiary Receipts (ADRs)

- The memioer of cutstancing units were adjusted based on the mtio derived from SAPs
consiceration per share (L5514.00) chvided by the averape clesing price of the SAP ADHS aver the
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10 treding days ending on the third trading day prior o the closing date (US5215.89), resalting inan
Eguity Awaed Exchange Ratic of Q0648

There were 0.3 millicn unvested RSUs and PSLUs on the closing date of the WalkMe acquisition,
representing a koir value of £42 millicn after consigerning expected fodeitures dependent an grant
dates and remaining vesting periods. O the tolal fair value, €18 million was allocated Lo censideration
translered, whils £24 million was aliocated (o luure serices 1o be proviced, Postacausiion
compensation expenses will be recopnired as the awards vest over the remainder of the original
veslng terme,

The Frst westing cocurmed on Movember 20, 2024, with the remaining WalkMe Righls vesting over a
nedod of 4.2 years from the closing date.

©On December 31, 2024, the unreccgnized expense reiated o Walkhle Rights was €17 millicn after
consicerng expected fareilures and will De recoprrzed aver 3 remaining vesting period of up o

39 years
Recognized Expense
il Toza k] facrrs
Wi (002 - 2024 Tranches) L0 137 e
fe ] 343 ] T
Walke Fights g NA L1y
14075

Total 1501 1414

b) Cash-Settled Share-Based Payments

Cash-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move] Including Grow SAP Plan

We also grant share wnits in certain circamsiances anter Mowve representing a contingent right o
feceve 3 cash payment tnal is delermined by the SAP share price and [ne numiber of shane units that
ultimately vest For more information about the terms and conditions of the eguity-seliled kMaove plan,
see sectian o) Bouly-Seltled Snare-Baged Payments in this Nete (B3],

Fram 2020 to 2023, we granied share units under the Grow SAP Plan thal we intend to setie in cash.
Thig fed term plan has broaaly e same lerms and conditions as Move and recognizes all
empoyees’ commitment o 54F's success, and deepens their participation In our future company
peAormance,

Ditferent vesiing schedules apply to specific share units. Granted share units under he respective
plans will vest in different tranches, mainly as foliows:

- Resiricied Stock Units (RSLs) with service condition enly
= Owera hall-year period,
= Oned 3 three-yeds peiod on banual basi,
= Ohier 3 three-year penod on g Quanterdy Dasis aller a wailing period of six montns, or

Perfarmanoe Shane Lnis (PSUS) with senice condilion and upon achieving certan key
performance indicalors (KPis)

o Chver 3 Inee-yeas Derod, o
®  Owertathres-year perfod ona guaderdy basis alter a waiting perdod of 12 manths

The murmiser af PSLS that will vest wader the cifferent ranches = mamily cantingent upen achiswement
of two equally weighted KPIs in the year of grant operating profit (non-IFRS al constant currencies) and
cloud revenue (3t constant curencies) Depending on the wesghted average nerkormance, the mumiper
of PEUs vesting ranges between 0% and 200% of the numbser initially granted. Perfermance against the
KM tarpet was 1385% in 2024 (2023 112.4%, 2002 B4.3%)
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The shane units classifed as cash-settled are paid out in cash upon vesting,

SAP Long-Term Incentive Program 2020 and 2024 (LTI 2020 and LTI 2024)

The LTI 2024 and LTI 2020 a%e lonpterm, mulliyear pedormance-pased elements of our Executive
Board compensalion thal are granted in annual ranches, The LT 2024 and LTI 2020 reflect SAP'S long-
tesrmn sirateqy and thus set uniform incentives to achieve key tarpets from the lang-term strateqic plans.
The LTI 2024 and LT 2020 ai50 sene 1o rewand Lhe Executive Board memibers lor long-Lerm SAP shang
price pedormance as compared bo Lhe maret, thus ensuring that shareholders' interests ase also
nonaned, In addition, the LTI 2024 and LTI 2020 include 8 comoonent b ensure lang-term refention of
our Execulive Board members,

The LTI 2024 and LT 2020 ane virual share programs undger which annual tranches with 2 term of
appraximately four years each ane granted. When the individual tranches are granted, & certain grant
amaunt soecilfied in the Execulive Board memier's senvoe contract is comverted into virtual shares
{share unts) For this purpose, the grant amount is divided oy the SAP share price, which comesponds
lor the LTI 2020 1o the average of the SAF share prce an the 20 Fading days and for the LT 2024 to the
average of the SAP share price on the 10 trading days after scheduled publication of the peeliminary
resulls for the financial year (grast orice). The share units allocated are compesed for the LTI 2024 of
50°% Fiancial Performance Share Uinits (Financial PSUS), 30% Market Performance Snane Units
{Mascet PSUS) and 20% ESG Pedormance Share Units (ESG PSUS), and kar the LTI 2020 of 173
Financial Pedomance Shere Units (Financisl PSUS), 1/3 Market Performance Shane Uinits (Market
PELz) and 173 Retention Share Units, All tyoes of share unils hine 3 vesting oernad of sporaximately
fceur years. In contrast to Retention Shane Units, Financial PSUs, Market PSUs, and ESG PSUs are
subject io chanpes [n murmiber. In this context, the following apnlies:

The nimiper ol Financial PSUs initlally ewarded is multipled by 2 pedormance factor. The performance
facior consmsls of (hved incividusl perdormance indicalens relating 1o the three non-IFRS KPIS 8t
constant currencies, derived from SAP's long-term strategy, which for the LTI 2024 are! cloud revenee,
seltware lcenses and support & services revenue, and operating prolit, and lar the LTI 2020 clowd
revveniue, botal revenue, and operating profit. The performance pericd throughout which the target
achievement for these theee KPIs s measured starts of the bepinning of the financial year In whichi the:
Financial PSUs ane swarded and concludes upon the end of the second year fodlowing the year in
wiich the share unils wene awarded. A numerical tarpet valee egualing 100% tarpet achievement is set
for each KPL This constitutes, in each case. 8 curmulalive value lor (e three years af the perfarmance

ennol
20
Cloded eevenie

E Soltware lcenses and support & senices revenue

15 1
:
E
:

% i L 1% 110 120 130°%
Perlormancs coemidor

The ramiber of Markel PSUS initially awarded is mullipied by a performance Tactar, The perfarmance
lactor gepends an the amount of the TSR on SAP share, measured for anentire perdormance period of
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approwimately three years, and ranked in relaticn to the TSR perfermance of the companies in the

NAS - 100 ingex (Index), T the TSR for the SAP shore eguals the median, the pedormance acior will
e L0 Howaewer, iT the TSR for the SAP share over the peformance period is negative, the maximum
performance factor will, In deviation from the summany goove, be 1.0

2,0
1.5
1.0

05

Perfarmance lactor

0,0
P35 Mesdinn P75

The rumiper of ESG PSUs intially swarded = multiplied by 2 pedermance lactor, The padormance
Tactor consisls of two ingivigual performance indicators relating ta the two noenfinancial KPS, cerived
from SA1s long-term strateqry, which ares Climate performance: net zeno 2030, and Diversity: Women in
Executive Roles The pedormance penad threaghoul which the targel achisverment lor hese two KPS
s measuned starls at the beginning of the financial year in which the ESG PSLis are awarded and
conciudes upon the end of the second year following (he year inwhvich (e Share wils wene Jwandes,
Anumerical target value equaling 1009 tarpet achievement is set for each KPP, This constilutes, in each
cage, o cumulative value for (e three yeans of the pedormance period,

20
Climate performance: Met zero 2030

. 15 Diversity: Wamen in Exdcutive Rales |
3
]
4]
E 10 1
E 05 - L

op - - -

0% B0% D0 100%: 110% 120%

Pedormance carrdor

The perfarmance of the shane uils s [nded 1o the perlermance of the 5AP share price, including
dividend payments, Accordingly, an amount 5 pald ouw for each share unil that eguats the then-current
SAP snane price plus the dividends debursed in respect of an SAP share in the perod ftam the
beginming of the year in which the share units were awarded wntil the end of the thind year following the
yiear B wiilch the shane units wene swoarced The Jverape SAP share price for the LTI 2024 an the

10 trading days and for the LTI 2020 on the 20 reding days alter scheduled puolication of the
preliminary resulls for the financlel year determines the payout price. The payoul amaount per shane
unil, including the dividend amaounts due on the share unils, s capped at 200% of the granl price The
tranche is cash-settled and paid in eurcs after the Annual General Meeting of Sharehoiters of the

COMESDONIng wear,
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IF an Executive Board memiber's servioe condract is terminated before the end of the third year
foiiowing e year in which the share unils wene prasted, the shane units are forfeited in whoke orin part,
depending on the arcumstances inwhich the memioer resigns from office or the senioe contracl s
tesrminated,

Thie valuation was based on the Icllpmng paramelers and assumptions:

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2024

LT 20048 [Nl e Rlonn
L, Lt s Ot stad o {2024 Tranche) [N:;;Jif: mrf:;cﬁis;.
Walghted aversge falr valoe as 8 137502004 ot s | 2316 23481
s cermi o R Lo Wikl WS Msasiired S0 i asanen enl dils
uababnnmd usec Morte Calo Monte Caro Other*
 share mu: 23630 Za600 I3
Ew:ﬂvnlnﬁr[h *l ] 2wz oA
Exprected chident yleld fin %) A A P
Witkghied avarsge rmalning e of sasids cotianding s at a2 1w 08
1273142024 (im years}

*rof vt awadh, the 1 vilue B esloul sted by slbtiaating eepected ot dividench, § g untl catutly of e nsgesthes dwand liom the
g shae e & Al e mtarenent dele

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2023

LT 2030 Moy

A, und sy ol s et 1HR0=-2023 (H20=-202]

Trarches) Tranches)

Welghted aversge feir vales as ot 1373072023 15424 13788
Infasrmatian how Tair valun win dat il date

Wahaation moos usec Morte Calo Ciher*

Shane peic 1T4s R

EWH"@'H‘I)‘W‘M HE foa) MA

Exprected chdend e fin %) i 182

Welghtad T & e of swards outstanding a5 at 12312023 (in years) 18 -5}

T Forthese awts, the tokviue b cl nuiaed by sulbiracting eapecied it dhidench, i any, oalil nuutrn;rér;p;;h;;;;m;n:e-
ek dhare price @ o e resanomel dete

For the LTI 2020 veluaticn, the expecied wolatilty of the NASDAG-100 companies of 31% (2023: 34%

1o 36%). and the expected corelation ol SAP and the NASDAD- 100 campanies of 16% 16 21%

(2023 24% 10 279%) are based on historical TSR data Tor SAP and the NASDAG-100 companies. For the

L1 2024 valuation, the expecied volatiily of ive NASDAS-100 companies of 34%, and the expected

carmelation of 5P and the NASDAQ-100 companies of 25%, are based on historical TSR data for SAP

amd the NASDAG-100 compantes. The WASDAD-100 Total Return Index on Decemiber 31, 2024, was

USE25376.22 (2023 USSA0158.47),

The SaP dividend yeld is based en expecied luiue dividends

Changes in Outstanding Awards

" LR Mt
TRourGerl, L= e o AL 12004 Trinihe) [eEt-alEs 4201 -0
Tranches) Tranches)

taEte: HA ) i1
Gratedt A P 1,900
S o oy 57

" Eemvcieed A ) BTy
Fertrdes! A -a o0
Charge In setllement! Ha " 42
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127112023 na 603 872
Camted! 120 (1} x|
ld.hﬂlm:ﬂ!bu:ﬂmmﬂh,pﬂadllnﬂnem b i =
[ o ¥ —£m
Fereed 37 =Td =4
Change in sefllmment* HA A Liad
1273002024 &1 504 2200
Total camying smount (in € millions) of labiRies asat
taraies MA L ] =5
LXFILI0R 7 o 43
Total inteirsic value of vested swards @6 © miblions) as at
LHTLS 0T HA i5 o
1 ILA0RY 2 57 o
‘Walghted averspe share price {in ©) for swards exercised in
2083 MA A AT
Firr !} Hik ITLIE pri RS
Tetal axpenss (in € millions) mecognized in
2082 A L} 345
2024 ? Y 720

e have clisnged B of i ificalion of savme sl unds gronted under the Move plon willile il inbesdion s efle hoabaees om eqully-
S o Soh iR i batauie o cenbs oo Bt prodhabl e i particlar dos (ot didnahreg program

Share-Based Payment Balances
2024 Ficra]

ewiglons

Currant  Ron-Cument Toaal Coment MorCuren Tolal
Share-based payment
Usbilities 03 151 A5% 555 152 Ty
B by o finarcial 5
b = e e . -
Shawe-Busn payment
Nabiities a5 % of 3& Catbey -l 0 s 10 e 11

neean-firrecial labslinies.

{B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

& Defined Contribution Plans

Amounts for domestic and foreign defined contribution plans are based on a percentage of the:
ermployees’ salanes of on e amount of ceatribulions macde by empleyees. In Germany S Some
other countries, we make contributions to pubtc pension schemes that are operated by naticnal or
local government or similar institutions. Expenses for such local stale pension plans are recognized as
shor-lerm employee benelits, that is, socal securily expenses

287/393
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&) Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The discount rates used in measuring cur post-employment peneht assets and liaoilities are derived
from ates available on high-guality conpoate bonds and government bonas for which the Uiming and
amounts of payments match the timing and the amounts of our projected pension payments. Net
intenest expense and other eopenses related lo cefined benelit plans are frecognined as emplayes
bencdils expenses and classlied inour Consolidaled Income Statements according 10 the activities
that the employees owning the awards perdicrm, Since our domestic defined benelit pension plans
primarily condit of an emnloves- finanoed post-retinerment plan that iz fully Franced with gualitying
insurance policies, current senvioe cost may become a credit as a result of adjusting the defned
benefit lablily's camying amount to ihe fair welue of the qualitying plan assets. Such adjusimenis are
recorded in service cost. Total expenses on defined benefil pension plans compvise related current
and past service costs as well as interest income and expense.

Total Expense of Pension Plans

Enitlra 024 073 077

Delived] contalbuion plans Bh 3 4%

Dl Dol pensan plans -] &7 Fr )

P S50 S o a3 430 FT
Defined Benefit Plans

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO) and the Fair Value of the Plan Assets
Ctttr Festirign Pl -

t Mo Drom-tic Pl Fedeign Plans e Bans Tota
024 T 24 Hry et 23 2024 S
Present valus of the DUO 2,204 1m0 iz -] o8 ot 2241 2000
Fair walus of the plen eisels 1209 LBET T ETF 124 s 2040 LE33
Bt dhadined benafit Bability [asset)’ 1] b &1 B 161 15 22 )
theneoi; Mol defined benei asset o 148 -A7 =1 -3 -19 -7
P chefined bersil Bsbiilty o ] T4 L] 162 21 21 301
gt el baratt amet o % of F Soncert o B o b o 1 &
bt fnsrcial assets ;
et chefined bepeft Babdty as % of B Moo curent = g & 3 E 3
oo g 16 1 - L1 ] 2]
| Ao e effocts of e asset celing,

Of the present value of the DBS of cur domestic plans, £1,150 million (2025 €1,006 milion) relate to
olans thal provide for lmp-sum payments nol Dased onlinal salany; of the present value of the DBO
of our fereign plans, €597 million (0F3 €535 million) relate o plans that provide for annuity payments
et Dased on final splary,

The tolicwing significant welghied average assumplions wene usad for the actuarial valuation of our
domestic and foneipn pension liabilities aswell as other post-empioyment benefit obligations as at the
respeclive measuement date!

262344
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Significant Actuarial Assumptions
Ciher Fonegn Posd-
i Doanestic Plans Fareign Mang Eerpl Platss
Foxd o] 207 Iozd e ] FAFF) 2024 ekl i
CRonard rofe 34 35 a3 15 Frxl il 53 53 25

The serithily analysis tabale below Shows how the present value of a4l defined benelt coligations
wiould have been influenced by reascnaloly possiole changes to sgnificant actuarial assumptions. The
sensitivity analysis considers change in discount rate assumptions, holding all ather actuarial

assumplions constant
Sensitivity Analysis
Cither Feemign Posl-
— Domestic Pans Forogn Mare ETE'_E!‘["_“E_"‘” Tolal
ot ] ] ] 034 R 0az 024 e ] Max x4 v e 5]
Present valus of ol defined
benafit obligations &
Dlsmunl_ "‘““ S bitia FET T o] 718 B4a 508 i 247 e 2137 1811 1,016
Ditcount rale was 50 bask
I 1258 el 53 i s 562 vy 268 23 2340 2208 Lra
Investments in Plan Assets
Our investment stategy on comestic benefit plans is to invest 8.l contributions in stable insurance

poliches.

Cur invesiment strategies for foreign benefit plans vary according to the conditions in the country in
whnch e respechive benafil plans sre siuated, We have adeoled 3 long-term investment horizan lof
2\l major foreipn beneflit plans. Althowgh our polcy is to invest in a risk-cversified porfolo consisting of
2 mix of assets, bath the defined benefil cbiigation and plan assets can flucteale aver time, which
exposes the Group 1o actuanial and market vestment) risks. Depending on the statulary
reguitements in each country, it mighl be necessary to reduce any underdunding by acdition of lgu'd

assels.
Plan Asset Allocation
0 L
oelilond Guoted inan ot Qustedinan  Custecinan et Gustes in an
Acthve Market Acthen Maroet  Adive Maked Active Rarked
Tetal plan ssets 08 1338 T4 1120
Theieck Amet calegory
Eeadty Wvesimerts 0 [ 160 o
Corporate bonds 240 Q =3 5
it on ot 10 137 ] 1330

Our expected contribution i 2025 to our domestic and foreign delined benelit pension plans ks
immaterial The weighted duration of aur defined benelit plans amounted to 10 years a5 al
December 31, 2004 and F0Z3,

Total future benefit payments from our defined benefil plans as at December 31, 2024, are expeded
1o bve €£2.803 million (F023 €2.707 million) Of this armaunt, 73% (2023 76%) have matwities of over five
years, and 8% (2023 55%) relate to demestic plans.
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{B.5) o©Other Employee-Related Obligations
() Accounting Policy

As [ar as the obligation for long-lerm employes benelits is secured by pledged reinsurance coverage, il
is ofsat with the relating plan asset.

Other Employee-Related Liabilities

2024 A0

Emillorm . .
Current Kor-Curment Totsl Currenl  Mon-Cumen Tolal

Dther smployes-relsted lshitties 4708 nan 4006 1308 45 781
T ciber rond inarcial Babilities L k] Ty By SE4Y -] B.h
Gl derpuruma-wtl Rl 75 & 7 74 b =

a5 % of B Sthes non-finsrcial

Other employee-related liabilites mainly relate o obiigations Irom Donuses and Sales commissions,
autstanding vacation, time credils accumulated in the working fime account, employee-related soclal
Securly Expentes and celemed comperdation labillies,

(B.6) Restructuring
=) Recognition of Restructuring Provisions
We ooty recognize provisions for restructuring if and when the lctowing occurs:

= SAP has desipgned a program thal materialty changes the scope of one of our busiwesses or the
manner in which the business = conducted, and

= A cetailed and documented restraciuring plan nes been apnoved by our Executive Board, &
memiper thereol, or a dinedt report of an Executive Board member, and

- The program estatished is planned (o star shortly alter the program man is aporoved and is
expedied o be completed in a timelframe that makes significant changes Lo the plan unlikety, and

= The program has been announced Lo the parties affecled or has commenced,

We consider whether a change in business s material besed on the business affected rather than for
SAP a3 a whole. In judging whether a unil quallies a5 a Dusiness for reslrucluring Durposes, we
congicer if the unil has s owh Mmanspement legm, has Scoess 1o Bl inpuls and DIOcesses Hecesaary 1o
provide cutpats, and generates or could genemate revenues. The malerality of a change to a business
is assessed based on both ihe size and the nature of the chanpe ond therelore does not necessarily
invoive a material guantitative impact an our financial statements.

Restructuring Expenses

Lo 024 2 A
Enipite Selat o (AU Sgerae -4 22} -85
e e T T R e = i &8
et ing el wnpanient o ) =i
Ml Restructuring expenses ~3144 =215 -138

In 2004, SAP increased (15 focus on key strategic growih areas. (n pasticular business AL It s
translorming s operational selup Lo capture Srganizational synergies and Al-driven efficiencies, and Lo
orepare the Company ko highly scalable Tlure revenue growth, To this end, as aanounded in

Januarny A0k, SAR s executing 8 Company-wide restructuring program which will conclude inearly
2025, The I'Hnl"xl'.‘.ll.ll"iﬂﬂ DAOFran was sel up 1o ensure (Rl SAP'S skillsel and resgurces cantinee o
meet Tubure business needs, and affects arcund 10,000 posilions. a majorily of which have been
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covered by voluntary leave programs and intemal re-skilling measures. Most of the employees
oarticippling in veluniany leave proprams are scheduied 1o lepve SAP a1 the beginning of 2025,
Reflecting re-imestments inlo stralegic rowth areas and the acquisition of WalkMe, SAP's headoount
wis slightly higher at year end 2024 than ol year end 2023,

Ovesall expenses associaled with the program are estimated Lo be appreximately €32 billon.
Restructuring expendes primasily incluce emoloyee-related Denelils Such 35 Sevennce paymenls and
accelemted share-based payment expenses igpered by the transiormation program (for more
infarmatian about the recopnition and measwement of share-based payment programs, see Note
(B33 The restructuring cosls presented in 2024 mainly include exopenses melaled to the 2024
transfocrmaticn program.

Restructuring payouls in 2024 amounted to €2.5 billion Further payouts of aoprxgmaltely €0.7 billion
aesocisted with the 2024 translormation crofram are expecied (o ooewr in 2005,

1ot presented separately in our income stalements, restructusing expenses would nave been
classified in the dilferent expense Lems in our income statements 35 follows:

Restructuring Expenses by Functional Area

Cisions 2 fless] flevF]
Crmohdgiat = 7 =
Coand of sotware literses and suppaolt -5 - -4
Cod of services ~500 ~31 -
Remsprarch and developonent -1197 —42 -18
Sales ancl makig =10l -in -58
::.:m.nl anel adminkstaation =158 =13 -4
aditestruciuning exponses =31484 =218 =138

For the movemant of the restrucluing provision in 2004, see the table below:

£ erillicre, Rastructuring Provisen
Lrz024 : 3T
Aciciion e
Lmiratiors ~1fi61
Tearshir bo ather enployeeselated chiligations -1.300
Teanshir b shobe-baged coneparition Gabdiy =11
Cumrescy effects -
127312024 [

The kalicwing tatle recanciles the utilization of the restructusing provision with the overall cash cutflow
related 1o restracuring:

il

LRiliratiors.

M careh (oves tire ooount
Carch-catficas of thade bared pogneents selaled 1o restuiueng in
Ernplioyees Lades payabde -
Net cash fows 2487

HH |

In 2024, employees paricipating in the early felirement plan in Germany as parl of the restructering
profram opted to convert termination benefits into credits 1o thelr working time acoounts, To protect
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against insclvency, SAP tansferred the ime acocound balance of €1.3 bilion 1o an insurance compary.
These obligations ane presented a5 ‘Other employee-related obligations’ (see Note (BS)), which are
netbed off against the Tair value of the plan assels (qualified fnsurance policy) The net balance of cash
flenwrs related to ime acceunts also Includes cash inficws from the insurance company as well as
nayouts 1o the employees from Inveir warking Ume acoouals relating te phor programs.

Thee 2CEENS 10 the restrociuding provisions include accelemnted share-Dased Dayment expenses, The
tming of expense recognition s acoelemted cue te the shortened vesting perod. The accelerated
share-based payment exnenses are trongferred to Shive-baged payment liabilities" lor payvout Cogh
autfiows ol share-based payments thal are triggered oy the restrucluning program include paymenis
due 1o the aocelesated vesting and due to the conversion of share sattlemant to cash settlement.
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Section C = Financial Results

This section provides insight intc the financal resulls of SAP's reportaible segments and of SAP overall
a5 far a5 not already covered Dy previous sections This Includes, out s not Uimited to, sepment resulls,
incame taxes, and eamings per share,

{C.1) Results of Segment

General Information

Al year end 2024, SAPhad one operating segrmenl We conclsded inthe second guarter of 2024 that
BAPis a holistically steered cloud company with a cohesive predud porlelic and commercialization
af product bundles (such as RISE with SAP and GROW with SAP),

Thie segmend information far 2024 and the comparative Drior Dencds wene restated o confarm with
thie new segment composition

&1 Segment Reporting Policles

Our manapement reporting system produces reports that present information about our business
actlivilies in a variety ol ways - for examole, oy line of business, peography, and aneas of responsioility of
individual Beard members. Based on hese repors, the Executive Board, which is respensiole for
assessing the perdormance of our Company and lor making resource allocation decsions as our Cuief
Openating Decision Maker (CODM), evaluates business activities based on several cifferent resulls.
Hewsever, aperating results of SAP are reviewed on 2 Group level oy the CODM 23 a whole,

There are no paris of cur Company thet gualily as seperate operating segments, nd our Executive
Board assesses the Fnancial perdormance of our Company on a consolidated basis

Our manapement reporting systern praduces a vanely of reperts that differ due o the currency
exchange rales used inthe accounting for foreign-currency tansadicns and coemations, where both
actual and constant currency Aumbers are reported 1o and used by cur CODM, Reporns based on
aclual cumencies use The same cumency rales that are used @ our nancial stalements, wheneas
reports based on constant-curmency repont revendes and expenses use the average exchange rates
from the previous Year's corresnandng penod.,

We use an operating profit ingicaler 1o measure the perlomance of cur operating segments. The
acocunting policies applied in the measurement of operating segment expenses and profit differ as
fedlows from the IFRS accounting principles used 1o determine the operating profit measwre In our
income statements:

The expeense measenes ooclude;

- Acquisiticn-related charpes such as amortization expense and imparment charges for intanpioles
acnuired in business comibinations, ncluding geodwill impairment charges, and certain standalone
souisiions of iIntetiectus) property (incluting purchased in-process research and development)
as well 25 settlements of pre-exdsting business nelationships in conaeclion with a business
combpination, and acguisition-related third-pary expenses

- Restructuring expenses
- Regulalory compliance matier expenses
Informaticn about assets and Habiities is not repuisrly provided to cur CODM.
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Results of Segment
024 vl HE
o At Cinstarg Actual Constan Aol
Currency  Cumency® Clmenoy Cumengy’ Qumi;::l_
Clensl N 1 R o R [
Softevare loerses 13558 Lanh 1808 2055
Solfei Sppeon 11280 11343 rar 11909
Soltwnte Boenses and suppor 12083 12143 13%md 13305
Dloud and solfwane HE30 55 i i ul
SeTviceT &340 4358
Total sagenent revenue MATE 14,310
T ot of cloud Zagaz 4547
Cotl of softeid liconsd and tuppot =162 - Ll
Cont ol clotd and sofftware —AEeE ~Ga58
Costolsenices T Ga | -amm
_THRLECI R ISreen Y __=8ass  -G167
mom st nwe s
o T BT DR S C S =0, e ]
Sagment profis BL53 B3z E7B1 &A4T
Ty 2024 exaivind cummensy mTionis m iy coempaiille 19 JF3 actul comney amcwnts; X0 consling LTy amiands a ol
cmparabie bo X003 actusl oamency mmounks

The expenses for cepreciation ant amaortization decreased 9% (976 at constant currencies), fram
€1.034 million in 2003 1o €940 millicn in 2024,

For mane information aboul the disapgregation of revenues, see Kote (A1)

{C.2) Reconciliation of Segment Measures to the Consolidated

Income Statements
2024 b 2002
Entsiors Actusl  Constert Aot Gorstant Actial
Currency  CL y'  Qumency  Cunercy’  Cuamency
Tiotal Supm &t revenus 34176 34310 IL T frdrenl 20520
ARG o8 S ency v it ] -1% o 526 v
T p— aare mams a2y 3207 zsa
Total segmesnt profit 8153 232 6514 78 GA47
Adhatmant fod cupency impict ] -7 o w7 o
Aciprtmert (o
Arcusgion-nelsled chaiges =350 =350 3 =345 ~395
M Bty 144 =TT -5 -5 -138
Regusbary compliarce matie expenses 11 11 -15% -15% 1]
soparmiegprom 2565 4565 578 5198 5al4
il CAhi ner-cp sting rcomolespense, petl - =3 =3 =3 =11
Pl wesne, el g3 = -an -311 -106
_ﬁmmuumwmmm secuies, o = N e aa
ol Pyt bafore tax 4764 4,764 531 5341 4513
Vit 2024 Siwnlnl commndy pndunls e oy corparali 19 3050 actul curmeney arcunts, X0 constiond cumeney amcals am only
ommgarabie bo 2003 aclusl ousmency amounks.
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{€.3) other Non-Operating Income/Expense, Net
I.-'lﬁ-w Fie) Fair] Fierd
Fateign cuarency mmrgm-‘lmxm 248 L] -164
Irﬂmrhmlrmﬂﬂusﬂ.llhval.ﬂrmlir p:nflu'1m o5 543 o]
|mwr;m{|rmm£;|:;mwm 300 114 43
|mrhmwmmamumuw|mmm.n — -514 1
hereal troan financil labd e ot amonized cos 34 =30 =317
T T S p—— T s 11 =
Wicellaneous ncensipense, el 5 —45 Rk ]
298 | =11

-ﬂm— muhmwmm =

Dt ta o d'nvq-,n npiuull:lm o g.lhs P a———— Mmrﬂmsl‘,ﬂu dionnlin e operationg, 8 loas of €13 milkn
Foa 2004, @ ema ol 12 milllion Ror 2073, and & g of €176 milllion dor 2022 are presnbed under Ottt nosn-opereling nosme'opene islesd
ol Ofhe’ opesaling noore eoperas, Tl

The movemant in ather nan-cperating Income/expense is mainly driven by caanges in foreign
CxChange rales

{c.4) Financial Income, Net

o i, 0 2033 el

Finance income: 1420 sy 811
el inbetrst ncodng fiom finaral frenets st ametized cost = e i
IPev ool wtetest ndadng Ron linaesisl irigels o Fan valug Uwogh profic a1 & &
o haes
Ihmrnalm hnlrn Fl\.mddm‘l:.ul- valuﬂhmqhmnﬂal Ims (-] 30 B0a

ﬁ1m nm' =1,031 =1.313 =200
IHWTHHHWHMIMHWH i oitiped oo 318 -6 =153
e Baynsed P firgrodsl et o Rair vaboe thicugh proft of loa? =318 —H¥5 - 1808
el mtesest egeerde feane firancisl Bbles of Lar vabes Pnough T AriE &
ol o loss

.HFhmdﬂ ncome, net L =4%6 =1389

1 o yuh.m'nut q)dd:bd

Financial Income, net, increased by €853 millien in 2024, in comparison to 2023, madnly due ta higher
niet gains from the fair valuation of our equity investments (€606 million).

{€.5) Income Taxes

iZ) Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

W are subject to changing tax Laws in multiple jurisdictions within the countries inwhich we cperate,
Our ordinary Dusiness activities also include ransactions whene the uitimate lax culcome is uncertain
due to different interpretations of tax laws, such as those involving transler pricing and intercompany
transactions between SAR Group entites. In addition, twe amount of income txes we pay [s penerally
subiect 1o enpgoing aucils by comeslic and foreign tax autharilies. In determining our woricwide
income tex provisions, judgment s invelved in assessing whether o consider each uncertain tax
treatment separately o topether with one or mare otver uncertain lax restments and whether (o
refied the respective elfect of uncerlainty based on the mosl [kely amount or the expecied value. In
aoplying these jucgments, we consider the nature and the individual facts and circumatances of each
uncertain tax freatment as well as the speciics of the respective jurisdiction, including applicable tax
s and ow interpretation thereol

The assessment whether a delerred lax asset is impaired requires jucdgment, as we need to estimate
futre taxable profits to determine whether the wiilization of the debermed tax assel is probabie. In
evaluating our aoility to ulilize our deferred lax assels, we consider all aveflable positive and negative
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evidence, including the level of historical taxable income and projections for fulure taxable ncome
over the perinds in which the delermed Lax assels are recoverable, Qur judpment regarding futune
tlaxable income is based on assumplions abcat fulure markel conditions and fulue profits of SAP,

SAP has apoled the mandatory exception to recognizing and oisclosing intormation about gelemed
lax assets and Uabilities related ia the global minimum tax

Juddprment is aiso required in evalusting whether interest o penallies related 1o income laxes meel the
definiticn of income taxes, and, If nol, whether it is of inancial nature. In this judgment, we parficulady
consicer applicabe local tax Laws and intenretations on IFRS oy national stanciard sefiers i the area
of group financial reparting,

Tax Expense by Geographic Location

& ki 2024 E e
CuInnent tan exp T

Geary ] 540 L]
Fesl gt 1528 1356 1165
Total currant Lax axpenis 1,034 10523 1,704
Dol e 1 @XpEnsa/inGore

Geamray &7 74 26
e =3 -z 3
Total delarred tax ncoma -320 -1k ~250
M Totalincoma tax sxpense 1624 174 148
Major Components of Tax Expense

Eamians 2024 FLE e
Current tax expensa/income

T oo fox carverd yo T s L
Tams e pried yoors &3 17 13
Tobsl CRrmant tak svpars 1534 1as3 1,704
Dataradtax sxparsa)

Dirigination and rever=al ol lempsany ditheeroes —258 e rrl Eral
L:ur.edmhmumuﬁ-;!mteﬂuunmm Ioregn ba coeoits =07 11 = ]
Total ceferred Loy ncome =320 =rll =50
sl Total income tax expense tem iy 14a8
Profit Before Tax by Geographic Location

G fraerd] 2023 Ficrrl
ey im 121 Le1s
Foren SRz ALRD 2000
Ml Total 4784 5341 4513

Thie kallowing tatle recanciles Lhe expected incame lax EXpense, compubed by apsying cur
combined German tax rale of 26.7% (F003 26.5%; 2027 26.4%), to the actual Income tax expense. Our
2024 comizned German Lax rate includes a corparate inoarme 2 rate of 120% (2023 1505

22 15.0%%), plus a sciidanity surcharge of 5.5% (2023 5.5%; 2022 55%) thereon, and frade taxes of
108% (2023, 10,79 2022 10.6%)
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Relationship Between Tax Expense and Profit Before Tax
 ritians, urtess offwrwine siabed crd ] ez
ol Prodit bt tax from continuing operations 4764 5,341 4513
I;m::;mm‘“ G 12% 1ALe 143
Tas efbect of:
Fermign tactles <3 e -4
Men-decuctishe experses 35 Ml 138
T serepd noome =i =77 7
Wilhbaolching Raes A T ]
Resaarch s developinent tnd Inreign i oredils -1 -3 -
Price- ol 1100 -7 -& i
mmﬁmum;:umm uu::? = il B
" e a 3 -0
2 Total income tax expense 1534 Lra1 1446
ERfactios i rate (in %} 333 326 320
Components of Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
s pavrl ] 023
Dasfenred (o assats
FaangRile atsts 1320 1004
Froperty, plank, ancl eoulpment = o)
Lisaset k31 w
Db francial aesels! [ BE
Tencie and other reoekabies? ] Ei
Cbsee - financial pesets & il
Prrsion penvisians s o
Shaen Dosee CoRpENEEEN 313 7
Caradt liabilties’ ) 3
Tance anct aiber parobles T am s
Firancial labiities® 138 184
s mon-finandial lishilties! Bt 875
Proisione’ 107 b4
Het cpesatlng loss carmyloramds® 316 154
Ressarch and cevelopment ard fomgn b aedits & a4
Total datarrid tix daaets {gross) FT T 4201
Hetling =213 -3004
& Totel deferred tax assets (nat) 1ETE 2147
Daferred tax sbiRios
rRangiie amsets HE S L55
Prcapity, plant, ard e w ai
Leases® 3% 4
PSS —— EY 199
Tancie and ater eecehalie: El 135
T —" ™= T
Perslon peemvisions 3 33
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T!'l'.\l'l.-_I:esn'l'.ml comprEtion’ 5 B
Contract liabities' 2 ip
Tanche and oiher payables! & aF
Franciol lablmies ' = 191
ﬂ_lﬂ_rmﬂnuﬂll lisbititie=! 17 1
Pycraisicnns’ ] i
T«mh;- R = _.”_u;_
4 Totsl deterred tax lLabilities (et} s £
! Price-period comparatie: emounts bove beon sdioded for o more rans parenk ond defslled o o thes v of

efermed Tax Assets ond Lisbiies in lne with pus Coneoldeted Salorvents of Prancia Posllion, without effzcling et omounts For mere
wiloortion abxoul fariher sdirtments of prioe-penod compernaie srwunls, see Nole (515

Movement of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Eaisons FaeF ] "Ry d
TOuNT G ot woets () ity B eginniogf o w Eerod - S Lok e
Charge in tens of the conrslidated incame datements 0 1 .t
Charge in oo of the consclidsed ssements o compaehonsbs income - £ -3
Charge im Reers of the consohdated staterments of changesin eguity 155 53 ]
Tharge in consolidated corepanies =2 =128 Le
Diber changes (ircludes mairky cuntercy trarsdsticn ciferences) i ) - o
Total defarrad tax assets (nad) at the and of ihe period 2461 1930 1854

Items Not Resulting in a Deferred Tax Asset

Ervision otk ] 20e3 IR

U rmrisd R {od s

Nl kg 0 281 s
Expting i the foliowing year ) P T
Espolirg aited 1 iolizving vou n: b i

Total unused ax leases 87 208 &3
Deductibile tamporary diferences 75 375 318

_Ll'_llﬂll‘.l research and devstopment and ioreign tax credis

Ty — a1 £ s
Explting afted the iolizwing year & 5 0
Totalummed tnxcredits. 4 & 20

Of the unused tax losses, €146 million (2023 €181 million; 202% €276 million) relate to US. state tax
hoss corryferwards.

In 204, SAR Growp entites that suffered a tax (oss ineither the current or the preceding period
recopnized celemed tax a55e1s amounting [0 €494 million (2023 €90 milien; 2022 €17 milion} in
exness of defered 1ax Uablites. The tax loss mainly results Trom restructuring expenses, and it is
oroioa e that sufficient future tlaxaiole profitwill be available 1o allow the benefit of the gelered tax
assels to be utilzed

We have not recognised 2 delerred lax Dability on approimately €1957 billlon (2023 €215 billion)
lowr undistributed profits of our subsiciaries, because we ane ina position to contral the timing of the

2T2raa
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reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that such differences will nol reverse In e
foreseeatie futune,

Income Tax-Related Litigation

We are subject Lo ONRoing tax sudits by domestic and Torsign tax authoriles. Currently, we ane i
dispute with the German and foreign tax authorities. The disputes atmeaost exclusively penain o
deductiblity of intercamipany royally payrments, intercampany services, and other payments. In ail
cases, we cxpect that a favorable cutcome can only be achieved through litigation. For all of these
matters, we have nol recorded a provisiaon ps we believe that the tax authorities” claimsg have no mert
and that no adjustment is warmanted, I contrary 1o cur view, e Lax autharilies were 1o prevail intheir
angumeents before the couwrt, we would expect to have an additicns! expense of aoproxmately
£1.250 million (2023 £1.815 milion} intotal (including related intenesl expenses and penailies of
€716 million (2023 €1,003 millonl).

{C.6) Earningsper Share

s, s e SEe] 2024 i i)
Fr—
Prodit sitvibndable 1o ecuily holdes of SA9 SE b 838 i
Prodit sitebwilsble 10 scpity holders of SAP SE! ki ke | 238
Fesing patinaey shares® e 12 L33
EHedt of freasury thanes? ] -1 ]
Witihted avmage shafes ouldanoing basic’ 1160 1167 11
Cluthve mllect 2l shale-based papTeeres” 13 1 5
WelgHed avoage shares out=stanging, diuted” 1180 im0 11786
& per share. hasic able to equity holders of SAP SE
268 m 280
i €] browm coralniing opadations
;T;rp per share, basic, attributable (o equity holders of SAP SE e o i
Earnings per share, diluted, attril b b muity 1 of SAP SE
[ ) from continuing operstions. 258 208 H
:‘Twmmm SHFIEAREELE Lo agquity holdin of SAP SE 288 520 104
'-Hl.:.tr;mlh.kqmmmihmd operalices. -
* it Of 4 hanes i rallioon
273
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Section D - Invested Capital

This section hightights our non-current assets inciuding imestments that form the basis of our
aperaling activities. Additions o imvested capital incluce separale assel acquislions or business
combinations. Further, we disciose information absout purchase obdgations and capial contributions.

{D.1) Business Combinations and Divestitures

(2 Measuring Non-Controlling Interests and Allocation of Consideration
Transferred

We gecide for each business combination whether 1o rmeasure the non-controlling intenest In the
goouires ot faér value or 3t the properionate share of the scguiree’s identifianle net assels.

‘We classify cosis related o executing business combinations as peneral and admin'stration expense.

In our accounting for business combinations, judgment is required in determining whether an
intanpiole assed is identifable and whether i should be recorded separately from goocwil,
Additicnally, estimating the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assels acguired and labilities
assumed invoives considerable judgment. The necessary measuremeants are based on information
available on the acquisition dale and ane based on expectations and assumplions thal hawe been
deemed reasonable by manapgement. These judpments, estimates, and assumpdions can materially
affect our financial pesilion and profil lor several reasons, including the feliowing

~ Fair values assigned o assels subject o depreciation and amertization affect the amounts of
depreciation and amaertization o be recorded inoperaling profit in the periods Tollowing the
acquisition

= Suipsequent nepative changes in the estimated lair values of assets may resuit in agditional
expense from impairment charpes

= Supsequent changes in the estimated ki values of Gabilities and provisons may resaait in acditional
copense (i increasing the estimated fair value) of additional income (f decreasing the estimated lair
vaiue)

We acouire businesses in specific areas of strategic interest to us, particulady 1o broaden cur Droduct
o sendoe portlolo,

2024 Acquisitions

WalkMe Acquisition

On June 5, 2024, SAP anncunced [is intent Lo acquire 100% of the shares of Walkhe Ltd, (“Walkhie*L a
eacer in Dighal Agootion Platlorms (DAP) The transacton closed on Seplember 12, 2024, folicwing.
satisfaction of regulatcry and other approvals, Walkhe's shares were delisted after meeting all relevant
crileria on September 12, 2024

The acouisition is expected to help SAP expand s business transformation portficlic. WalkMe's

selulions are designed o heln companies nivigate eogonp lechnalegical change Dy Droviei ng users
with advanced guidance and automalion capabillties.

 mllicrs

Ll i L7
Replacement shane-based paymnert sy s a1
Call expticr mmictuy lakelity H
Total corsidesation tsmsterred ")
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The censideration translerred amounted to US514 bilion. (E1.3 billion) and the majority was paid in
<agh. SAP hedped this cash amount wilh respect to kareign curmncy rsks. The replacerment of share-
based payment awards figure relates (o the earned portion of unvested Walkbe equity-setiled share-
based payment awards. Upoa acouisition, SAP exchanged these awargs held oy empioyees of
Walkie for either deferred Fxed cash compensation or equity-seflled share-based payment awands of
SAP (poth collectively referred as replacement awards) For more information about the terms and
cancitians al tne WalkMe Rights, see Note (B.3).
The laliowing [able summarizes the values of igentifiable assets poguired and labiities assumed In
connection with the acquisition of Walkhe, a5 al the acquisition date!
€ prlizres
el sty
Cacth and cash souivaleris
Ciher kientillabie assts
Tetal iderifatie assets
Cither idertiflabie lsbuities

B|H|R|E

Total ideriiflabie labilites.
Laastedll
Total conslderation tranitunmed

55513%

Thie inftial acoounting for the WalkMe business combination is incomplete because wa ane sl
aiotaning the information necessary to identily and measune itlems such as tax-related assels and
liabiities of WalkiMe. Accardingly, the amaounts recegnized in our financial statements for these flems
ane reparded as provisional as at Decemiber 31, 2024

in general, the goodwil adsing from our acouisitions consists largely of the synergies and the know-

nowr and sxiils of the acouired businesses warkforces. WalkMe poocwill was atfricuted o expected

synergies Irom the acauisition, particularly in the following areas:

= Evolution of SAFs strategy 1o imorove adention, Trough a Walkhée salution [nal empowers
comganies to enfance the ulilization of their Saa8 systems, increase employee and end-user
oroductivity, and reduce training and sunoort cosis.

- Cross-selling of Walkhe producis to exsiing SAP cusiomers across all regions, enabling seamless
wiorkflow execulion across business soltwarne appications

- Irprdved user cxoerence and user preductvily by coupling WalkMe's Al capabilities wih SAP's
copilot boue, driving adoption of existing SAP scluticns

- Creation of new business pracess infelipence efferings by combining WalkMe progucts and SAP
oroducts

— Improved profitability in \Walkhe sales and operaticns.

The operating resulls and the assets and Labitiies are reflecied in our consolidated financial
statements starting September 12, 2024,

Impact of Business Combinations on Our Financial Statements

The armows of revenue and profit or loss of the Walkbde businesses acguned in 2024 since the
acquisition date ave included in the 2024 consolidated income stalements as loliows:

C el #ad Contrbntion o

s Repaited Walkhe
e AT 61
it aftor e 3150 ~47

Had Walkhe been consoldated as at January 1, 2024, our estimated pro lorma revenue kor the
reporting peried weuld have Deen £34.328 million and pralorma pealit after tax wauld have been
£3050 million.
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These pro forma numbers hawve been prepared for comparative purposes cnly. The pro forma revenue
2 peodil numibers ane nol necessarily indicative of the resuils of operations that would have actually
oooured had the acquisiion been efect at the beginning of Lhe respective periods o« of futare
resulis.

2023 Acqjuisitions

LeaniX Acquisition

On Septemiber 7, 2023, SAF anncunced s fabent 1o acque 100% of the shares of Leant GmibH
{"Leanld”), a leacer in enterprise architeciure manapement (EAN) software.

The acguisition closed on November 7, 2073, follcwing satisfaction of customary closing conditions
and regulalony aporovals; the operating resulis and The assels and labiites ae rellected in our
Consclidated Finandial Statements starling on that cate.

Consideration translered amounted Lo €1,231 million paid in cash, The following table surmmarizes the
valwes of identifiaine assets acguired and Labllities assumed in connecticn with the acquisition of
Leant, a5 a1 e acquishion date:

LeanlX Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

€ williove
:Junﬂ:lem&‘s 470
Al iderNlable scsete 108
:rﬂllw.lm LS
T — 20
Total KeriMabie Uabilites
Total kerifables net assets a2
Gecawl B9
Total consleration transtared 1231

In the Towrth quarter of 2024, measarement of tax-related assets and Uablities for the LeaniX business.
combingtion acoounting was completed aad reguited in €8 million sdjusted to the Other identifiable
assets/labilities coening balance and Gooowill

In general, the poocwil adsing lrom our acauisilions cansisls largely of the synegies and Lhe know-
now and skills of the acguired businesses workforoes.

Leanls goocwill was attribuled bo expected synergies from tve acguisition, parbicdarty in the koliowing
aens

- Cross-selling to existing SAP customers across all regions, using SAF's sales coganization
- Creation of new ciferings by combining Leanly praducts and 5AP products

- Enhanced tansliormation capabiities of SAP Signavio solutions, gving SAP cuslomers unique clarity
cn the IT landscapes. they need te reap the tull benefit of business trensformation

The allocation of the gocdwill resulting rom the Leanl¥ acquisition te our operating segmenls
depends on now cur coerating segments actually benefit from the synergies of the LeanlX business
combinatien. Far more infermation, see Note (D24

Impact of the Business Combinatien on Our Financial Statements

The amawnis of revenue and prafil or loss of the Leand) business acquined in 2023 since the
acquisition date were incluced in cur Consclidgated Income Statements for 2023 as follows
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F v Cortebatisn of
el a5 Reporied Leanii
iy s %
Sl Prodit aftor tax 5264 -8

Had LeanlX been consolidated as at January 1, 2023, our revenue and profit after tax for 2023 would
nol have been materially different,

2023 Divestitures

GQualtrics Disposal

On March 13, 2023, resulting from a process thatl was initiated on January 26, 2023, SAP anmounced It
nad apreed tosell allof s 423 milion shases of Qualics Intermational ke 25 part of the acquisitien of
Qualtrics oy Tunds affiliated with Silver Lake as well as the Canada Pension Plan ivwestment Board, The
sale closed on June 28, 2023, foliowing satislacticn of custamary closing conditions and regulslony
anprovals, Al a porchase price of USS18.15 in cash per share, SAPs stake was acquined Tor
appromately LSS/ T bilfon To secure the euno countenvalue of the LSS,/ bilion purchase price, we
nedped an amaunt of USST1 billion by entering inte 3 deal contingent forwand soplysng mel
imvestment hedge accounding, For more Information, see Nobe (F13 At the time that Gueitrics was
clasailied o3 3 discontiaued operation (follawing IFRS B} (hehe wis mo iioataon of an impairment (3
the fair value less cost of disposal (calculated based on share prices) sgnficantly cxoeeded the
carrying amount).

SAPIs a close go-to-market and technotogy partner Tor Quaitrics.

SAPs financal resuils present Qualtrics as a discontinued coeraticn as reguired under IFRS 5. The
Qualtrics disoesal groun was previsusly included in the Quaitrics reporable segment,

The pre-tae dispossd gain included in discontinwed operations (€3,562 milllon)was calculated oy
adjusting the purchase price less the cost of disposal (7003 milion] lor net assets leaving the

EAP Group (5800 milon, consisting mostly of poccwill (£4,007 million) and cther inlangiole assels
{€1.294 mid o)), the carmespanding non-cantraling Interests (£2,337 million), and amaunts of cther
comprehensive income (E22 millicn) SAP incurred taxes amounting to €799 millicn in connection with
e transaction.

The cash inflow resulting from the purchase price (€7,068 million) was offset by cash and cash
couvelems af €713 million leaving the SAP Groun,

SAP continues Lo Deovicke rental puarantees lor centain alfices used by Qualics. Quallrics is abligated
1o indeminify SAP with respect lo the guarantecs.

Additianal linancial infermation relating 1o Qualtrics &5 presented in the lollowing tabies (revenues and
expenses are presented after consolidation of transactions between Queltrics and SAP's continuing

aperalions)

o reiige, prise oferwha plalagd ] X
c 4 58

Chizeitd i E21 L
Total revers 745 1351
Cosd of choud -t 208
Tl oo al neverwe —Hﬂ_ -A55
TeAul cxpeerating] enpetrsies (Inchusfing bodnl ot ol (evens) -1.1568 -2
-[:i:pdsdjdulbdml-ur 502 ]
Oopestating peclt 3452 =LA
Prodit (Reres) befone bax 1167 =1AFT
[ —— -738 o
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Proiit (Borse) et b 2363 -_1,3_5
At b dabile 16 cremers o porenl 2505 -84
Einirings pried thaste, brietics {IFRSS, i €FF 215 il
Errangs psr shae, ciluded (IFRE, 1.2 =(hE5
‘Consolidated Statemars of Cash Flow
T Pr————— 122 =
hhel irveesting cach oy 5510 -3
Wet B cach flcw e e

3 2 €70 el el i 0 W i o S ol i e i ik
7 b 2003 e 208 e weighted avestage numbes of sheses, wars 1167 elllion |l utext 1,080 milion} anc 1170 eslllion (cilubed 1,175 million),
repisdively Insiiry Mook escluded)

Total operating expenses includes share-based payment expenses related o Qualtrics’ eguity-settled
pan el €403 milion in 2023 (E1.182 mitlion in 2022).

2022 Acquisitions

In 2022, we closed the acquisition of Taulia inc, San Francisco, California (LSA) ("Teuliaand of
INNAAS srl, Rome (Haly).

Taulia Acquisition

Or Jamvaary 27, 2022, SAP announced 45 intent to acguine 3 makarnly stake of Taulia, a leading provider
ol cloud-based working capital management sclutions (far SAPs current shareholding pecenlage. see
hate (GOY. The scquisition closed on Masch 9, 2002, fellowing satisfaction of cusiemary closing
conditions and regulalory aporovals, the operating resulls and the assets and Uabiites are feflected in
aur consclidated financal staterments starting on that cate.

Considesation translered amounted Lo €705 million
The taliowing laole summarizes the vaiues of identifable assels scguined and Uabiities assumed in
canneclicn with the acquisition of Taulia, as at the acau’sition date:
Taulia Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities
€ rilliors

rany e asety 67
Cahey icdentEiable aooeds 87
Total ideniEable assels

i
g
H
2 EElslzk

Prior to Decernber 31, 2022, we comibieted our acoounting assessment relating to the supply chain
fimancing (SCF) ransactions cilered by Taulia. Based on the setup of the compariments and series

wi thin which the SCF receivabies and labilities are silced, and on the related contrectual and Tounding
apreements, we concluced That we do el contral (e receivabines and lanlites resdlling from the SCF
activities under IFRS 10, Thus, we 0o not include the respective items in our balance sheet and 6o not
shcw casn Nows linked to the SCF ransactions in investingTinancing cash Fow

In 91 2023, measurement of taoc-related assets and Labilties for the Teulia business combination
acoounling was completed and resulted in €28 million adjustied 10 the Other dentfiable assels’
opening balance and Goodwill
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in peneral, the goodwil adsing from our acouisitions cons’sts largely of the synergies and the know-
oy and sxiils of the scouired businesses workloes.

Taulia goodwill was attribuled (o expeded synerges from the acquisition, particutarly in the lellowing
CIeEE

- Cross-selling to existing SAP customers across all regions, using SAF's sales organization

- Further expansion of SAP Business Metwork capabilties and strengthening of SAPs solutions for
the CFO elfice

- Creation of new cfferings by combining Taulia products and SAP progucts
= Impeéved prafitalility in Tawlia sales and operalions

The allocation of the poochwill resulting fram the Taulis scouisition to our coerating sepments depends
an fow our operating segments actuaily benelt from the synergies of the Taulla business comibanation

Impact of the Business Combination on Our Financial Statements

The amounts of revenue and profit or loss of the Taulia business acguined in 2022 since the acousition
date were mcleded i ow Consolidated Income Statements for 2022 a5 follows:

Taulla Acquisition: Impact on SAP's Financials

F 027 Contstwition of

koo A, P Tatdial
ol e AT 59
it amar tas 1,708 -38

oo conlirirg] and dihcilinged operations.

Had Taulia been consolidated as 8t January 1, A2, cur revenue and profit after tax for 2002 would
net have been materialy differe,

2022 Divestitures

On Auagust 17, 2022, S5AP ang Francisco Partners (FP}anncunced that FP had signed a definitive:
agreament with SAP America, Inc. under which FP woud scguire SAP Litrmos from SAR The ransaction
closed on December 1, 2022, following satisfaction of applicable regulatery and ather approvals

The dispoesal gata of €175 million is ncluded in OLher Aon-operaling ncome/eipense, nel

{D.2) Goodwill
&) Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Testing

The annuat pocthwill impairment lest is perlormed at the opeating segment leved, since thene are no
fower levels in SAP at which goodhwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

In general, the test is performed af the same time (at the beginning of the feurth quarter) far each
annual reporling perioc.

In making impairment assessments lor our goodwil and intangible assels, the culcome of these tests
ks highly dependent on management's assumplicns reganding future cash flow prosections and
COANGMIC rigks, Which reguine significant judgment and assumiptions atxout future develocoments. They
can be aflected by a variety of factars, including:

= Changes In business stalegy
= Intermal forecasts
- Estirmation af wephled-sverape cosl of eapital
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Changes Lo the assumplions underlying cur goodwill and intangible assels impairmeent assessments
could require materia] agjusiments Io the carrying amount of our recognized poociwill and intangibbe
assets as well 3s the amounits of impairment charges recopnized in profit o loss.

Changes In our segment structure result in the reallocation of goocdwill with the reallocated poochwill
Ipeing calculated based on relative values (il a direct aliocation is nol possiple).

Goodwill

£ imiora Goodwilll
Historical cost

10l e
Fﬂlnh;nmmq.- echarge diffeierces ;;-m
Acicitiors fom basines comisnstones Lt
Ptivenonssiepansls =4 008
wasvms 20184
Fereln cusrency echange difisences LA1S
AridRions from basine-ss oomibdnations E54
1270024 AT
Accumnulaied smortization

112023 10
Feaetgn cumency exchange diieirrs -1
:mm 1w
Forekgn cumency exchangs deferences 2
LArEleanad 105
Carrying amount

LarsanTs 20,001

In trez first haif of 2024, the Company undenwvent several chanpes in i segment structure. Starting in
the second guarier of 2024, the Comparny has a single cperaling sepment (a1 year end 2023, SAP had
five cperating segrments) and monitors its gooowill at this level For mone information about our
SeprmEnls and the changes in 2024, see Note (C1}

As the il acoountiag lor the WalkMe business eomiinatien is incamplete (for mose information, see
Note (D11, tve poccheill added be our single cocmating segment through the acouisition of Walkhle
{8654 million) s provisional

Goodwill iImpairment Test

Our agsesament of internal s extemal [zetors in 2024, including ) the change in seprmenl stracture
and o) reorganizalions which had no adverse offect, led us to conclude thal no tigpering events
GorurTed sinoe cur annual poschwll impadirment test in 2023 Thvauphaut 2024, we e - thicuph &
qualilative and quantitative analysis — boen conlinuously manitaring whether tripggering events exist,
‘We gid nal identity any aspects that quality as a trippering event that would cause the carrying amount
ol the single aperating segment 1o cxoeed Lhe recoveratle amaunt, On Cctober 1, 2024, we performed
a poocwil impairment test for the operating segment. Significant aualitative inputs used incur
irmpartment tesl include, but are not imited to, consideration of general macroeconomic conditions,
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industry markel conditicns, SAP's overall inancial performance, and movement in the SAP share price.
The primary guantitative inpul for cur impairment (et is SaFs madkel capdalization a3 ot the beginning
al the lousth guaner. We believe there is no reasonaboly plausble change in the SAP share price that
wiould cause the carndng amount of car single operating segment (o exceed the recoverable amount.

({D.3) Intangible Assets
(#) Recognition of Intangibles

‘Whereas in peneral, expenses for internally penerated intangibles are expensed as incurred,
development expenses incurmed on stancard-related customer develonment prosects (for wivich the
1AS 38 oiteria are mel cumalatively) are capilalized on a limiled scale with those amounts being
amartized over the estimated wseful e for thve majority of the proiects of fve to seven years.

Determining whether intemally generated intangible assets from develonment gualify for recognition

recures signilicont judgment, particuiaty m the fellowing antas

= Determining whedher aclivilies should be considered rescarch aclavities o development activities

= Determining whether the cenditions for recognizing an intenpiole asset anre mel reguies
assumplians Jooul fulare markel conditicns, cuslomer demand, and other developments.

- The term "lechnical leasibility” is not defined in IFRS, and therelore determining wheiher the
completon of an asset is technically feasiole requires judgment and a company-specfic apomach

- Determining the fuluse atility to use or sell the intangiole asset arsing rom 1he development and
the determination of the probability of future benefits from sate or use

= Determining whether a cost is directly or indirectly attributable to an intangiole asset and whether a
cost i3 necessary far completing a development

These jugpments impact the total amount of intangible agsets that we presant in cur balance shoet as

wiell as Lthe timing of recognizing development cxpenses in profil o loss,

() Measurement of Intangibles

All our purchased intanpiole assets other than pocowill have findte welul lves. They are initlally
measured al acauistion cost and subseguently amortized based on Ihe expected consumption of
econcmic benefits over thelr estimated useful lves aaging from bwo Lo 20 years,

Judgment is required In determining Uhe Tollowing:

= Thie useful e of anintangiole asset, 35 this is Dased on cur estimates regarding the period over
wiich ihe intangiole asset is expected to generate econcmic benefits Lo us

= The amostization methco, s IFRS reguires the straight-line methcd to be used unless we can
reliably determine Lhe patiem in wnich the asset’s lulure econemic benelits are expected to be
consumed by us

Both the amortization period and the amonization method hawe an impact on the amortization
expense that is recorded in each pericd,

(2 Classification of Intangibles

W classify intangiole assets accerding to thelr nature and use in ow cperations. Soltware and
database lcenses consist primarily of technoclogy for intemal use, wheveas acquined technology
consists prmarnly of purchased software [0 be incomamtled inle our product offerings. Custormer
relationships and cther intanginles consist primarly of customer relationships and acouired rademark
licenses.

Amortization expenses of intangible assels are classified as Cost of cloud, Cost of services, Research
and develooment, Sales and marketing, and General and administration, depending on the use of the
respective intangible assets
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Intangible Assets
Caztcamis
- Tomee i ey
ntangitde
Historical cost
LrLre0aa Lo57 537 15T Liuad
Feagige ma ey encharge diflmerees -1 -5 -3k -5t
Aggiricrr Hon banares) aanilinatcgs L Fri) i A
Dby ackiftians Frd 3 L) B
H-h:'r:;;p;ﬂs ~az2 -?'I_l‘ =237 =Eiod
Teansiers a 1} -a7 o
L2r3153023 1073 Lalo 4802 T4
Fneigrn currency exchange diflsiences 2 biu] FoH i
Aciiiitiore o basdres cosiduinaticrs o b o EE 500
Oty ackdiftions Fal k| [} B
Rl i LR sl =l =R =4 -5
Tear=fers 1 1] - (1]
':mum L3 1. 106 8221 [ SER]
Accesmbilated amortization
L0y haa dnay agdl EA06
Fetgn ourency eechange difierences =1 =57 =118 =170
gt Rions amartization 146 i ] L
Retinements cnpasals - 477 137 157
12530 584 1504 3im 5279
Foretgn exchange difl 2 m i8] 42
Agkiitions mvoiinalion 1m " 53 41
Ftirermon wdEposals ] =320 =11 =865
1373102034 L pEE 3334 5437
Cairylig dindaint
IW;LTEEM 470 35 101 1508
127 a0de g 50 Loy L0686
Significant Intangible Assets
Coyg Avcart  Remaining
i, urims ke taled Lbseful Lile
024 I nyews
Conour - Osstomen relatiorehipr (=] HEH Bl i
WalkVe - Customed retslionships 2al a 14
ok - Acpiend tednalogy 183 L] 7
Total sigrificant intangibie assets 1302 13
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{D.4) Property,Plant, and Equipment
) Depreciation of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Propey, plant, and equipment are typically depreciated using the straight-line method. Judgment is
requined in estimating the useful e of the ssets. [n this assessment we congider, among ofhers, our
history with similar assels and curenl and Tulure changes in lechnolopy

Useful Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Enildings Preclominanity 75 ba 50 years
Leased dssets and beasehold e paovoments Based on the term ol the lease contrad
infoneation lechnolagy eoulpreent 2 b by
Oifior hurilure o bg A veary
Autcerobiles & bo & ooty
Property, Plant, and Equipment
ke
Oither Arhranoe
Langd @nd Propeny,
" Lot e i Propery, PaEninns i
iy ngings mrq: Pl i Ea'f'-"‘:_‘: Constmtion Tetal
3 Equipsnent q "ME In Piogress
L EL2003 1430 L 154 ] bLr] 4276
133002024 1501 1391 13T EE 156 4403
e
1arahd ot na {u] 470 a2 L] a10
1273042024 &7 321 40 ] o1 1,138

The additions (other than from business combinations) relate primarily o the replacement and
purchase of information technology ecuipment and (he canstraction and leasing of bulgings and data
centers, The increase in additions is primarily related e reniswals of leased buldings. For mone
infarmation abcut leases, see Note (D15)
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{D.5) Leases

i#) Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Under IFRS 16, a contract is or contains a lease if the contract comeys the fgnt 1o control the wse of an
toentdied asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. As a legsee, SAP recopnizes a right-
alarse assel representing s rghl 16 use the underlying assel and a lease Uabiily representing ils
ablipation 1o make lease payments. The rignt-ol-use assets are depreciated on a straight-tne basis ang
interest expense is recopnized on the lease liabilities. The vast majority of our leases consist of facility
and data center leages. Payments for shart-term and low-value leases are expensed over (he lease
term Bdension cptions are included in the lease term if their exercise s reascnably cerdain,

Leases in the Balance Sheet

Crvimons L2310 123023
Reighi-o 15 aeesapds - |t sl Budleings 1393 1320
Reighi-cd -1 e - cies piogeimty, plard, ancl expuipent L] 55

Total right-of-use msEts 1487 1375

& Mrepeity, planl, and ecuipenen AR 4AJ76

Right -ceumer arssets s % of & Paoperty, plant, ang ecuipemerd ] a2

Loasa lisbilites

Cuirmant [sasa Uabiiies 295 04

F currert finarciyl labdites 4373 1,735

Current IBase Hsbdties a8 % of T Cument fnarssial bt 7 a7

Hon-cuarent lease Babilities 1430 1227

I vaon-curent feancil labanies 1368 7941

Har-curent lease llabdities a5 % of T Norcoument linancsl Ksbilities o 11

Leases in the Income Statements

LB En 034 ik

Leazs sxparses within opersting profit
Dapeeation of fight -cf-use Sxsety w0 5

For mone infarmistion apoul rgnt-of-use assel adations, see Nate (D4), and for @ malurty analysis of
ease liabilites, see Nole (F1} For more information about the cash flow related to bease Fabilites, see
e "Recancilation of Liablites Arising from Financing Activilies™ lainle withia hote (E3),
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{D.6) Equity Investments
() Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Aswe co not designate financial assets as “at fair value through prafit or loss” we generally classily
Mimancial assets nto the foliowing calegores; al amortized cost (AC), at fair value through other
comprehensive inoome (FYOCT), and at fair value throuph peofit or loss (PVTPL), depending on the
contractual cash fiows of and our business maded for holding the respective aosel.

For equity securilies, a5 the cash llow characiesistics ane ctiher than solely principal and inberest, we
ke an imvestment-oy-investment decisionwhether 1o classily as FYTPL or FWOCL

The valuation of eguily securilies of privale companies reguires judgment because it is ypically based
an significant unobsenable inpuls, 23 no market prces are availaiie and there Is inherent lack of
liquidity.

Wie take the most recent gualilative and guantitative information aspects into consicention o
determine the lal volue estimates of these eguily securifies.

Considemble judpgment and assumplions are imeclved with regard to the selection of appropriate
comparable company data, the assessment of cash requirements of the buginess, the acceptancs of
the bechinclogy or produdts in the addnessaible markels, the actual and forecasted performance, the
milesicne achievements, the adequacy of price paints from inancing rounds, the transaction of simiar
securities of the same comparny, the rgnts and prefenrences of (e uncerying securilies, (he selection
of adequate egulty allocation parameters, the possible exit scenarios and associated weightings.
Because all of these assumptions could change significantly, and because valuation is inherently
uncertain, our estimated fair values may difler sipnificantly from the values that wouid have been used
nad markel prices ko the investments eiisted and that will ultimately be realized, and those
differences coutd be material

Gains/losses on equity securities 8l FVTPL include gains/tosses Irom fair value Huctuations, from
disposals a5 well a3 dividends, while paing/losses on equity securities a1 FWOCH only incluce dividends,
all of which are shown in Financial incesme, net Regular way purchases and sales ase recorded as al

the trade cale,

Eqjuity Investiments

Ermisons 2024 Hi2d

Hon- [
Current o Totsl  Curent Gt Tili

Eizulty secuaiing 0 BAL GADL O Ay 4867
Irvedreris o assocaies [1] 144 144 o 1 135
Equity Invesments. 0 ESMS  Gads b sue s
Cothser Firshpacial piseta 1B TAA1 RIID 234 SSAY AT
Eouidty investments as % o $0ther Snanciol asteds (<] a2 75 <] a2 57

Investments in Associates

SAP has interests i a number of individually immaterial associates. We cwn more than 200 of the
equlty interests or have al least 20% of the voting rights in these entilies. Based on these facts and the
nature of the relaticnships, SAP has determined that it has significant influence.

The ballowing teble shaws, in apprepate, the carmdng maunt and share of profit of these associates.

€ miloens 024 7023
Soryng apcyrtolimuratinacoun: : o 1%
Shaee ol profi and lostes Irsen corfimang spmion lx] =16

I'he vast majority of the carrying amount of inerest in associates relates to SAP Floneer GmioH,
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For a list of the names of other equity imvestments, see Note (GO}
Financial Commitments in Venture Capltal Funds
€ il 024 s
}mwhlqﬂhwﬂmmﬂllmhﬂmﬂ&kﬁl; f, 0

SAP iwests and holds interests in unrelated parties that manage imvestments i venture capital. On
December 31, 2024, total commitments 1o make sech investments ameunted ta €1,100 millon
(2023 £977 miltion), of which €833 millicn had been drawn (20232 €708 milion). By imsesting insuch
venlure capilal funds, we ane cxposed 10 thi riss inherent in Lhe business argas inwhich the enfities
operate. Gur maximum exposure to loss s the amount invested plus contactuelly committed future
Capilal contriouticons.

Maturities
1m0
€ rdlizeg
v estmeents in Verdure Capial Funds
0 L
Total 267

{D.7) Non-Current Assets by Region

The tabie belaw shaws Aon-curent d3sets exluging Mnancial instruments, deferred 1ax assets, post-
employmend benclft assets, and righls arising under insumanoe contrads.

Non-Current Assets by Region
e e | Ficret
Cerenary 4351 217
Rest ol EMER s he0
ror—— i Tl 2w
el Armericas 511 =y
Aucarias T g 28762
Fetin e 61
Foach ol AP ¥ L]
AR 1.3%6 LiM
SAP Gaoup azpm 30951

The increase in non-current assets inthe rest ol EMEA region is primarily due to the acgusition of
Walkhe, For more information. see Note (1) The increase in the United States region i primarily due
o farsign currency exchange differences for goodwill. For more information, see Mote {02

For a breakdown of cur employes headoount by region, see Mate (1) and for a breakdewn of
revenue by region, see higle (A1)
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{D.8) Purchase Obligations

witions 2024 Fork
N

Conacunl ohdigationsi o acoulsition of propety, plant, and eguipeert ard P 14

Oty puirchase obligations ke d 10377

Parchase chligations 259F 10,541

The contraciual cblgations for acauisition of property, plant, and equipment and intang e assels
felate primaedly ta the purchase of Aarcware. software, patents, alfice eguipment, sad vehicles, The
remaning cbligations relate mainly to clowd sendces, markeling, consulting, ma' nbenance, License
apreements, 00 other third-pany agreements The decrease s mainly due ta poyments made ko
cioud infrastrudure servioes, Histarically, the majority of such purchase coligations have been realizeo.

Maturities
1230
fanisons
Purchase Obligations
Do 2005 ?.3_'”3
[ E ot ekt | BEG
Costr Bl ey 119
Total B502

{(D.9) Income-Related Government Grants

(Z) Recognition of Income-Related Government Grants

We recegnine income-related povenmment grants as a reguction of the related expense in the peédodin
wiich the expense |5 ncured,

Al the end of 2023 we received a grant from the German povernment to fund research and
development expenditures related 1o cioud infrastructure, The grant wil provide reimibursements of
up 1o E329 millicn for quaiilying expendilures trough 2027, As at Decemoer 31, 2024, the total ameunt
recopnized for reimbursement since the Inception of the project was notl material
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Section E - Capital Structure,
Financing, and Liquidity

This section cescrioes how SAP manages its capital structure, Our capitel manapement is based cn g
nigh equity @atio, madest inancial leverage, 3 well-balanced matanity profile, and deep debt capacity.

(Ea1) capital Structure Management

The primarny cbjective of our capital structure management is bo maintain a strong Fnancial peofite for
rvestor, cregitor, and customer confidence, 300 10 SUDRo e growth of our DUSIness, We seek lo
maintain a capital structure that will allow us te continucusly cover our funding requirements through
1he copital markets on rexsenable terms and, in 5o daing, engure a high level of independence,
conhdence, and Fnancal Regoility.

SaAPs prime principle of linancial sk management is 1o saleguand Louidity a1 2 level 1o De able o
meel all qur financial obligations. In order (o suppornt this poal, SAP's principal use of cash is focused
an

- Capital expenditure
- Quick repayment of Mnancial gelt
Aguisilions and veature scliviies
Payment af dividencs
- Share DuyDacss 1o refurn x0ess cash o snareholsers
SAP SE's long-term credit rating i "A17 by Moody's (slable cutlook) and “5+" iy 58P Glabal Ratings

{stable ocutlook).

13312034 3T e
%ol %ol A%

i milllons Tokal Equity i rilllcrs Tolal Ecuily

ard Liabilicies st okl
T cquiy 45500 [+ AADH B [
. Ed r:..:mu.u,u.-: 19.:-:9 P ETE] # k1]
F rion-cument labdities 2z 12 10zas 15 10
IE kbt o i P panzE a0 4
ihereal frandisl detl ~ aam BT 9768 s 2
Pl it lighalitiies: 105 2 1621 i [
I Totel equity shd Babllities T4137 100 68,331 Loy E:!

In Septembber 2024, SAP issued & short-term loan of €1.25 billicn to finance the acousition of Walkhie,
which con be repaid Rexdioly until Septembser 2025, In December 2024, SAP drew 2 1012l of €1 billion
via bilateral credil lines with a term of one year as well a5 €300 million via two commercial paper
tranches of €290 milion each. In 2024, we 3ls0 repaid €850 millon i Eurobonds and USS323 milllon
orivate plaocements at maturity. The ratio of total nominal volume of financial debt to total equity and
liabiities mcreased 100,
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{E.2) Total Equity
(Z) Accounting for Interests in Subsidiaries

Changes in SAPs inferest in a subsidiary that do nol resull in a loss of control are accounted for as
equily transactions, When SAP loses control over the subsidiany, i derecognizes the assets and
liabdities of the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling intenests (KCI) and cther components of
ecuity. Amy resulling gain or loss is recognized in profit of loss.

Issued Capital

SAP SE has issued no-par value beaner shares with a calculated nominal value ol €1 per share Allof
ihe shares issued ane Tully pasd,

Number of Shares

o et Capatal Tressuey Shanes
LALrz02 L1485 —dE0
Pugchase of Ineamay shares o -1;7
Retmuarce of iessary shares under share-based poymrents o 3z
1273002002 12385 -61.4
Puschate of Ineidury shares o -1
Retssuance of ety sFanes uncer share-based pamrents ] i}
1363002023 114% -64.3
Fuachase af insisry shares o e 1L |
Ropisiuarcs of ineaury shanes under share- bited payerts o 102
1373002024 172458 =619

For mere details aboul the share repurchase program execuled in 2023 and 2024, e (he section
Treasdsy Shanes belaw.

Authorized Shares
Tne Articies of Incorpomtion authorize the Executive Boand to increase the issued capial as follows:

— By uptoc a total amount of €250 millicn by Ssuing new no-par value beaner shares against
contributians in cash until May 19, 2025 (Authorized Cap'tal [}, The issuance is subject to the
statutery subscription rights of existing sharehalders,

By up to @ total amount of €250 million by SS5uing new na-0a7 value bepner shares agains
contrioutions incash or in kind wuntil kay 19, 2005 (Authorized Capital H). Subjed to the consent o
the Supenisory Board, the Execulive Boand i authorized (o excluce the sharehalders’ statutory
sulrscriplion rights in certain cases.

Contingent Shares

SAP SE's share capital is subjec to a contingenl capilal increase, which will be implemented cnly
fnsodar as the holoers or creditors of comeertinie bonds or stock cptions issued or guaranteed by
SAPSE of any of its directly or indireclly conlmlled subsiciarnes under cerlain Shane-based payrments
exprcise el conversion or sunscription rights, and no other methods for servicing these nahts ane
used, As ai December 31, 2024, €100 million, representing 100 million shares, was still available for
issuance (203 €100 million),

Retained Eamings

Retained eamings mainly comprise profit after tax and dividend paymenis as well as transactions with
non-controllng teraste,
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Other Components of Equity
Cash Fliow
Prar— ﬂwﬂ-: Hm Total
Lrirzoa 1850 -2 100
Dibeer comprehenaive Income kot Bemns that will be rodassiied 1o peoi oo “ : HEY
N et o1 2186 a8 P
1273142032 apis 16 o3
Tﬁlhu con gt e maoame b B s thal wil B rechosies 1o prol o
s, et of e vl A
1273042023 2418 9 24206
Dby connpaebereies InCoane B R s ihal will b peclasslied (o prcil o
s et i S
1273103024 A Tad =15 4,775
Treasury Shares

By resciution of 54P 5E's Anmual General Mecting of Shareholders held an May 11, 2023, the:
authorization granted oy the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 17, 2018, regarding the
acouisilion of reasary Sharcs was revoked 1o The extent 1 had not Deen exeresed al that time, and
replaced oy a new authorzation of the Executhve Board of SAP SE to acquine, onor before

Moy 10, 2028, shares of SAP SE representing a pro sata amount of copital stock of uo o €120 million
aggregate, proviced that the shares purchased under the authorization, together with any other shates
in the Company previously scquined and held oy, or atiFibulabie to, SAP SE do ot account for more
than 10% of SAP SE's issued shane capilal. Althowugh treasury shares are legally considered
cutstanding, there are no dividend or voling rights associated with them, We may redeen of resell
shares held inlreasury, of we may use Ureasury shares for the purpose of senacing omlicn o
comersion rights under the Company’s share-based paymenl plans. Also, we may use shares heid in
1reasury a5 consideralion in commection with menpens with, or scquisitions of, other companies,

Foliowing the sbeve authorization, in May 2023 we anncunced & new share DuyDack pregrarm with an
aggregate volume of up o €5 billon and a term unlil December 31, 2025 which is designed primarily
to service share-based compensation pwards, As part ol this prograrm, we acqulred shares with a
volume of 2,108 millicn (withaul incicental acquislion costs) in 2024,

Distribution Pelicy and Dividends

Qur general alenton i$ 1o remain ina position 1o seturn Bauwdity 19 our sharenaldens by distiouting
annual dividends totaling at least 409% of the SAP Groun's non-IFRS profit after tax from continuing
aperalians (oreviously; 0% or more of the Grou's IFRS prefil after [ax) and by potentially
repurchasing treasury shares in futune,

In 2024, we distriouted €2562 million (€2.20 per shane) in dividends lor 2023, compoared o
£2.3095 million (E2.05 per share) paid in 2003 for 2022 and €2,865 million (£2.45 per share, including a
specal ohvicend of B0.50 o celebrate SAP's B0 annaiversary) paid in 2022 far 2021,

The tetal divicend pvasable for disirinution 1o SAP SE sharenolders i based on the profits of SAPSE
a5 reported inits slatutory financial statements prepared uncer the accounting rules B the German
Commercal Code (Handelsgesezbuch) For the year ended Deceminer 31, 2024, the Executive Board
intenas toe propose thal a dividend of €235 per shane (that is, an estimated total dividend of

€2 741 million}, be paid from the profits of SAP SE.

Non-Controlling Interests

In 2024, a profitof €26 million was attriouted to non-controlling interests (023 a loss of €33 millicn
Wwas atiribubed (@ non-contoling intesests of Giher SAP entilies, and 2 1oss of € 141 millenwas
attriouted to Gualtrics).
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(E.3) Liquidity
&) Accounting for Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Classification and Measurement of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

Our non-dervative financial debt investments comprise cash al banks and cash equivalents (highly
liguid investments with original maturities of three months or less, such as time deposits and money-
markit funds), loans and other financial receivables, and acquined debd securities.

We penerally classify inancial assets as; ot amortized cost (AC), at fair value thwough cther
comprehensive noame (FYOCT), or at lair value through oeofit o less IFYTPL), depending on Lhe
contractual cash Fiows of and owr business moded for, holding the respective asset. Financial essets
having cash llow characlenstics other than solely principal and interest such as money market and
similar funds are classified as FYTPL, Generaily, other finoncial assets with cash flows consisting solely
ol principal and interest are held within a business mocel whose objective is “hold Lo collect” and are
thus classified as AC. Occasionally, such clher fingncial assels ane held within a ibusiness model whose
objective is *held 1o coliect and sell”in which case they ane classilied as FYOCL

Gang/osses on non-Oerivative financial depl investaents al FYTPL are repomed in Fagncsal income,
net and show interest income/expenses seoarately rom other gains/losses which include gains/losses
Trem fair vaiue fluctuations and gisposals. Gainsflosses on nos-derivative financial cebt investments 21
AC are reported in Financial income, nel and show inferest fncome/expenses sepamlely rom olher
gainslosses which Include gains/flosses on disposals and changes in expected and ncured credit
osses. Gains/lesses from fareign curnency exchange rate Ructualions ane mcuded in Other non-
operaling incomefexpense, nel Repular way purchases and sales are recorded as at the trade date.

Impairment of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments.

For these financial assels, we apply considemable judgment by employing the peneral impairment
anproach as follows:

= For cashat banks, Ume deposiis, and debl securities such &s acquired bonds and acquired
commernial paper we anply (e low credil sk excenlion, a5 1 & our policy to invest only in high-
quality assets of issuers with a minimum rating of at least investment grade to minimize the risk of
cragil bosses, Thus, thess sssets pre sways allocated (o stape 1 of 1he (hree-slape cradil loss model,
2nd we necord a boss allowance at anamount equal to 12-month expedled credit losses. This loss
silowance s caleiiated Dased on cur exposune at the respective reparting date, the legs piven
default for this exposure, and the credit default swap soread as a measuse for the probability of
default. Even though we imvest only in assets of at least invesiment-grade, we also closely observe
the developmentof credit delauil swap soreads as a measure of mankel parlicipants’ assessments
of the creditworthiness of & debbor io evaluate probable significant increases in credit sk lo timety
react (0 changes should these manidesl, AmMong others, we consicer cosh al Danks, Tme genasils,
and debt securities o be in cefaull wihen the counterparty is unlikely 1o pay its cbligations in full,
when there is information abeul 2 counterpany’s Taoncial cificulties or if there is a drastic increase
= a counterparty’s credit defaull swap spread lor a prolonged Ume penod while the overall market
emironmenl remans generally stable, Seeh lnancial a2scls are wiitten off either partially or in full
the ikelinood of recovery Is considered remote, which might be evidenced, bor examole, by the
bankruptcy of a counterparty of such financial assels.

= Loansand other financial recefvabies are monitored based on bomower-speclic inermal and
extemal information Lo determine whether there has been a sgnilicant increase (n credit risk since
initia] recognition. We consicer such assets (o be in defaut If they are significantly beyond their due
date ar il the borrower is unlikely (o pay its cbigation. A write-oll cocurs when the ikelheed of
recovery is consicered remcle, for example when bankruptcy proceedings have been fingtized or
wihen all enforcement efferts have been exnauwsted.

Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities
Non-dervative linancial lpoilites include bank leans, FEsued bonds, orivate placements, and ctrwer

financial liabilities. Other nancial liabdities also include customer lunding liabilities which are funds we
drawy [ron and mase payments on behall of our customers for customerns’ employes expense
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reimbarsements, related credit cand payments, and vencor paymends. We present these funds incash
and cash equivalents and recond our abiipation (o make these Sxpense reimoursements and
payments on behell of cur customers as customer funding Labilities.

Aswe 0o nal gesignate financial laoilties as FYTRL, we penerally classify non-cervative financial
liabiities as AC.

Expenses and gaing or losses on financial liabilities ol AC mainly consist of interest expense which i
shown in Financial income, nel Gains/flesses from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations are
inciuded in Other non-operaling inoome/expense, net.

Group Liquidity, Financial Debt, and Met Debt

Group liguidity consists of cash ot Danis, money markel and other funds, os well 2z tme geposits and

det seourities (both with remaining maturities of less than one year). Financial dett is defined as the
nominal volume of bank loans. issued commercial paper, private placements, and bonds. Net debt s

group liguidity less financial dent
Group Liquidity and Net Debt
f TR 024 fryeri| .
I 2k e i scividiets 1500 a4 s
Cuaren time deposils and tebl secuties 1401 381 ~1.080
Group licuicsy T 11275 =105
[ —— -303 “tad e
Hen-curent Brinchal et 5348 -z ore
Financial det 5385 -2755 —1631
Nt deb {=) LEDS 3531 1878

While wee cantinucasly maniler Une o presented e capital structure Lable, we actively manage
our lguidity and structure of cur finandial indebtedness based on the ratios group Uguicity and met

debl,
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Fa=rs | Faired
£ misors
Current  Kon-Curnent Total Cument Mon-Cument Total
Carsh ad barks 1962 o 1962 338 o 33659
Tk Choacenics La% =] LER 2150 1] o k]
Sorey enaoet and obher funds 1931 o 1391 Z4TE o FFa ]
Dettsoouties [ o o 1= o 1
Expecied et |oas allowancs =3 o =3 3 o E:
T Cash ard cash o ubval geis 9609 Q B0 a1z [ 8124
Nen-Derivative Financial Debt Investments
2024 EF
§ it
Current  Hon-Cunment Todal Cunert  Non-Cument Tolal
Tire chepomits 1475 [ 14 el ] 3pee
Dbt Snoeitees 53 T4 1x8 1= -] L3
Frarcisd isturcerts related 1o enfployes borefl plans ] a7 27 ] 244 244
Lo o other Aranclsl recehalsles an 31 k] o 88 1o
292344
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_E;dld et oes all oy -7 [1] =7 T ] =7
Hon-desivatioe financial debt Investeonts 1850 583 2351 3209 204 3303
T Cther firancial assets 1629 7141 BT ERTH 5543 a7
Hon finzancial cledit i
as % of F Other finarcial asets R i - - = i
Tirne deoasits with arpnal matunity of thiee moshs of less ane presented a3 Cgh and cash
eguhalents, and those with original maturities of greater than three months (fvesiments considered in
froup lguiciy) are presentad as other linancial assets, Debl securites consist of acouired commercial
paper and acouined bends of mainly finandal and nenfinancial corporations and municpalities.
The incresse in mondy markel fuads and alher funds was offsel by 5 Sedrease intime deposis This
stratepic shilt was aimed at securing Liauidity as needed,
Fer mone infarmation about linancial fisk and the nature of risig, see Note (E1)
Financial Debt
2024 Fatrx]
£ i Hominal voluens Carmying famourd ricerinal Volume: Carying Antourt
Hon- Hcen- Nee- Hee
Cunen B Cuarara it mt_wm Bune Cwmen o Lo Total
Bonds £29 5P50 S 5301 6090 850 L] A4d S BB
Privode placement
; o o6 ] & & Eo 5 4 & 38
Caneneencial Paget =0 o 405 o 438 [ o o [ 0
ik koars. 5] o 2350 o 2350 o ] o [ ]
Financial debd 1539 5745 3636 5300 BaIy 1143 EBLY 1143 603 7160
T Fersil Bl 4537 Taea 11435 1135 Tast A6
Firarcial dete
6% ol B Firarcial (3 T b 66 T 7
liakul i
Financia! labilities ase ungecured, except for the retention of title and similar rights customary inaur
industry, Effective interest rates on our Fnancal detd (Acluding the elects lrom interesl ate sawaps)
wiere 333% in 024, 349% in 2003, and 1.239% In 2072
Mone of cur financial deit is restricted by financial covenants. Our financial debt includes covenants
custamanily used, such as change of contral o regulatery changes that trigger an immediale
repayment Bonds and private placements are classified as non-curnend as al Decemiber 31, 2024, as
SAP has an edsting rght o defer settlerment for at least 12 months after the reporting period, For mone
informaltion about the risk assodated with cur financial labilities, see Note (E1} For more informaticn
Foout fair values, see hote (F2),
Bonds
I0ZE froar]
Hesminat Voluse
Efwcthg Carrgng  Camying Amount
haturity BsuePrice  Coupon Rate (Inrespectie 3
Irgarist Rate Amount (v € erillicn)
) ourrency in mittisns (i€ rrl ’
Euoberd § - 204 i _fazeess 1RO R Y T T Snd
Ewgbon §7 = HLS Has 9.204% LO0CH Ity LiT% L] b
Eumbeond 15 - 2018 P 5% L000% 4l 106% e S0 9
Ewrobond 36 - 2008 3 IRAATY% 1.375% (i) 1.50% [ ] -] a7
Enasbend 19 - 3610 Fr 99227% 0750 o = £ [ )
Ewnbond 20 - 2018 Far FE71% 1,550 b 13 € ot a3 sat
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Erasbond 21 - 2018 #31 38 37% 165 % ok L 7% €250 1079 Ty
Burciiond 73 = 2920 0 et QWG Dt bl L] e
e 24 = 3030 s S iEI% BT i 00— b
_E_E_Dbﬂ'lﬁ- 2018 FAF ] 10000 A T 4% WSSO =3 _J‘J'l_
Bonds. £090 B0
All of our Eurcbonds ang listed lor treding on the Luxembourg Slock Exchange.
Private Placements
2024 v
Feaminal Yolume
Maturity  Coupon Rate Eftactihme {inrespective  Cammying Amount. mﬁ’:? m'”::
interas Bate  eurrency in miltisnay [ € meiltins) i
LS privete placemants
Trorche 8 - 203 raered A3F% A3T% 1.5 B =
Trarche § - 2012 e TET% fbe) I5T% =g ] -
Private placaments a L

The US. private placement notes were issued by one of our subsiciaries that has the US dollar asits
functional curency,

Commercial Paper Program

The et proceeds from cur commercial paper program (Commercial Paper, or CF) are belng used for
general corparale purposes. As ot Decermber 31, 2024, v hawve £500 million of CF culstanding with
maturities penerally less than 1.2 months and the carying amount amounted to 498 milion
{December 31, 2023 €0) The weighted average interest rate of cur CP s -3.03% as at

Drecember 31, 2004 (Decernber 31, 2023 0%)

Loans

SAP drew shart-term loans of €2 250 million for general corporate purposes, including the scquisition
of Walkhie, that can be flexibly repaid untll December 2025, The effective inlerest rale on thelcans is
325% in 2034 (2023 0%) The loans conlai information covenants.

294384
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rReconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
The changes inour financial deldts are recondieng 10 the cash liows from bermowings included in the cash llow from linancing

activities.
€ milors L1208 Carsh Flows mﬂm ::::?Y ‘;::: Ofher  12/31/2024
Cured firancial cebi L343 LEM o = o B
Peexar e fnarcial ebd aat2 o ] -] —ia 57
Finarcisl deba [mosinal wolusa) 7,755 1504 o a7 -] 2385
St acpeierent =550 & ] o 13t ] =3
Franssction coets -5 -3 o o a 11} -2
Finarcial debd [carrying amouw) 7,169 1501 a a7 131 w BO37
Aconsed ienest and paseerd b banks 5 13 o o ] 173 0
wilened role swage 37 1] o o -1 Q £ ]
S 1,521 i = 7 2 e __:?.E
Total labiities from finencing sctivities. 9421 1284 o ] z 504 11290
TR EchuTies e e § e
¥ e Wz CahPiaws o SUS0es m ’m otver 21302023
Casimena farsanasl cheld 10966 =BG o it o 1148 L143
o cumend financial cebt ) o o 24 o 1147 aeaz
debt [romik b 11.764 =3,085 ] =24 a o 7,755
Bt acpsterent ] s} o ¢ 21 U_ 50
Transsdion comts -4 4] o ] & 12 -5
Financial ik [carmying amount) 10543 -3086 o - x 12 TAES
Acund il ehel F.ii] &3 o 0 o =27 =
It el ol S =3 o (1] =1 =315 o L
Lt LE -2 o 55 i il E
Tital labithbes trom fnsncing sctivithes. 14030 — A0 o a2 T —356 naly
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Section F - Management of
Financial Risk Factors

This section discusses financia risk factors and risk management regarding forelgn currency exchanpe
fale risk, inlérest rale sk equity peice risk, credit S5k, and Lguidity rsk. Funther, it contains infarmation
aocul finandal instraments.

{F.1) Financial Risk Factors and Risk Management

& Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments

We use derivatives to hedge loreign currency risk or intenest ate risk and desipnate them as cash flow
or fair value hedpes if they qualily for hedge accounting wnder IFRS 9, which involves judgment.
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments in Hedge Accounting Relationships

Moy transactions constilube economic hedges, and therefore contribute effectvely to the securing of
fimarecial risks but co not gualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. To hedpe cumrency risks infverent in
foreign-currency enominated and recopnized monalary assets and labdities, we do not designate our
held-lertrading derivative fnancial instruments in hedpe accounting, because the profits and losses
from the underlying transactions are recoprized in profil or loss in the same periods &5 the profits or
kosses from he germvalives

In peicEtion, we cecasionally hawe cantracts that cantain forsipa currency empcdeed desvatives that
ane reguined 1o be accounted for scparately

Fair value Ructuations in the spot component of such dervalives al PYTPL are included in Other non
aperating Incomefexpense, net while the forward element s shown in Financial income, net

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
a) Cash Flow Hedge

In general, we apply cash flow hedge acoounling Lo the Bareign currendcy risk of highly probalbole
forecasted trmnsactions With regard to horeign curmency risk, edpe accounting relates to the soot price
and 1o the intrinsic values of the dedvatives desipnated and qualiying as cash flow heopes
Acoordingly, the effective porticn of these components delermined on a present value basis s
recorded in ather comorenensive incame, The forwand element and time value 25 well 25 foreign
currency basis spreads excluded Irom the hedging relationship are reconded as cost of hedgingina
separale position in other comprenensive income. As the amowts are nol matarial, they are preseatsd
lapether with the effective portion of the cash llow hedpes inour consolidated statements of
comprehensive income and consalidated statements orcha-'@es in eguly. All olher companents
including counterpady credit risk adjustments of the derivative and the ineflective portion are
immediately recognized in Fingncial Income, netin profil of loss, Amounts sccumuated inother
comprehensive income are generally reclassified to profit or loss o Other non-operating
incomefexpense, net and Financial income, net in the same period when the hedped ilem alfects
prelit ar loss

0} Met Invesiment Hedpe

In peneral. we do nal hedpe the loreipn curency eapesure lrom the nel assels of subsidiaries wiha
functicnal currency different from the eurc, and we do ot apply net imvestment hedpe accounting
Hewsever, i selected cises we miphl oo 5o, and we applied nel investment hadge secaunting in 2023
For mone information, sce Note (D11

The designated companenl in hecge acoounling is the spot price of the derivalives designated and
quatifying as net invesiment hecpes. Accordingly, the effective portion of this component determined
an a present value basis 5 recorded in Other cemprehensive incame, All ether nol-oesignated
companents or ineffective portions are immediately recognized in Financial ncome, net in proft or
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koss. Amounts accumulated in Giher comprehensive income are reclassified 1o Other non-opemting
incomefexpanse, et within peofil or loss in the same perod when the foreipn operathon is partially
disposed of or solol

) Fair Value Hedpe

We apnly Iair value hedpe accounting for cetain of owr fixed-rate financisl laoilites and show the fair
waliee luctuations in Financial income, nel

o} Valuation and Testing of Eflectiveness

At incepticn of a designaled hedging relationship, we document cur riss managemienl stralegy and the
econcmic relationship bebween hedged item and hedging instrument. The existence of an eccnomic
relationship is demonstrated as well as the elfectiveness of the hedging relstonshio lested
prospectively by applying the crilical terms match for cur foreign currency hedges, sinte currencies,
maturities, and the amounts ase closely alpred kor the lorecasted transactions and for the soot
element of the forward exchange rate contracl or intrinsic value of the currency optlons, respectively.
For inlenest rale swaps, efleciveness & tested praspectvely using statistical methods inthe formof a
repression analysis, by which the validity and extent of the relationsiip between the change in value of
the hedped flems a3 the independent variatate and the fair value chanpe of the derdvatives a3 the
dependent varabie is determined. The main sources of inefectiveness ane!

= The effect of thi countemarty and our own credil risk on the fair value of the forward exchange
contracts and inderest rate swaps, which is not reflected in the respective hedped ilem,

We are expcsed [ varous nanc il feks, Such a8 market risks (that is, fansipn curency excnange rate
risk, inlerest rate risk, and equity price fisk), credd sk, and Liguidily risk

We manage marked risks, Crodit risk, and Bguidity risk on a Group-wide basis through cur global
treasury cepament, global risk management, and global credit manapement. Risk manapemsent
palicies se estabiished o igenlly raks, (o set aporopriate risk Limils, and (o manitor rsks. Risk
management polcies and hedging stratepies are Lald cut in our internal guidelnes (for example,
treasury and cthes infermal puidelines], and ore subject 1o conlinuaus imemal revies, analysis, and
update e refled changes in markel condilions and cur business.

We cnly purchase dervative financial instruments 1o reduce risis and nal lor speculation, whichis
defined as entering info derivative instruments withowt a corresponding underlying transaction,

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Forelgn Currency Exchange Rate Risk Factors

Aswe are aclive worldwide, car ordinary operations are suibject 1o risks assotiated with fluchsations in
foreign curencies. Since the Group's entites mainly conduct their cpemting business in their own
functicnal currencies, our risk of exchange rate fluctuations frem cngoing ondinary cpematicns is not
considered signilicant. However, the Group's enflities cccasionally generate foreign currency -
denominated receivables, payables, and other monetary items by transacting in a currency other than
ihe respective funciional carency. To mitigate the exient of the associated forelgn currency exchange
rale risk, 3 significant partion of these transactions is hecped a5 described Delow,

In Fare circumatances, Ransactng in 3 currency ather than the functonal cwrency alsa lesds ta
embedded foreign curmency derivatives being separated and measured at fair value thvough proli o
loss

In agcition, the intellectus: property (1P holders in the SAP Grouo are exposed 1o isks associzted with
ferecasted intercompany cash llows in foreign currencies, These cash Rows anse oul of reyally
payments from suisidiares o the respective IP holder, The royalties ane linked o the subsiciaries’
external revenue. Tnis arrangement leads 1o 2 concentration of the Toreign curency exchanpe rate risk
with the IP holders, s the royallies are mostly dencminated in the subsidiaries’ local currencies, while
the functional curency of the IP halders with the nighest royaity vwolume is the euro. Tne highest toreign
Curency exchange rate exposure of this kind relates to the cumencies of subeigiaries with signicant
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operations, for example the US. dollar, the pound sterling, the Japanese yen, the Swiss franc, and, in
2023, the Australian dellar.

Generally, we are not exposed lo any signilicant loreign currency exchange rale rsk with regand Lo our
imvesting and financing activities, as such activities are narmally conducted inthe functions! currency of
the investing or borrawing entity,

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Management

We continuously monitor cur exposure to currency fluctuation risks based on monetary ltems and
forecasied ransactions and pUrsue 3 Groun-wide siratefy o mandge Iorgign currency exchange rale
risk, using cerivative financlal instruments, prirmarily foreign exchange forward contracts.

With regard to our exposure rom monetary tems, our primary 8 miis b reduce profit or loss wolatilit:
Therelore, related hedging instruments a7e nal designated as being ina hedge accounting relationshio
pecause the profits and losses from the underlying transaclicns are recognized in profit or loss in the
same periods as the prolits or losses fram the derivatives,

With respect 1o borecasted transactions, up unlil December 2024 owr risk management strelegy was lo
reduce year-over-year profit o loss volalility via a rolling 1 2-manth hedge harizon Since

December 2024, cur forecasted exposue hedging stategy is aimed at reducing volatility from foneign
currency luctuations on the ferecasted Free Cash Flow (FOF) of 2 calendar year by preserving foreign
cxchange rates valid at the beginning of the calendar year when the FCF guidance is given.
Netwithstanding the change i loreipn curency exchanpe rate risk management, cur hecped ltem
remains 3 layer of the forecasted cash flows from royally payments 1o 1P holders 25 they correlate o
aur FCF, Due to the change inour foreipn curency exchange mite risk manapement, we re-designated
il existing cash low hedpe relatiansh ps and entessd inla new cash llow hedge relatonshios in
Decemnber 20024,

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments (Cash Flow Hedges)

We enter into dervative Faancial instruments, primadly fofeign exchange ferwand conlradts, 1o hedge
significant forecasted cash ficws (royalties) from foreign subsidiares denominated in foreign currencies
with 2 hedpe ratio of 1:1 and a edge arizan of up to 12 monthe, which i$ 280 (e maximum malurity
al the forgign exchange denvalives we use,

For all years presenied, ng previousiy highly prebable ransaclion designatied as a hedged item ina
foreign cumency cash fow necpe reflationship ceased 1o be probaile. Therefone, we did not
discanlinue any of our cash fiow Redge relationshios exoepd lor those alfected By the change in our
lTorelpn curency exchange rete risk management. Alsg, ineflectiveness was eliver ncd material or non-
exiglent in all years repaned, Genarally, the cash lows of the hedged forecasted transsclions are
expected [0 cocur and 1o be recognized in orofit o loss manthly within the respective Calendar year,

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments {Net Investment Hedges)

In 2023, we hedped pa of our netinvestment inour LLS. subsicianies which have the LS. dollar as
their functicnal currency. by entering intc a deal contingent fonward. The hedged risk is Une weakening,
al the U5 collar against the eura. The deal contingent larwand was cesipnated a3 3 hedgng
frstrumnend for the changes in the value af the net investment thatl is attributaible to changes in the LS.
dollarfeurs spot rate.

Te assest hedpe alfectivensss, we have delermined [he cooncmic relationshin Detween Lhe hedging
instrunend and the hedped item, by comparing changes in the carrying amount of the deal contingent
Torward that is attrioutable to a change i the spol rate with changes in the investment in the LS,
suisicianies due o movements in (he spat rate,

The armounts a5 al Decemiper 31 relating Lo lems desipnated as heaged mems were as follows:
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Designated Hedged Items in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges
o wmerty TN e ey " eSOt
il Fivrs ) ik
I value esed Ton ooloulal 5
_*iﬂ_&"'@{rgﬂ Ed‘f:r_m e ng -1n 8 1 15
Gl Mo Iicige -19 o 9 ']
Com of hedging =3 0 =T V]
Esalances; remusning bn cath flow hecige
iz o which hedige socounting ks 13 =15 o =15
_langer spplled

The amouns 25 3t December 31 cesipnated ag hedging ingtruments were a5 fallows:

Designated Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Forecrded

g Bl ST Rl L
Eritions HIH- . z-ma
Hareingd wmount e L 2350 &
Carmying amour
-_I:d-t-u: I;;u'\dd asnets 17 L] 3 ]
Cbet fingraial liskdites -1 a -2 i}
Churge in value fecogrised in 00 =19 0 15 15
Com of hegging lecgrires in GO 3 o - ]
Amcart rechicaiod fsen cash flow hecge o o Fos o
e A0 R i ol - W] i, ol
Amcart reclassies ingm ot of hedgng 47 P 8 &

i CaC1 R Finance neoing, nel

On Deoember 31, we held the following instruments to hedge exposures o changes in foreign
CaTency.

Details on Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

iy
2034 fryr !
Feward evchanges coniracs 1-6 Menths T-12Morihs 16 Morahs 732 Mgrity
Mt gt € avdlicns 2078 1857 1364 1095
At EURGEPIGrvET rale QUi 0E T 0
Aerage ELIR_F fonsard rle pL A LSTAR MELF RFLD
Avgeiags ELIRCHF Eorward rale o i1 0as a4
- b 0 18 187
Aeiage EURLIED dorwaad rale 106 107 LiD 104
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure
Or risk exposure is based cn the Tollowing assumptions!
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- The SAP Group's entities gencrally operate in their functicnal currencies. In exceptional cases and
lmited ecaonomic envinanments, coerating Lransactions are denominated in curencies other than
the funclional cumency, leading te a loreign currency exchange rate risk for the related monelany
imsfruments. Wiere materia’, tis foreign currency exchange rate risy is hedged. Therefare,
Thuctusations in foreign currency exchange ales only have an impact on profit with regard to our
unhedped non-derivative monetary Faancal instruments and related income or expenses.

- Qur free-standing dervatives designed for hedging loreign cumrency cxchange rate risks almast
completely balance the chanes in the I3ir values of the hedped iterm attributable to exchangs mle
maniements in the Consalidated Income Slatements in the same period, As 3 consequence, the
meded ilerms and the hedping nstruments are rot expesed to foreipn currency exchange rate fsks,
and Inereby have ne effed on onedit,

Consaguently, we are caly exposed o sipnificant forsipn currency exchanpe rafe lluciuations with
regard to e following:

- Tne snet component of desvatives held withina designated cash flow hedge relalionship alfecting
other comprehensive income

= Fargign currency emoedoed cervalives allecting olner nan-onerating uense. el
- Lnhedged lamspr-curmsncy manelany assets and labilities affecting ather non-onerating expense,

net

Thus, our loreign currency extosune [and cur average/igh/low exposure) 35 at December 31 was as
fcilows:
Foreign Currency Exposure

Collisre o My
e - ——————— .
“Pakanc Rpicue (o ) A iiof i riencie) il 3
P a8 EOTEE A5 iy
Highe st g 6 42
Livesl epiias a3 25

Forelgn Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity

I, en December 31, the foreign currency excnange rales had boeen higherfiower as descrined below,
inis would nave had the following effects on ctner non-opersting expense, net and other
COMPAERENSvE iNcanme:

Foreign Currency Sensitivity
Ellects on Other um-np:r.ui-u,hum:;. Elbects an CAha Cormpuehansies ncome
i il
24 273 07 2024 23 023
Dt hodd valihin a desigratest cash flow hecige nelabionshigs
All masjor o encies ~10% against the euro ans i 135
Al major cusrercies +100% agains the eun T oam = 15
ihwereal (D - 10% again 1he e i 13 i
1h:|'\Iﬂr.IJSD+'.I]‘.ﬁ.$ﬂ‘dHEEHD =] =131 =25
Envbaeriched Derivabiaes
ﬂmm;-.:.ﬂmhmmhdhrdmnm -".dl. -B3 -3 ;
Al cxcrencies +10% ngsins the respective functianal oumeroy [ g 54 at
therecl: ELI -10% againd the respoctive undionsl cusency ] -1 -2
Thereal ELAR » 107% Sgaird the iespective hundicesd curtersy Fa a -
3007344

326/393



EDINETOOOO
O000000000400(E24727)
Oooooooa

EEUY integrated Report 2024

Tor Cur Cormolidated Gioup Consslidatedd Financial Additional
Stakeholders Managemant Repon Stataments IFRS Information

Wcmedrrar_ur;,-mm‘mdﬂﬂlk—:

Al caspenzien ~ 100 s the ipapeothe Runetional cuensy =1 -112 -8
M qumsncies +105% againd the respective (undtional oumeroy 1 112 B3
Thereol: USD - 10% agnd ihe regpeciive functional cumency =3 -0 -]
thareat; LISD +10% agairst She respective furclkonel cumency k| AE il
Interest Rate Risk
Interest Rate Risk Factors

We are exposed (o interest rple gk 35 2 resull of aur imvesting and Faancing activilies mamnly ineuros
and LS. doliars, since a large part of our investments are based on variable rates andfor shor
maturities (2024, 6096 2023 539%) and most of our Fnanciap ansactions ame based on fiked rates ond
iong maturities (2024 B6%; 2083 100%),

Interest Rate Risk Management

The aim of our inferest raie risk management is (o reduce profil or Loss valatility and optimize our
interest resall by creating 2 balances structune of Fxed and variable cash fiows We therefore manage
interest rate risks oy adding interest-rate retated dervative instruments Le a given portiolio of
imeestmients and ceol financing. The desired fined-floati ng mix of cur el debt is set oy the Treasury
Committes.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments (Fair Value Hedges)

Ta match the interest rate risk from our financing transecticns to our investments, we Lse receher
intesest rate swaps to aler the interest cash flows of certain fioedsate francial Uab®ites (o foating,
and by this means secure the fair value of the swapped financing tansadtions ona 1:1 mtic. Including,
interest rate swaps, 40% (2023 43%) of our total interest-bearing fnancial labilties outstanding a5 at
December 31, 2024, had a fixed interest rate

Thiz amounts as al December 31 relating to Hems designated a5 hedged tems wene a5 follows:

Designated Hedged Items in Interest Rate Hedges

024 ratr ]

FaedRtats Fiaad Fans Fael-Raks PRl g

Eisions Barowing, Borrowing il g Bicarorwing,
In ELR i LISD i EUR I LSE

Hotioned snrounk ATESy o ATED 50
Camying amourd £100 1] 3530 2]

soourvashabed fal value wertsin

Oxbes frarcinl bl e - = bl
P i o vl Lo Fd T easing
rmecthvarass iof e (eponting parkcs
Aoounvbabed sroount of far value hecge
BT b D dod NEnte S 1S ] -4 o 7
2 pefiatindd e et ganelaanss

13 =3 20 I

The armnouwnts &s at December 31 designated as hedging instrurments were a5 follows:
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Designated Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges
2024 k]
bvberest Rate Interest Rete el Rals intgurst e
Citions S for Swrapes e S b Swape lor
ELRRE Borrowing USDBomowing £ B0 S0 Boaening
Hathonad amount 4550 [ AEED 50
Carnying amourd
Cithet finaroisl assets 0 4] o r]
Cither finarcisl Habdiies =i o I =1
Change in o valion wed oo meshuing e 2 “HE g

ineffectiveress lor | he reporting period

As at December 31, we held the foliowing instruments to hedge exposures to changes in inerest rales

Details on Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges

24
Maturity
e 027 oz 020 030 2031
EL plevest rabe owipes
Moamiral arrous 1000 1000 B0 500 L350
- Ammmﬂ*hmm:* 7 4535% T JoGowm AT 3917%
I:énhuﬁlﬂ:m
Faoanirid vy
Fverage variable inmed ae’
I
i M Fakn e ko] 200 F0E0 Fjrcs
ELRR ilerest 1.5be Swaps
Byl soccunts 150 10 (1] S0 1
T Auecigs varisble bnarea r) FEey 18 Py e e
LD e o e
Noiriral srounls ]
Average varablbe mlmes s’ A655%

*Comypittsc] banssd o e ki) sale cure o o Oeommber 11 of e seipective repoding perod. Frior-yeer rifes worne adused

Interest Rate Exposure

Our inferes] e exposure (and our aveape/igh/low exposune) as al December 31 was 25 kliows
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Interest Rate Risk Exposure
et ] i)
€ bitiors
Yoar-End Average High Low  Yes-Erd A High Lewe
Fisir vl inteie isle tisk
Erom ivesirerts’ am am 473 12 24n 412 693 240
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cimraponind 1o Rl vaton it ate ik whish wm, Erevoaly includesd o fhe cooks foy i eale ank in 2003

Interest Rate Sensitivity

A sensilivily analysis is provided 1o show the impact of our inleresh rabe rishk exnosure on profil or loss
and equity In aocordance with IFRS 7, considering the following:

— Changes ininterest ates cniy affect the acocunting for non-derivative foeg-rate financial
instrurments if they are recognized at fa'r value, Therefore, such Interest rate changes de not change
the carrying amounts of cur non-derhative fioed-rate inancial labélilies, as we acocunt for thwm al
amortized cost. Investments n fixec-rate fnancial assets classified as lairvalue through profit or
ot wene nol matenal al each year end reparted. Thus, we do nel consicer any feg-rate
mstruments in the equity-related sensitivity calculation

= Income or expenses recorded in conmedlion with non-desvative financial instraments with variabole
interest rates are subiedt 1o interest rate risk i they are nol hedged items inan effective nedpe
relaticaship, Thas, we take inte consideration interest fale changes relaling 1o cur variable-rate
financing and cur imiestments in money marked instruments i the prolit-related sengitivity
calaulation,

- The designation ol interest rate receiver Svans in 3 la valee hedpe reationship leads o intenest
rate changes alfecting Financial income, ned. The fair value movements reiated (o the interest ate
swans are nol reflected in the senstivity caloulation, as they offset the fixed intenest rate payments
fef the bonds and onvate placements as hedged Aems However, changes in markel intérest rates
affect the amount of interest payments from the interest rate swap. AS 8 COMSegUENce, we inciude
thase elfects of marked interest rates en interesti payments in the profit-related senstivity
calculation.

it on December 31, inlerest mtes had been higherlower, this would have had the fotlowing effeds on
Financip: incame, net;

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Effects on Finsroial moonne, hel
I misiors
2024 o TEE
mﬁ I'HCI m'l a mcﬂ I.ﬂ' udhthﬂt“tll:lﬂlﬂrﬂ'b
[rme—r—— :Imh:r!m [T I—— mmh'mu-mm:’k *:I.irttq:v!-lnr'.l.s ol = A6 58
arcals Hlon In| oo u:n.zI:IZ? -+ Ttprs 12 A LIS, mmnum}
Il'lﬂu-itumi- D(l!pilml’.l‘i-dalﬂilﬂ"- Dbps lof eues area (20T J-Eﬂbpll-'lrl:ls duﬂu = @ i 5
100k lor curo afe; 202 -2 Ghypa- 1 Mg for U5, dollan/euns o)
Wariable-rafe financing
Inleres rbes + 10005 for S dollsr siead's 100kps for euro srea [ 2023 +100bps for 15 dolle -t o 4
R I0000G Tof a0 e 2022 + T+ Lbns ko U3, cOaoulo We)
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riesest tates - 10Cbps dor 115, dollar area/-100bgs Ior swuro aeea (212 ~100bps bor 1S, dollar aeea/— , 5 .

100kps IoF ouen oo, 2077 -2Shpe =1 00pe fon US, dollan’euns aea)
kbl e o e estneeTis
T irheenet rakes + 10000 b LS cloliol s 1000 for eves mina 02 + Lo0bpE for S dalle . . o

area = 100 1o euen aiea; 202F + Pibpes'+ 12 fon LS dollen ‘e area) 3

ipberrst rabirt - L00bpelor WS coller aiei-1000PE Tor ees mea {200 - L000PS far S dolls fetad -

100k (o eurd aeei: X002 -250par- 100 e ULS, dollardmes )

Equity Price Risk

Equity Price Risk Factors
We are exposed o equity price risk with regand to our investments i eguily securities.

Equity Price Risk Management

Qi Fsbed equily inestments are menilaned ased on the curent maned value that is alfected by the
fluctuations n the volatile stock markets worldwide. Unlsted ecu'ty Investmients are monilored based
an detailed Mnancal indarmation orovided by the inestees, The lair vilue of our isted eguily
imvestments depends on the equily prices, while the fair value of the unlisted equity investments is
influenced by varous unchsenable input factors.

Equity Price Exposure

On December 31, 2024, cur exposure from our imvestments ineguly securities was £6.401 milion
(2023 €496T millior;, 2022 £5137 milbon).

Equity Price Sensitivity
Our sensitivity towards o fluciuation in eguity prices s as fellows:

Equity Price Sensitivity
£ miom a0d HED by

nvEEments n ooty seoultikes
nrpane Feguity peices ard respecive
unsbsrable inpats of 105 (3023 32%) - (211 1053 plax]
ncreans off fnean okl Incoies, net
Ceceame in souly prices ard respedive.
unsbeseralie inpats of 100 (F02 5 20%) - =gl o L c =500
chiscrinirtty o frdncinl Inconnd. et

o 2022, 0= L0 i ancl chocniing wish indand

st of our equity securilies ane within the wvenbure-canital-related investment activities, For purposes
of our eguity price sensitivity ciscloswe, we benchmarked the historical average of public market
returns of e NASOAO and SEP S0010 the average annual venlure capital benchmank setusns over a
12-year period, which is the assumed awverage holding pericd of venture capital funds. Overall, cur
analysis indicated a blended retum raage al +/-10% in 2024 {+/-22% in 2023},

Credit Risk

Credit Risk Factors

Ta regduce the credil figx in imeestments, we arrenge 1o receive fghts ta collateral for certain investng
gotivithes in the full amaunt of the mveatment volume, wiich we would o2 3llowed o make use of oaly
in the case of default of the counterpanty to the ivvestment, In the absence of other significant
SPACEMEALS 10 reduce our credil Ak expasure, Lhe Lolal amounts recegnized as cash and cash
eguhalents, current investments, Loans, and other financlal receivables, trade receivables, and
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dervative financial assets represent our maxmum exposure (o oredit risks, cocept for the agreements
mentianed anove.

Credit Risk Management
Cash at Banks, Time Depasits, and Debt Securities

Ta mitigate the credi risk frem our Ivesting activities end dervative financial assets, we conduct all ocur
activities only with soprved maior finandal irstitutons and Ssuers (a1 carry Wgh external ratings, 25
reguined oy our internal treasury guideline. Among its stipulations, the guideline requires that we invest
anly in a5sets from issuers with @ minimum rting of at least “BEE L We only invest in Sars with 3
tower raling in exceplional cases. Such investments wene nol material in all years presented, The
weighled average rating af cur fingncal assets 5 A We pursue a policy of caulious mvesiments
characterzed by predominantly current invesimenis, standard imvestment instruments, aswellas a
wide portolio diversification oy daoing business with a variety of counterparties.

T furtheer recluce our credit risk, we require ooilateral for certain investments in the full amount of The
mvesiment voiume, wivich we wouwld be allowed 1o mae use of inthe case of defaull of (e
counterparty o the investment. As such collateral, we only acoept bonds with at least inmvestment-
fracie rating level,

I adcition, the concentration of credit risk that ex'sts when counterparties are involved insimilar
activities by instrument, sectar, of geograohic area is further mitigated by dversification of
counterparties throughoult the world and adherence 1o an inlemal [Emit system for each counterparty.
This intarmal imil sysiern stipulates thal the business volume with individual counterparties s
restricled 1o a deflined Umit that depends on e lowest official long-term crodil rating available by at
teast one af the major rating apencies, the Tier 1 copitsl of the respective financial instiution, or
narticipation in the German Denesiters’ Guarantes Fund or similar orofection schemes. We
continuously monitor strict compliance with these counterparty Umnits. As the premium fior credit
default swaps mainly depends on masket participants' assessments of the credibrcehiness of a
detor, we alsa dosely cbserve the development of credit delault swap soreads in the market to
evaluate propabile fsk developments and reacl ina timely mannd e changes should these manilesL

For camh Bt panks, tne geponits, and dedt securties such &5 aogured DOAOS OF ComMmerncal Dapes, we
apply the peneral impairment apoacach, As it is our pelcy 1o onty invest in igh-guality assets of
mssues with a minimum ating of aileast ivestment grade so a5 1o minimize the riss of credit losses,
wie Use the low credit risk exception. Thus, these assets ane always allocated to stage 1 of the three-
stape credit loss mode: and we record a less allowance for an ameunt egual 1o 12-month expected
credil losses This loss aliowance is calculated Dased on cur exposure as al the respective reporing
date, the loss given default for this exposure, and the credit defaull swap spread as a measure for the
oroability of defawil To ensire that guring their lelime aur imestments always [uilill te recuirement
of being investment-grade, we manilor changes in credit risk by racking pubiished external credit
fatinps Armang other Lhings, we consicer Cash 31 Banks, tme depasils, and debl securities 1o be in
default when the counterparty is uniikely to pay its cbligations in full, when there is infiormation alsout a
counterparty's Faancal difficwlties, or in case of a drastic increase inine creo defaull swap spread of
acounterparty kor a prolonged time pericd while the overall maset eswirenment remains rather slaole.
Such financial assels are writlen off either partially of in full if the likelihood of recovery is considered
remcte, which might be evicenced, for example, by the bankruptoy of a counterparty of such linancial
a55eis.

Trade Receivables

The default risk of our trace recehables is managed separately, mainly based on assessing the
creditwarthiness of customess through external ratings and on our past Cxperience wilh e customerns
concemed. Based on this assessment, ingividua) cred Umils are established for each customer and
devigtions Iram such credit Umits need o be approved by management,

We apply the simpilied impairment appeoach using a provisian matrix lor all trade receivables and
cantract assels Lo take inle account any Lifelime expecled credil iosses already al inlial recognition.
fFor the purpose of the provision malrix, customerns are clustered iMo gifferent risk classes, mainy
based on historical moperdenos with credil osses in the respective SAP subsidianies Loss mies used o
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refiedt lifetime expected credit losses ane determined using a rodl-rate method based on the
oronability of 3 recenvable progressing through different stapes of being overdue g on our actual
credil loss expericnce over e past years. These Loss rates ane enhanced by lorwarg-locking
information to reflect differences between econemic conditicas during the period over which e
historical dala has been collected, currenl conditions, and the cxpeded changes in the coonomic
condilions over the expected life of the receivaibles. Forward-looking information is based on chanpes
in cauntry rsg ratings, or flucluations in crecil defaull swaps of countries of the customes we do
usiness with. We continuously monitor outstanding recehvabiles locally lo assess whether there is
ajective evidence that our rade receivables and conlacl 25368 are cregitimodined. Evicence that
lrade receivables and contract assets are credil-impained indude, among the trede recchables being
nast due, information about significant financial difficulty of the customer or non-adherence to a
paymenl plan We consider reoevables Lo be in default when the counterpanty is unlikely 1o pay its
abligations in full, However, & celay of payments (for examole, mose than 90 days past due) in the
normal course of business alone does not necessarily indicate a customer defaull. We wrile off
acoount Dalances either partially of in full il we fudge that the lkelihood of roovery is remole, which
might be evicenced, lor example, when bankruplcy prooeedings lor a customer are finalized ar when
2l enforcement efiars have been exhausied,

The impact of defzult on cur trade recevainles from individual customers s mitigated by owr large
custamer base and I distrioution Scross many Slleent industries, Company SZes. ind couries
wiorlohwide. For more information about cur trade receivables, see Note (A2

Credit Risk Exposure
Cash, Time Depasits, and Debt Securities
AS at December 31, our exoasune 16 credil risk from cash, Lme denosits, and Sebl Jecurilies was i

fotlows:
Credit Risk Expasure fram Cash, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities
€ millors urlesd olrarilid
P 1024
Equivalastto  Wilghted Average Lods  Gross Carmying Amoamt  Gross Cantying Amount ot Al
Exturnal Rating fatn #ot Credit-impaired Creditimpaired =
Feink cliaes £ - Doow rik ARA iy B0 -01% TG4 [ -7
Rk class 7+ agh ik B3+ ia D 0% 165 L1] i}
ik class 3 - unraled PR ~55% 5 L] nd
Total =01% 7A54 Q =10
il o, uries offeraiie
] s
Expiivhert b0 Vpigiiec Avsagh Lo Gt Camying Amounl Carie Cmyiry Afvourt LAl
Exerral Faling e Bt CreciR- el et Crecl-impusked .
Rk class § « Jow Tk AAA D BT~ “01% apes 0 =7
Pk claes 7 - highnisk Ed+ 10D falo; 3 &5 ] 1]
Rk class 3 unraled - e 17 0 -3
Total -04% 8007 a -10

Master Netting and Similar Arrangements

W enter inlo derhvalives on the basis of the German Master Agreement on Financial Dervatives
Transactions ("Deutscher Rahmenvertmag flir Finanziermingeschafie™) and sirlar areements. The
repulations of these agreements appy partioalarly in the case of inscivency and not during the normal
course of business.
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The foliowing tatbe shows the dervative instruments that are subject to such netting arangements:

Master Metting and Similar Arrangements

Erriliare 024 sl
ke fmounts Hatlishle Anouns
Carryirg Amounis inCaweof Mol Amount  Carying Aot n Cage of Ml Aanosurd
Insolvency rbeenoy
Srarvil gt b a 1% m ol AN
Firarcial ot ] =4 =A83 ] =5 =568
Trade Receivables
As al December 31, our exoosure (o credil risk from irade recevabies was a3 lollows:
Credit Risk Exposure from Trade Receivables
2024
o, unioss duna
Wil Avedage Loss Gross Caying Amoust {Garoas Caimying Amoamnt i mex
Fate Wt Cradit-impalied Crdit-dmp aired
AR el chon wred chup 1% A4S =T
AR cvnichue 1 [0 30 days BuE: 519 [ E.]
AR o 10 50 aas -14% iz 2 =5
AR epichee o than 550 days -28% L] i) &t
TOTAL ~A5% [E1- 35 ]
o]
i ik irr, Lt ol et ioh ARl
1 Ganss CiWrying Amourd Gienns Coarying Aot
Weghted faerage Lads Rate ot Crecit-epoirec P, - ECL Allowarcn
A3 sl due and chue ~0F% 4006 H -13
AR overiue § 1o 30 days % o 51 -5
AR averdiee 30 b5 00 days ~15% 584 b -
AR overdue moro dhan 30 das = T3 433 Fak] =176
TOTAL =33%, 5802 208 =203
The movement in the ECL allowance for rede receivables is as follows:
Mevement In ECL Allowance for Trade Receivables
2024 ook ]
f mrihona ECL Allowance 0L Alloavarcn
alanie o o 150 = —Hl
Mol redil lomses recognined =113 =37
AnGares wiben off B 90
Balance &5 @ 12151 el =303
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk Factors
We are exposed to Uguidity risk fram our obiligations towands suopliers, employees, and financial
instituticns.
307324
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Liguidity Risk Management

Owr lguidity is manaped Dy owr globat treasury department with the primany 2m of malntaining
liguiciy at a level that is adeauate 1o meet our financial coligations.

Generally, our primarny scurce of liguidity s lunds generated from our Dusiness operations. Ouwr giobal
Ireasury depadmend manages Liguidity centrally for all subsigiaries. Where possible, we pocl their cash
SUNDls 50 that we Can use Ligwidity centrally for cur business operations, lor subsiciaries' funding
reguiements, or e invest any net surplus in the marked, With this strategy, we seck o cotimize yields,
winle ensuring lguidity, by investing only with counterparties and Issuers of high credit qualily, as
explained belane. Hence, high levels of Uguid assets and marketable securities provide a strategic
resarve, helping keep SAP flevible, sound, and independent,

Apart fram effective working capilal and cash management, we have reduced the liguidity riss infhesent
in mianaging our day-lo-day operations and meeting our financing respongibilities by aranping an
adequate volume of available credit facilties with varicus financial institutions on wiich we can draay if
NECELSANY

T redain high Tnancial lesibility, in 2023, SAP SE entered inlo @ sustainability-Unked revolbving credit
Taciity with a velume of £3.0 bilion with an iaitial lerm undil 2028 plus two one-year exlension oplions,
repacing ils previous credit facility of £2.5 pillion from 2017 The use of the facility s not restricled by
any financial covenants. Borrawings wader (e facility Dear infensst of EURIBOR o the spresd
penchmark rate for the respective currency plus & base mangin which might be adjusted depending on
the fullillmeent of spresd sustainablity pefformance Wipets. We are alaa requirgd 1o DIy 8 commilment
fee of 7ops per annum on the wused aveilable credit We have not drawn on e Tacility.

In Septemiber 2019, we inftialed a commercial paper (Commencial Paper, or CP) pragram, As at
December 31, 2004, we had €498 milllon of CP gutstanding with malurities generaily less than six
mdnths (2023 €0 milian),

Additicnally, as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group had avallable lines of credit totaling.
E1.200 million and €555 million, respectively. In 2024, an ameunt of €1 billkion was wsed through maney
market Loans (for mone information, see Note (E.3) Thene were immaterial poraowings oulstanding
under thess lines of credil in 2023,

Liquidity Risk Exposure

The table below is an analys's of the remalining contractual maturities of all our financlel labiltes and
guaranizes held as a1 December 31,

Financial labilties for wivch repayment can be recuested by the contact partner at any time are
assigned to the earlies] possiole period. Variable interest payments werne calcutated wsing the latest
relevant interest rate fixed as at December 31. A5 we genarally settle our cervalive contracls gross, we
show lhe pay and receive leps separately lor all our currency and inlerest rate dervatives, whether ar
nct the fair value of the derivative s negative. The cash outficwes for the currency derivatives ane
translated using the applicabie sool rate,

We cantinue 1o pravide rental puaramees for certam oifces used by Quallrics, The amauits shown for
the Fnancial guarantees are the gross amownls we guaranioe, however, we ase entitlbed Lo
indemnification payments by Qualtrics which will reduce the puarantee smaounts disclosed,

Contractual Maturities of Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

— i‘r'fmuﬂl: Contrachual Tach Flovws

L3P0 v e Pk Far ] FE Theneater
Hon-derivathoe fnancial Habilithes. -
Tracks paables =172 =137 L1} o 0 o ]
Bonds =i = 1] =1, 161 = 105 =1033 878 =1, 715
Private placenvens —‘B 3 i | =100 o o ]
Loy =0 20 @ b 2 o -]
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Camemencal Paged A -0 o o o ] ]
L Bl =1,71% =an =87 =87 =184 =148 -3
Che linancial Babaies! =270 =21 ~3F L] 0 o 1]
Total of non-derhvative lirandal lab&lties =12.009 5543 -1.443 -1382 -11172 47 -1546
Finandisl paariniees "] ~ig -13 -13 =% =30 M5
P T Coptrschosl Cath Flovws
LE — -
12ALAEE Farid s Far 207 Hze  Thoteater
Meon-clarivathog finincisl Hanihies - -
Tiace payables =103 =1023 L] o 1] o 1]
Bonds =&, 7E0 =341 =T =1161 ] =105 o
Priv e pliscereris -k -4 -3 -3 -5 o ']
Lo (] L] o 1] o ']
Canrrancial Pagen o ] b L] & ]
Lt Bl siliians: -8 -¥0 -0 -2 -158 -1 ~d
Gty financisl Kab#lies’ -3 -3 - o ] o ]
Tetal of noa-derhvitba firancial latatiss -10.07% =2EE7 =145 -1368 =1288 =1160 =140
‘Financial guararsss 3 ET) 3 13 =T} - -

¥ Tt cowrying amaount of othes Tironcial et e includes oo 1 o st dertatie nonckal debi e well as lor dedcatives, slils ke cath oot e of These soomeed

inberest b presengeed bogither with (e Crckessying Lisbiity i the motulty melys.

Contractual Maturities of Derivative Financial Liabilities and Financial Assets

Cairping Camying
= Conlraciusl Cah Fows 1 Cortrsciusl Cash Flovws

& milir
1312034 ok Thetealber 1231 A3 i) Thgeafter
Derbvative financlsl Sabilities ancl assets -
Dies vathve Financisl Babllites
P T W e —— &S =
FSa—r— —ap0a, v 2088 b
Fe—— ey v 7 v
Curmmncy dethetives desgnaled o= hediging | s =
Corth cutions —2Em s
T Eahillows 278 sa
rveat File cvallvet deskgraie wt hodging Inakrimevis —ave =
Cath ouilows T e -aa e
Cath inflows w 241 ) 0
Total of destvathve inancisl Babiites e . —a0n —s23 -z a7
Dutrency Gerhitivet ol ceigralad 8 hadging Intimmens 51 =
Cach outfiows —zan T
Cashinllcs 2277 3pez
CLTEnCy derbaiives desgnaled o5 hecghng ndiumerts 17 i
Cash oulllows e 148
Coshidlows ate “ran
Totul of deetvathve eanciel sssets 63 2 o P 7 °
Total of deetvative financisl Babilities and assets a6z -a1s 08 538 a7 547
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{F.2) FairVvalue Disclosures on Financial Instruments

@ Level Transters

It is our policy that transkers between the different levels of the fair value Werarchy aqe deemed (o have

aocurred at the beginning of the pesiod of the: event ar change in circumstances that caused the
transher.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We uge various bynes of financiad instraments in the oreinary course of business, which ane classifed as
either amartied cost (4G, lair value through other comprehensine income (FYOCT)L or lair value
thraugh profit or loss (FYTPLY Fer these financial instruments measared at far value o for which lalr
valee must be disclosed, we have categorized the financial instruments indo a three-level Bair value
nierarchy cependiag on the inpuls used to determine fair value and their sipnificance lar the valuation
lechrigues.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hierarchy

1243072024
€ sz Calegory estccar sl ok el
m mmﬂ: mv‘:’: Levell Level?  Lavel3 Total
Asats
Carth s cash pouvalenis 50
Canh . bk’ AC 3562 3562
'I'l'nl.--d'l.-p;-;::‘- AL 1058 1858
Rraney martke anc el hinds TR 3591 3591 3541 3591
Tracie arcl ciber ieceiables BSET
Teade tecebables! AL &3l B3l
Criber recoivabies’ - 1]
Ot financial aseets [ 8770
Dl secuaities AL 83 583 53 53
T Dot secuios oo 4 7 = 74
Fepy fcLalies. TN, Bl BAL 1% B GaAlL
irvestrertsin asoases” - 144
Tme depast s AL 141k 1418
::::d“'mr refates] b employ -
s pnd ofhe frdrsisl pecidaliles Al e e E ) Erid
Doenhather aasets
Dresignated ns hedgieg iestiurert
P forwar conteacts - 12 17 12 17
ot cesigrated as hedgng nstrument
X ledwaiel dntingty TR, 51 51 51 51
Llakaiias
Tracks and cther payabies =200
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Ot pangallies® = -Ey
Finarcil ludstieg ]
Bon -clerivative fird ol labilities
Liptrne® AL =250 =2250
fhangs AL =000 =0.0a0 =~ il
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—— s A ~670 -, -5 -] =005
et placements P 381 ~3em % ~37a
Lerze Rabflities' - 1621 -LEH
b pae-cherheative hinsrcisl i /LG -2 = =33 =L
 Derhuthe tiakities
Designatisd as Bedgiog ie=tumect
3 lorweaid conbeacts - -20 - = -2
Irierest 1ot s - ~537 = =537 =537
ot clesigrated as bedgng esdrument
E forwardd cortracts FVTRL i -8 -84 —
Todal fimancial nstroments, net 12038 4,708 7004 4343 1368 4318 2720

e cho el separiely descinee B foir value for coshand cashecubvalesis trede peosilmbies, snd accounts paysbls m Bhelr camying smounts oee 8 reasonabie spprosdeetion of
e o e

Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification

1253102024
i miions Cabegory AL A
Camying Amount o otized Cost Fair Valug
FAnancial assets
A ok vl lhrough profl o loss FYTRL 10,483 10443
#1 tar volue (brough other comprehenshe Pcome oo T 4
e = — =
=l nm'.."_.. = it
A Vi b by Gugh el of loss FYTRL -Bs -5
A amortived o ac 108 10
Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification
FEE T
{ milsors Categery " ™
CoeyRgAmcunt e ired Cost Folr Value
Fliarchil dsiats
A i vl by ough o o loss PR 7502 ThOZ
A0 Vi el (B ugh cAber compeehensie rcome e 122 122
At ameitized ool 14 14773 RETS
Finarcisl Gabfitis.
A b sl thecugh peost o loss FYTPL 56 -8
A aoitived con A A5 A
Determination of Fair Values
A description of the valuation techrigques and the inputs used in the fair value measurement is given
Ipelonen
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Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Thipsi P Vi Minracly Deptaprmieirsiior: o Falr Valusvalustion Technigue
Finarcial i
Flecl-raie honciy flinanclal Boblities)  Level L Castirdd plces in an active markel
Ciscourded cash fows

Flboesdd-raste privale placements’ losns
(firarcial Nabdie-s)

Futute cash ontfloves for dboed intevest and principal are
ciscounied cver B beam of thiy iespecihe corbicts using
the iniboed irdenist Fakes o3 of e riporting dale.

Livel 2

For other mon-cerivative financial assetsAiablites and variaole rate financial deiot, it is assumed that
lneir carrying value reasonably aporosimates (e fair values.
Transters Between Levels 1 and 2

Transhers ol eguity secarites Iom Lewel 2 1o Level 1. which oocurred because disposal resthiclions
lapsed and deducting a disoount for such restriction was no longer necessary. did not take place in
2024 and in 2023 (2027 €93 milion) while transfers from Level 1t Level 2 dig net aocur 3t 3L

Level 3 Fair Value Disclosures

Thue baliowing tatle shows the reconciliation of ir values from the opening o 1he closing balances Tor
our unlisted equity securities and call cpticns on equity shares, s well as the deal contingent forward
free aur el irmesiment nedpe cassilied 35 Level 3 lairvalues:

Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Values

§ Mo fravr | 033
Uinlited Ecuty Secarties
Unlisted Equity Securities  rd Call Cplons on Foully  Doal Conlingort Foowars)
Sharss
1 4817 apE3 o
Tranzbers
-.-"i-l.'.‘.-DIL.E\E‘3 r L]
A of Level 3 = i
Prrthiases m a7
Sales am 1o
Sefllmnems T
[ A
Irchucied in franced nooimne, net 4R =219 =106
" mchried] I mknege dll nsiteain other cnpoaheree lecorie e Tiee "
1331 B.ER 4817 L]
Chonge in Lvealize guira/iosses i ot oo koo 1o cquity ivesteenls B P 5

hatled ad Ther et of 1he 1epoiting peried

Transters out of Level 3 ane due to inttial publc oflerings of the nespective investees or distributions in
wind in the farm of Usted inviestees. Changiag the unobsendable inputs to reflect reascnably possinie
alternative assumplions would not heve a matenal imoact on the fair values of our unlisted equity
securities held as FVTPL as at the reperting date.
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Section G - Other Disclosures

This section provides additicnat disciosunes cn miscellanecus topics. including informaticn pertaining
io the Executive Board, the Supenvisory Board, related-party transactions, and clher corparate
governance lopics.

{G.1) Prepaid Expenses and Other Tax Assets

2024 Fyre]

T risions Hon: [
Currantg Tt Tatal Craent Cuarerd Tl
Prepuic euperses [ 4730 1SR L a0 L3
Obsbt Lo Sugatts 258 L) 3F3 245 I Fie
Tozal 1222 a07 1041 1023 419 1504
F Oibae ron dinarcial astets 20HZ 850 BETY 2T ibhi3 5547

Prejp G A ather Lad Asera as

i ; ag 12 m ] 12 #

% of B Caber non-finoncisl atosts

Prepald expenses primaniy consist of prepayments for hyperscalers, support services, and software
renyalties, Other tax assels primarily consisl of valee-added tax (WAT)

{G.2) Provisions for interest and Penalties Related to Taxes and
Other Tax Liabilities

Provisions for Interest and Penalties Related to Taxes

2024
. Cument Mo -Ciatant Totsl
1417034 1] 142 153
Aciiiien . 1] o .':16
LRiliration [ -1 -1
Medizgne [} -10 -18
Tonpsier E 5 b
Crerery ngac 7 A |,':.
12/31r2004 5z 134 186
Tl gricrition: 7B A LI
Proisions dor ey s penaltiosielated =
i baeres 5% o B Prcwisicons 5 = b

The provisicns primarlly conslst of interest related to Income taxes,
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Other Tax Liabilities
024 e
Ll Non- Mean-
currany M Total et VT Totad
e tax Uskanins 1000 o 1008 #70 0 #70
B oiber nondirancial Kabilities 8533 T4 6200 LEaT [ 6345
CAREr b Babdiies a% % o 26 Criker pom .
topuihpieens 18 o 18 15 0 14

Other lax liabdities primarily consist of VAT, payrell ta and withhoiging lax.

{G.3) oOther Litigation, Claims, and Legal Contingencies

This Mete discloses information about intellectusl preperty-related [itigation and claims, tax-related
litigation cther than income tax-related Utipation (see Note (C51), and anti-brioery maiters.

(£} Uncertainty in Context of Legal Matters

The policies cutlined in Nole [A4) kar customer-rélated provisions, which include provisions fos
customer-related litigation cases and claims, equally aoply to cur cther litigation, claims, and tegal
contingencies disclosed in this Mote.

The cutcoeme of ltigation and claims is intrinsically subied to consideraiie uncerainty. Management's
view of these matters may dlso change i The future. Actusd sutcomes of Itpation and claims may differ
from the assessments made oy management in pricr periods, which cowd resull ina material impact
on our business, financial position, profit, cash ows, or reputation. Most of the lawsdits and claims are
of a very individua! nature and claims are esther not guantified by the claimants or the claim amounds
quantiied are, based on hstorical evidence, nol expected to be a good prosy for tve expenditure thal
would be required 1o resclve the case concemed. The speclics of the juisdictions where most of the
claims are located further impair the precictaility of the outcame of the cases. Therefore, it is lypically
not practicabie Lo reliably estimate the Financial effect that these lawsuits and claims would have if
SAPwere 1o incur expenditure for inese cases.

Further, e expected tming of any resulting cutliows of economic benefits Irom these Lawsults and
claimes is tyoically uncertain and nat estimabie, 25 it depends generalty on e duration of the legal
proceadings and settlement nepoliations required o resolve them.

Wie are subject to & variety of claims and Lwsuits that ardse from lime 1o tirme in the ordinary course of
aur business, including proceedings and claims that relate to companies we hawve aoquired, We will
continue to vigorously defend against all clairms and Lewsuils against us, The provisicns recorded for
these claims and lawsuils as at December 31, 2024, are neither ingividually nor in the aggregate
malenal 1o SaR

Amang the claims and lawsulls disciosed in Lhis Note ane the Tollowing casses

Intellectual Property-Related Litigation and Claims

Intellectual property-related [igation and claims are cases in which thind parties hawe threatened or
Fnitiated ltpation Claiming that SAPviolates one or more intellectual property rights thal they possess.
Such imellectus, praperty fighls may include pateals, copyrights, aad ather simaar rights.

Contingent labilities exist from inteliechil propery-related Ftigation and claims for which g provision
has been recognized. Generally, it is nol practicable to estimate the Financial impact of these
cantingent abilities gue ta the uncertainties arcund the litigation and claims, 25 autlined above, Baged
an our past expedence, mast of the intellectual propery-related [itigation and claims tend o be either
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dismissed in cowrl or settled oul of court for amounts significantly below the criginally claimed
amounts, We currently believe that resolving the inteliectusl propety-related claims and Mwsuils
pending as al Decerniber 31, 2024, will neither ingividually nor in the aggregale have a material acverse
effact on our ousiness, financlel position, profit, or cash fiows.

Individual cases of intellectual preperty-related Higation and claims include the following:

In June 2018, Teradata Corperation, Tendata US, Inc and Teradala Operations, Inc, {collectively
“Teradala™} filed a civil lawsuil against SAP SE, SAP America, Inc, and SAP Laios, LLC in U.S. federal court
in Calttornia, Teraciats alleged that SAP had misappropristed trade secrets of Teraciata, had infrinped
Teradala’s copyrights (this claim was subsequently withdrawn by Teredata), and had viclated LLS,
antitrust laws, Teradata sought unspeclied monetary damages and injunctive reliel In 2019, 3AP
assered patent infringement counterclaims against Teradata seeking monelary damages and
injunetive rediel, [n 2020, Teradata initisted o second cvil lawsuil apanst SAP assenting patent
infringement, soeking monetary damages and injunclive relief; in February 2021, SAP filed patent
infringement counterciaims apanst Teradals in this secend LLS. Lrwsuit 53 well 553 civil lowseit apainst
Teradata in Germany asserling patent infringement, seeking monclary damages and injunctive reliel, All
claims between the parties were dismissed in November 2021 after the district court fssued a
summary jucgment decision in SAFs faver on Teradalas antitrust and rade secrel claims, Teradata
appealed the district courl’s summary judgment decision. in Decemiper 2024, the U5 Appeals Court
pranted Teradaty's 2opeal 200 argensd thit the case De relurmed [ the district court for funher
proceedings and potentially including trisl on Teradata’s antitrust and trade secret claime.

Tax-Related Litigation

‘We are subject to ongoing audils by demestic and foreign tax autherties. In respect of non-income
taxes, we are imaived invarious proceedings with foreign 1ax authorites regarding assessments and
[itigation mallers on inlercompany royally payments and intercompany services. The tolal potential
amount in dispule related to these matbers for all applicable years is approximately €274 million
{2023 €416 milllen). We have not recanded a provision for these matiers, as we beleve That we wil
prevail

For mane information aboul our income lax-related litigation, see Note (S5

Anti-Bribery Matters

In January 2024, follewing comprehensive and exhaustive imvestigations, dialopue, and comesponding
rermediaticn activities, SAP entered into a final sett.ement agreement with the US SEC and the

U5, DOU, a5 well 85 with local autharities and parties in South Alvica, o resalve the crmingl and ciil
claims fully and finatly against SAP Under thvis apreement, SAP has been required to make payments
amounting to €207 rmillion and will continue to enhance its compliance pregram, including related
internal controls, policies, and procedures, and report (o and cooperate with relevant regulators.

As a consequence, as al December 31, 2023, prowisions for [Aaes in réguiatony compliance mallers
totating €155 millicn were recognized In our Consolidated Financia! Staternents for the year 2073, as
werne repayments to custamers, for wihvich revenue secognized [rom cantracts with cusiomers have
lpeen reversed. A consideralxie portion of these repayments o customers was eligioie to be credited
against the fines incurred in the regulatory compliance matiers. The setllement paymenls wee
complebed in 2024,

{G.4) Board of Directors

Executive Board

bemioerships on supervisory boards and other comparable governing bodies of enterprises, other
1han sunsdiaries of SAR o December 31, 2024
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Christian Klein

Chief Executive Officer

Stratepy & Operations, Corporate Development Sustainability, Business Al Compliance, Comorate
Communicalans, Customer Success, Technalopy & Innovation

Superviscry Board, acidas A, Hersogenaurach, Germany

Muhammad Alam (from April 1, 2024)
SAP Product Engineering

Global responsinility for all SAP busimness software applications including product strategy, product
management, desgn, and develooment

Dominik Asam
Chief Financial Officer

Glebal Finance & Administration including Legal, Invesicr Relations, Internal Audit, Data Protection &
Export Control, Government Affairs

Smmimfy Baarg, Berelsmann Management SE and Benteismann SE & Co. KGad, Guetersiah,
Germany

Thomas Saueressig
Customer Services & Delhwery

Global responsioility for long-term customer value in the cloud including customer servioes, premian
engapemants nd cudlamer Ut el nvlrastraciure, cloud aperations, cloud Heoycle
management, and private coud delveny

Board of Directors, Nokia Cornporation, Espoo, Fialand

Gina Vargiu-Brewer (from February 1, 2024)
Chiel Peaple Officer, Labar Direcer
IPegple & Culture

Executive Board Members Who Left During 2024
Seott Russell {until August 31, 2024}

Juiiawhite (i August 31, 2024)

Juergen Maeiles {until Septemiber 30, 2024)

318324
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Supervisory Board

Iemioersains on Supenisony Doands and alher comparable poveming Dooes of enlerprises, ol
than suosidiaries of SAP on December 31, 2024

Dr. h. c. mult. Pekka Ala-Pietild (from May 15, 2024)>%7
Chairpersen
Chalrperscn of the Board of Directors of Sanoma Corporation, Helsinid, Finlamd

Lars Lamadés?
Deputy Chairpersen
Head of Globe! Spoansarshins, SAP SE, Walldard, Germany

Supenasary Beard, Rhein-Neckar Loswen GmbH, Kronsu, Germany

Jakuly Serny (from May 15, 2024)%4*
Demand Manager, SAP CR, Prague, Crech Republic

Pascal Demat (from May 15, 2024)-%7
Soiution Advisar HOM, SAP Belgium, Brasssels, Belgium
SAP SE Warks Counc (Europe], Waligord, Germany

Aicha Evans®™4*
Chief Execuive Officer and bMember of the Beard of Disectors, Zocx, Inc, Foster City, CA, Uniled States

Board of Directors, Joby Asdation LLC, Santa Crue, CA, United States

Andreas Hahn (from May 15, 2024)%%4

Product Expert, Digital Supoly Chain Standascs SAP SE, Wallder! Germany
Chairperson cf the SAP SE Works Council (Eurcpe), Walldod, Germany
hemner af the SAP SE Works Coundcil, Walcorl, Germany

Prof, Dr. Ralf Herbrich (from May 15, 2024)%*

anaging Director and Prefessor for aailiclal intellipence and sustainabilty, Hasso Plattner Institute for
Digital Engmweering gGmioH, Potsdam, Germany
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Margret Klein-Magart2?

Head of SAP Alumn Relations SAP SE, Walldod, Germany
Chairperscn of the Spokespersons’ Committee of Senior Managers of 5AP SE

Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li**
General Pariner of Chanpeheng imestment Partners, Belling, China

Board of Directors, ABB Lk, Zurich, Switzeriand
Board af Dirgetors, Full Truck Alliance Co, Lid. Naning Jiangsa, Ching, and Cayman Islands

Dr. Qi Lu*
CFO, MiraclePlas Lid, Bejing China

Boarg of Directors, Pinduoduo Inc, Shangnoi, Ching

Chairperscn of the Board of Directors, Pine Fleld Holding Limited, Cayman Islands
Chairperscn of the Board of Directors, Fine Field Halding Limited, Hong Kong, China
Chairpersen of the Beard of Directors, Pne Field Lig, Befing China

César Martin (from May 15, 2024)» &4

SAP EMEA Enterprise Archilec, SAP Spain, Madrid, Spatn
Chairpersen of the AP Snain Warks Council, Madrid, Spain
ermioer of the SAP SE Works Coundl (Europe), Walldod, Germany

Gerhard Oswald®»%?
Managing Direclsr of Dswald Cansulting GraH, Waliderl Germary

Advisory Board, TSG 1899 Heffenheim Fullball-Spielbetriens GmioH, Ssheim, Germany
Advisory Board, apoliedAl Iniliative GmitH, Munich, Germany

Dr. Friederike Rotsch®%%?
Group General Counsel, Deutsche Bank AG, Framfurt am hMan, Gesmany

Nicolas Sabatier (from May 15, 2024)-%4

Chief Progiuct Expert, Sustaingolily Ivsovation, SAP France SA, Parig, France
emioer of the SAP SE Works Coundl (Eurape), Wallded, Germany
Secretary af the SAP Franoe Works Council. Pars, France
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Dr. Eberhard Schick (from May 15, 2024)%%3
Chalrperscn of the SAP SE Works Councl, Walloord, Germany

Nina StraBner (from May 15, 2024)%*%7
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HRBP Senvior Manaper, Global Head of Pecale Initiatives, SAP SE, Wallderl, Germany

Dr. Rouven Westphal®**

emoer af the BExecutive Board of the Hasso Plattner Feundabion, Polscam, Germany, and Managing
Director of the General Partner of HPC Germany GmioH & Co KG, Potsdam, Germiany

Adviscry Board, Sharks Sports & Entertainmeent LLC, S5an José, CA, Unfted States

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels®%*

Chief Financial Officer, Warner Bros. Discovery, Inc, Kew York, NY, United States

Board of Directors, OWN LLC, West Hellyweod, CA, Uniled States
Board of Directors, Speechagain, Inc. New York, Y, United States

Supervisory Board Members Who Left During 2024
Pred, Dr, o Hasso Plattner (unld May 15, 2024)

IManuela Asche-Halstein {until May 15, 2024)

IMonica Kovacnka-Dimitrova (undil May 15, 2024}

Peter Lengler (until May 15, 2024}

Christing Repiz (until May 15, 2024)

D7, ru . Punit Benjen (undil May 15, 2024}

Heue Steck (until May 15, 2024)

Helmul Stengele (until May 15 2024)

Jarnes Wit (unii May 15, 2024)

* g ch By the SAF S Wi Councl [ Furipat)

T idgimiben of B Comguany's Pericint] snd Cormahes Commiles
T ey of Bt Compony's Al sl Compelisnce Commiles

¥ Wternizer of W Coangsanys Orocet aved Teclwodogy Cormmilliet

U uherniber of B Comgunys Finasce o lnveslren Cinimaites

* el ol thi Comgany's il

T by o B Comiany's Chonbiainiid Secyiity Corumitteg
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{G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board Compensation
@ Accounting Policy

The shorl-term employee benefits disclosed below inthe taole *Executive Board Compensation”
include a short-term, cne-year perormance-tased compensation (“shor-term incentive.” ST The STI
s granted in the Executive Boand membeer's home currency for a single year, Payment of par of the
payout amount under the STl is deferred by one or two additional years and Linked to the perfermance
of (he SAP share orice ("ST1 deberal™), The sharl-derm employes benelits incluce both the granted and
the cefermed amount.

The share-based payment amounts disclosed below in lhe lable *Executive Board Compensation” ane
baged on the grant date fair value of the share units [n the regpective year In 2024, share unis were

ssued 1o the Execulive Boand members under e LTI 2024, In 2023 and 2022, share unils were Esued
o the Executive Board members under the LTI 2020 For mose informetion about the terms and cetalls

af theses plans, see Nate (B3}

In the tainle *Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members,” the share-pased payment expense
s the amcunt recorded in profil or loss uncer IFRS 2 (Shate-Based Payment) in Lhe respective period.

The tolal compensation of the Execulive Board memibers far each of the yeans 2022, 2023, and 2022
was as loliows!

Executive Board Compensation
i Frnsend 2024 fraer el sy
_?\Elﬂ_ll_:i_l_ﬂmdﬂm benefits 21118 L Jx iZ."nflE_
Shaae Bk payinert 22T I AGD Fo
‘Sulbtotal 43395 44,101 3382
e ——. 1 =N 10 1429
* herenl celies-baraf 711 e 1433
kereaf delined-cortritution &l 300 i
Tetvinatcn beney 2145 A A 500
“Total a1 5134 aan3

Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members

2024 I3 g
Huurribase o shie anity granted 126044 214530 205565
Tedod epevcoe in o thosganciy S L 56

The defined penelil obligation (DBO) fer pensions o Execulive Board members and 1he annual
pension enfitlement of the memibsers of the Execulive Board on reaching age 82 based on enfitlements
frem pedomance-based and salany-linked plans were as Tollows:

Retirement Pension Plan for Executive Board Members

I ondy 2034 Fuiral Frorrd
DBy 12531 11 2152 1an3

Annual pension eiiomnent BH 13T 14

The tetal annual compensation of the Supervisory Boand memibers 5 a5 follows:
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£ rousands 04 2033 az
Tonl conpernealion EETS 5427 5 206
Irﬂmrhmm'rperﬂﬂuﬂ ELar 3.k85 3145
théveal cormimil st iemurerlion 20T 23 Pt

The Supendsony Bodrd compensation i a shonderm benelit The Suoernvisory Board mempes o not
rectie any share-based payment for their services. As far as members who ae emoioyes
representatives on the Supervisory Board receive shire-Dased payment, sach compensation is for
their services as employees only and is unrelated to their status a5 members of the Supenisory Board,

Payments to/DBO for Former Executive Board Members

s W24 2023 FacrF]
Pareerts G ] 2417
Bl =R A0S ] Ay

In 023, SAP pranted a loan within the SAP-Flex Loan program for its employees, amcunting to €5,000
10 an employee wha later joined the Supendsery Boasd as an empoyes represetalive in 2024,
Besiges thes loan, SAP did nol grant ary Compensslion achance o cradil o, of enter inla any
commilment for the benefit of any memoer of the Executive Board of Supendsory Board in 2024,
2023, or A022.

{G.6) Related Party Transactions Other Than Board
Compensation

Cerfain Supenisory Board memibsers of SAF SE currently hotd, or held within the last year, positions of
significant respansioillly with ather entites. We hunse relationshipg with certain of these entities inthe
ardingry course ol business, whencoy we buy and sell preducts, assels, and sendces on terms
lbelieved to be congistent with those negotisted at arr's Length between unrelated parties.

Oocasionally, members of the Executive Board of SAP SE citain senices from SAP for which they pay
o consicerslian consisient with thase negolisled at armms iength between wireated partes.

All amounits related te the abovementioned transactions were immaterial to SAP in 2\l periods
presented,

On May 15, 2024, the Annug! General Meeting of Sharenolders elected Pekka Ala Pietild as
chairperson ol the Supenisory Board as sucoessor o Hasso Plaltner, whase term of olfice expired
wilh effect from that date, As of his electiocn date, Pekka Ala-Pietild became a related party.
Subxseguently, 5l parties (ol were consicensd related 1o SAP due (o their cannection [0 and/ar their
relationship with Hasso Platiner are nol considersd a3 related paties after May 13, 2024, This ncludes
lransactions aher thal date as well 25 culslanding balances and commilments,

SAP has relaticnshios with joml ventures and associates n the ardinary course of business whereloy
SAF buys and sells a wide variety of products and services generally onarm's length terms.
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Executhes Board embers  Suparvisory Board Members rmlmlﬂnl b"'l Associsted Entities

€ milliomrs 024 k] iyl ] Fiors] v | o] 2024 Frair e
Procicts andl

R MR A WA o 0 1] 55 13
Prociats anel

hond Iy HA L b 3 3 90 1o
Sponsoring, and olber

- HeA HA A § 7 A s

Cutdancing balesrces al
S — M LY =} 1] 2 ]
Cutsiarcing balarces o
el 65 (Custoers] M A ] ] EiA 4] X ]
Commilmens
ke HA HA HA o HA e [ o

L mmmmm Erngica e FrpEE T s o The &urmy&mrﬂ hmwy .3 wmdw 5
Al of these balances ane unsecured and interest-free and settiement i expected to ocour incasn,
For information about the compensation of our Executive Beard and Supervisory Board memiers, see

Nete (G5}

(G.7) Principal Accountant Fees

Al the Annual Genengl Meeting of Shaehelders held on May 13, 2024, our shorehalders elected

BOO AG Wirtschaltsorifungsgesellschalt {EDO) 25 SAP's independent awditer for 2024, BDO has been
ihe Company’s principal auditar snce e scal year 2023 Dr. Jens Freinerp has spned as aucitor
responsiole for the audil of the financial reporting and the group repcing of SAP 5E since the fiscal
year 2023

For fiscal years 2002 to 2002, KPMG AG Wirtscheftsprifungsgesellschall was the Company's principal
Sutiiler and Bodo Rackwilz sipned 23 auditar resoansible lor the audt of the fnanclal reporing and
the group regorting of SAP SE lor the years 2018 to 2022,

BDO and atner firms in the ploioal BDO netwerk charped the fallowing foes ta SAP for audit ang ather
professicnal services related o 2024 and 2003 (KPMG lor 2022)

P Foira ) Fier)

Emition BOOAG  Foreipn BOO Totsl BOOAG  Forsgn 800 Tew  "TWGAG Forsin Total
(Gemany) A [y} Firma [Ceevmanny  KPACG Fing

Al fees 8 £ 14 B 5 3 4 el 14
Auti ettt o E 1 e =i o 1 1 3 3 1
Tax lees 1} 1] o 1] o 1} i e 4]
Al iy Pees a B o e B 4] b -} &
'I'o_lll o L] 11 0 L] & 14 L) I-T H-

Audil lees ane the aggregate lees charged by BDO for auditing our consclidated financial statements
andi the statutory financial statements of SAP SE and its subsiciaries. Audit-related fees ane fees
charged by BDO for assurance and relaled services that are reasonably related to the perfarmance of
the audit and Tor service organization afestation procedunes,
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{G.8) Events After the Reporting Period

Organizational Changes
In January 2025, SAP amounced the following organizational changes, among others:

- The Supendsory Board had exended Thomas Saueressig’s BExeculive Boeard contract bar anather
three years until the end of Gctober 2028

- Effective Febnsary 1, 2025, the Supervisory Board heo appointed Sebastian Steinhaeuser to the
Execulive Board in the role of Chiel Operatiag Oficer,

- Efective Febrasary 1, 2025, the Executive Board had estaibished an Extencled Boarg, comprised of
senicr leaders from key functions supporing the Execulive Board with advisory, cocrdinalion, and
decision preparatico

Operating Segments

As resut of the orgenizational changes in the first guarter of 2025, SAP is curnently assessing a separale
aperating segment for the services lunction within the Customer Sendces & Delivery (CSED) Board
anea, led by Theenas Saueressig.

(G.9) Scope of Consolidation; Subsidiaries and Other Equity

Investments
Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements
Total
e p e ) ol
Agiciiong. 1F
Ciposals B
127350 215
Adicition. 1
Ciporsals -15
127302024 rF
The additions relate 1o legal entities added in connedtion with acquisitions and foudations. The
disnosals are mainly due to mergers, iguidations, and govestitunes of legal entities.
subsidiaries!
Major Subsidiaries
o Total  ProfLOss  Tousl Bauity b of
Hamn and Locstion of Company o Ravenum i (o) Afer Tan af ot Employees ai 8 Footnote
i T for 20@40  12L2024° 1zrLrr0ze?
% i b € Ehaumasns € thonsands
Arita Technologies Incia ivhvate Unetec!, Bergalur, nils 100 134943 27054 ek 1,345
Ariva, P, Palo Ao, CA, United Stabey 1000 1197700 481,563 IEETATT 1399
“Carous Technologes, inc, Bellewe, WA, Unked States e aamamea  seanay  7sMam 2
100 1322803 15,772 ~a14a4 [T 13
325744
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5P [Schwels) MG, Biel, Swierland 100 1515787 55574 A a2t
SAP (LI} Lirited, Fefiham, Unked Kingclom 1o 1505030 g0 ZaT = 43
SAP America, 0, Niewiain Sauace: PA, Urited Stals 100 ISMAIE G2T4A0 ZIAI0ATR Bsal
SAP Agening S A, Tuerss A, Ao 10 e 2785 12472 e 13
"SAP s Pre, Lic. Singapent. Singapare 10 P 57182 120 um 1
SAP Austradia Py, L, Syoney, Autralia 100 BE431L L 114588 18
SAP Bl Litta, S50 Palo, Biasd 10 BOE54z 16541 wa743 M 13
SAP Canact 1nc., TeaGnta, Cans 10 1312653 111,144 ] 90
SAP DeAscHIn S & Co K0, Wallciodl eerenarty 100 6343048 534083 15TRDE a7 0
:\:mwmw Prociunices on L infcemidica, 66 A4 12,440 1105063 o
SAP Francs 54, Lrvallots Paret, France 100 1309306 136,775 1B40543 1400
ﬂmwnﬁm;m 160 ara 4111 ;671 e
SAP inclla Privat e Limied, Bengaluny ingla 100 502960 ik rr] o] P10 Tl
SAP maatries, e, MewAcwn Scuae, PA, Urded Sines 1o bz WSH0 L709s 192
m'wwwhmmsm e kS — — s
SAP Japan Co, Lid, Tebys, Japan 100 17T A0 186210 PEe
“SAB Lot Dudgarts EGOO, Sctl, Bugaa 10 14783 1614 a1y e
SAP Lab Ircila Privafe Linibed, Bergahau, indla T 1 a2 182223 Az 1474
SAP Lk, LLE, Palo Al £4, United States toe ra45ea 108,543 1002788 1402
SAP Mixico 5 A di C, Mevkoa Oy, Misdco 1o sa37m 3365 113853 e 13
e e e 100 LINZAT 200880 B17815 7
SAP Hecerland E?.B'wmlheﬂﬂm pic [ i 108 B =kt Lol
SAP Philippinas, Inc, Taguig iy, Piippines 100 Py 2110 13784 wm 13
SAP Saner and Supger Corire (unlan) Limine, Dublin inetand 100 WE5 BT 17499 17
SAP Servdces 1.0, Prague, Czech Repubiic 160 1518 3718 24405 54 1
Other Subsidiaries*
Hame ardiLocatian of Company Cwrmarship  Footnots
%
SAP Kagakhtar LLP, Alimaty, Kazabbetan T
110405, i Netiram Sae, B4, LR Stiles e
Abakies UNanioe Lz Clability Company, Ky, Uiraing 100
Mﬂlw. " _rl.hm" ha t _Snuh.lhl:n bl o] 13

Appieer Inc. indisnapolis, M, Urled Sates
Appipeer Oy, Expoa, Firland

A Creeh 200 Paigon, Crisch Repullic

Ay fin Prbeate Limibes, Gusugiim, indis

Ariba ntpmalicoal Holdings, nc, Wilminglon, DE. Unibed Rides

gt Technolagies Netheslanas BV, ' Hertogenbasch, the Setherdanas
Balra Capital Desigrates Acthity Company, Dublin, iretand

Beiza Ciapilal Ealia mad, Wolan, Raby

Bakea Copital LLC, Mewath, M., Uiied Ststes
Buadey Capitsl 24, Leoosivdedia g Lisedilenisy

Briiness Ciljects Opdicon, LLC, Wikirgron, DE United Siales

13

AR

g|=|=l=|=|EB|E|E|B|E|E
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Buriness Objects Sclfwae Lmiked (Frading as SR Sohuions), Dublin, redand 100

Eallius Solware Inc. San Framon, CA, Uinked States P
Coslitheaiond [roia) Privati Linied, dyderabed, ndis 5
Clearakall, mc., San Francisee, CA, Unied Stabes kL]

CHGE Oporations WModoo 5 de, L oe, O, Misdon Jity, Msdon bl ea]

Conour (Caradal, Inc, Teromn, Canada bic ]

Conour (Credh) 510, Prague, Crech Republic 00 13
Concur (France] SAS, Levallo-Perret, France bo]

Ctiniar (Germany) G, Frankuct s Male, Germany s 111
Coancud [Rpait] e, Taka, A I

Cosnens [Phillippires) ir, Makali (y, Plilippiees el

Conor [Seltyerianc) GrebH, fusich, Switzelanc bli]

Conor Fclzings [Metherancs) BY, s Homogerbasch, the Noiherlarcs g

Conour Technologies (Australia) Py, L0, Sycingy, Mstralin b}

Canour Technaloges (Hong Kang) Limfied, Hiang Korg, China

Concur Technologes [rcis) Privaste Lintled, Bengabun, incia blc]

Conaur Techraloges (Singapore) Me L. Singapore, Sigapore 1t 1
Coneur Techeeloges (LK) Lievied, Pelihuen, Linited segoiomn 0 13
ConTgn Corauling Limied, Felthaen, Linbed Kingriom b1 1]

ConTge Livied, Folihaen, United Kingriom b1ei]

Castos Cloud GirbH, Wlldord, Gemnary 100

Emazys ehtakeling Syslens GribH, Vienma, Austria 160 13
Ematsys et Skiterelen Tic. Utc S84, istarbal, Turkey 106

Emarsys mlevacthve Senvices Gmbid, Berin, Genmary
Enmasteys Limitiec, Wong Keng, Ching 160
Emissys Norih Areerica. e, mdianapolis, 14 Uriled Sates 10
Emasys P, Lid, Singapran, Sngapote 160
Emausys Pry. LG, Sydney, Audialia it
Emaizys 545 Levalick- Pemed, France 100
Ematsys Secromiz GrebiH, Pukh, Sritzerand 168
Emausys UK Lid, Londan, United Kingdam 168
EMARSYS Tockrelogios inforeraiio S2ckpillale KN, Buslagest, dungary 160
10
160
160
1
bledl
10
160
160

13

Famatdalkme (e, S50 Pads, Brand

LeaciFoamet; Ing, San Raman, T4, United Siates

Lgan: France SARL, Courbevole, France

Lean GmbH, Boon, Gemramy

Leand Si doo, Ljubljana, Saveris

L LK Liniles, Lonsar Urited Kingson

Lean® LIS Heldings, inc, Witsbman, WA, Uriled Dates

Livani, Bv_ Arneted e, (e Mothedands

Lz, e, Moo, TX, Uried Staes 168

LLC S8 Lk, Momoow, Ruseela pleg

LLC 587 Wiiraine”, Kily, Litarine hle] 13
Lowalsys Techrologes srel Ud, Tel fwiy-Yalo, Ereel 100

LETECH hehs Brharte Ll Mycerabac incia b}

Cuberjoin, ire, San Saenon, O, Urites Sistes 10

Otk Dmaschind Grebil Walldon, Gormary bles] o1
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AT 548 Ingonesia, Jikarts, Incinesis =
Cnsacrem Alrica Pty LieL, Soharremburg, Eonth Alfics 160
sk o DAzl i, 6o e Jorwio, Deal 108
‘Cunct om Chllo Lidda, Sariago de Chis, Chle 10
Cunctom iniserational 146, Homdice, Beseracl 0o
mm&ﬁ'."ﬂmm.ti Hethedards fic 4]

Cuackom Qvoreas Cooperliel LA, = Hericgenbach, the Nethel 100
Caracrem Per SAL, Lina, Perts 108

i (Befing) Sohware Syehem £o. Lid, Befieg CHina -
SAP[Chins) Holding Co. Ui, Being Ching 108
SAD Anding y el Caribe CA_ Clencas, Veneriels 14 11
SAP AT UL, B, Arevbolan 10
SAP Botgunt - Sy, Applicaiont and Produats SA, Biusseds, Relgkn: e
SR Belefligungs Gambe, Wallda, Gemany 00
S Bulgaia E0OD, 5ol Bulgain
"SAP Chile Liitacls, Sartign de CHle, Chle 14 13

13

SAP Coali Rica, 5.4, B, Coma Rica

SAFCR, spod 500, Prague, Croch Ropubd:;

S Cyprus LimiEed, Siovolos, Cypis

SAP Danrrark A5, Copenhagen, Cenmark.

_ﬁ.ﬂ'&m.- Beteligurgs- und Yernedgerseenvaliungs Grebid Wislldor], Gemernary

BADEpm Alvich Linileed, Nairobi, Kirys

SAPEvpl LLE, Calrs, Epd

SAM EMEA iskle Saley 51, Madiid, Spaln

SAF Ershe Beteldigungs. und Venmgenmersaltungs GmbH, Widldord, Gemnany
S5 Edinmia O, Tallinn, Estonis

SAP Finaheisl, re, Toranta, Cansls

A kil Oy, Expaa, Firilaid

LA Fermign Halcinge Grebil Walldon, Goimalry
SARFrarcn Holting S Lovallob-Pre, Franon

SaP Gllobal Magketing, inc, New Yok, NY, Unileo States
S Hellaa Singhe Merebed 5.8, Alherd, Greeor

Sa Hong Kong o Lid, Hong Kong, China

SR Hosling Betedigangs Gmbe, St Leon: Rol, Gepmany
AT i [Holding) M. Uid, Sigapae, Sngapore
SAP ntesrationsl Pardma, 5 Pansma City, Penams
SAF nieenational, ing, Waami, FL Urited Stse

SAP TSRS, I, Wit ington, DE, Lnied Siales

S pkand Lisrited, Dublin, reland

S pebanc 5 - Firncisl Services Desigraled Actiaty Company, Cublin, instand
SAP mppel Linl, Raarona, kwasl

SAP Ko LI, Secul, Sookh Kaiea

SarLabes Franoe SAS, Mouging, Frsnos

SAP Labe ool Licl, Rearan, Soaed

13

15,11

13

10,11

13

=

E|B|8|B B|E B|E|E|B|B|B|E|E|E|E|B|EB|E B \E|B|B|B|BEIE|IE\E|E|E
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S Labs Kores, inc, Seoul, South Kores bl

AP lma S Rgatads P

SAT Uetinid LWL Wea, LR I

A Kb Soin Eihel, Musly Lusepir, Maligtia kL]
Kmmmmmmumw.mmmm 100 &
;&Mmmu&mﬁhmmmmm hLes] i3
_‘sf-wmsu FE-LLC,MUMMJM bl i3
Sa Hedellang Holcing BY, S-Hstagerbosch, the N hedarcds bl o]

SADT Newwr Zpaland Lo, Auckiand, Mew Testard kL]
SADHaign AS, Crls, Nodéay bl o]

SAP Horih Wheat Afrioa L, Casalblanca, Moeocoo pLe]

SAP Ctednsich GInbH, Vienna, Autia 1L

SA Pend SAL, Linra, Peru bLes] 3
I;'Pd.dn Sp. 7 o, Warsaw, Poland b{e]

A Poynils Mckting Betedigungs G, Wallccrl, Germany 100

EAP Bt besel L1, Raisnans, Hrael 188

SAD Pty - Sitereds, ApECaoies o Proobin wiosredice, Sociedade Uripesioaal Lo, Pota 180

Sabvn, Porugad

S P e s und Esteiligurgs GerbH, Wall coel, Germary 100

SAP Public Serdces, inc, Washinglon, DC, Unibed Stabes 100

Ea dyeta Bico GanbH, Wallocsl, Geverary ble] i0,11,13
SAD e il Sodutcerd. Reledilungsgeroltsora e, Wall cioal, Geineary bl

BAP Sl Softwae Servicrs L, Rivecth, singiom of Smed Adabin ble]

SAP Sl Sclteare Tracing Lbd, ivadh, Kingolom of Saidl Arabds ™ 15
SASpchan Betedigungs und Vermagenenvaliungs el Wallcn, Gomy 100 16,11
S Siehie Beteiligungs- und Vamtgenearwaliungs GrebH, Willdor!, Gemmary hlwa] 10,11
SAP sefeml, aplikache in poocukdi 2o oboelsv podstioy dao, Lubljara, Siovenia 00

Sab Sneereko s, Bretelees, Sovilia hle]
?A?Sd‘hm and Servioes WL, Dohs, Salar &5 613
BAD ek i At gl Sockhaire, Synoee bl= ]

SAP Symhem Applicabion and Moducts Asln Wyanenar Limibed, Yangon, Myannea b[]

S Systems, Mpplications and Procusts in Dats Processing (Thadand) L, Sanghok, Thaland 100

S Tabwran o, L, Takped, Tabwan 1w

SAP Technalogies nc, Palo Alta, CA, Unked Stabes 00

Eai Trairing ind Development etube FEOD, Dubed Uriled Asab Enietes hle]

S8 Torkhye Yarilin Oretien ve Ticarel A5, istarbal, Tukey bl

AR Ve Peeament Girnbod \Wallcio, e reary i) 1011
Sarvisme Detedigings- o Vs dgendeenvaliurgs Gae L Wil dorl, Qi k(=]

SAPVeebnaen Cornpaey Linited, Ho Chi Minh City, Vistnaen kL]

SAP W Batkons oo, Belgeade, Serbda pLe]

SAP Awedte Beteligungs: und Yermnagerseerma Bungs GmbH, Walidon, Gemeany 1] 10,11
SAPID Furd, 1P, Aaustin, TX, Unbed Sties o 7
Sapphie Fund investments 1| Holdings, LLC, Awstin, T, Urited States bl 7
Sapphing Furd inveiments 1| L5, fastin, T2 Linkesd Sisles o 7
Anppdane Furd irvestment s o Helidings, LUC, Austin, T, Urited St bl 7

T
¥
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Sapphine Ventues Fund | LP_fastin, TX, United Stabes

Sappline Vertues Fund (1L LD Astin T Ueited Sales
Sapphine Ventuans Fund V. L, Austin, T3, United States
Sapplie Vevtues Fund V. L, Austie, T, Uniled States
mmuumﬂL".mmmM
Sapphire Vertues Fund VIA, LR, fastin, T, United States

A ol |oar ) omd | ad | maf mi|oa

Ohariership
<]
o
-]
]
€]
e
<]
bLee)
1
Shanghal SAP Cloes Techislagy Contpay, L, Shanghal Chirg pLEs]
Shgrania, e, Mewtowm Souane, A, United Seabe fLid]
SucoensFactons [Philippane ], inc, Patk] CRy, Phlippines Lis]
FpensFacicas, Ing, Neweoam Souane, PA, Uried Suees L]
e
bl
1
ke
-+
s
EL]
bl
Lo
180
kLo
]

Syase Angola, LA, Luarcla, Angeda
Sybase, Inc, San faman, CA, Lnked Stales
Syt Agplications Products tAlrka fiegion] Svoprielnny Limbed, Soharresbiag Soulh Africa
Svstemis Applications Pockucle (ki) Proprietiny Limiad, Joharnastarg, Soith Alica
Systares Applications INeducte {Seuh Alikas) Propeietiey Liniled, Jebannetbasy, South Aica
Systeres Applicaticns Products Nigniin Limied, Wetorks iard), Hgeria

Taudia [Shanghl) Sinan Tectrcdagy Co. ki, Shanghi Chirg

Tarlln Asaibla LLC, Rtpact, Nirgrioen of Ssudl Arbia

Tauln Ausiralin P4y L1cl, Sycney, Ausdrolia

13

2

Taudia LLC, San Frareion CA Unioed Tated
Tawlia Sirgagone P, Lk, Sirgapors, Sngporne 100
Taidia Trace Techrokogy Gk, Doesel o, Geomany bled]
Tawlia P b, Landon, Linited Kingrom e
TH Errope Linited, #elthan, Uriled singoom bled]
T Technaloges india frivale Lieled, Bengaluni rndis b1 ]
T Ui L], Feltham, United Singsom e ]
TR ine, Dellevn, WA, Linilled SEste 0
Wikures integration, ng, Chaniilly, A, Uribed Sames pLi]
L]
L]
b1e]
160
w0
blea)
kL]

i2
13

Walkhe Audralin Py, Licl, Syciney, Ausiralio

Wk e Conacla el Toronts, Canacta

Walk\e Gormarry GrebH, Frniul aen Yain, Gemeany

Wl KX Telyn, Japan

‘Whinlkvie LAcl, Tl v —Yinka, isiael

Walkie Micicle East LLE-FY, Dulbssl Urited] Avab Envisates.

Wealkde Singapode Pie. Lid, Singapone, Sngapcie

Walke LK Lirie, Lendin, Linited Kingsonm L]
VialkMe, nc, San Franckeco, CA, Unbed Stabes Il

n

e |en | e e

mﬂ clivesfication of fhe solrsickiries, Che foloeing Sgures sie consiterect nevenoes, peoflions after o, ofal eoulty, ond number of
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(G.10) German Code of Corporate Governance

The German lederal government published the German Comorate Governance Code (the "Code”) in
February 2002 and intreduced a commission that amends the Code Irom time o time. The Code
contais statutory requirements and a namber of reccmmendations and suggestions. Only the legal
regurements ane binginp for German companies. With regard 1o the recommendations, the German
Stock Comocration Act, secticn 181, reguires that every year, isted companies publicly state the extent
ta which they have mplemaented them, Comoanies can deviate from the supgestions without having (o
maki any public salements,

in 2024 and 2023, the Executive Board and Swoervisory Board of SAP SE issued Uhe reguined
declamtions of compliance. The declaration for 2024 was issued at the end of Odicber 2024 These

statements are available on our Wieb site: wwwsap.com/investors/en/governance,

334

360/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

(©-8)
(€-3)
2025 1
2028 10 3
2025 2 1
2025 5
CEO 2030 4 5
2028 3 2

2025 5 KPI

361/393



(
SAP
o
SAP
@
SAP
24
®
SAP
21

IAS 8

IFRS 3

362/393

SAP

IFRS

IAS 36

20

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn



*
®
SAP
2006 5 1
©
SAP

2013 4 1

IFRS 2

2006 5 1

IAS 19

363/393

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooooo

Q)

1AS 38
®

IFRS 9

SAP IFRS 9
( )
©))
IASB 2007 3 IAS 23 () 2009 1 1

10)
an

364/393



12
IFRS
2018 3 30
30
2021 4 1
13
IFRS
13

15

29

16

2020 3 30

365/393

IFRS 15

2020 3 30

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

366/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

€))

@

®

*

12 31

SAP SE

22

@

367/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooooo
@
5 2
®
*
2014 1 1 2037 12 31 15.315 15.315 5
2038 1 1 15 15 5
2009 1 1
2014
11 2037 12 31 20.315
15.315 5 2038 1 1
20 15 5
2016 1 1
20 2014 1 1

2037 12 31 20.315

368/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2014 1 1 2037 12 31 20.315 2038
11 20

(a

'

®

369/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

24 1 1 2

2024 1 1
[€)) 6 6 27
@ 6 7 18
A 6 9 30

370/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

371/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooOoog
SAP SE ( )
SAP SE( ) 2024 12 31
2024 1 1 12 31
2024 1 1 12 31 SAP SE
(1ASB) EU
HGB(Handelsgesetzbuch ) 315e
2024 12 31 2024 1 1
12 31
322 3 1
317 EU ((EU) No.537/2014 EU )
(1DW) (158)
EU 10 2 f EU 5 1

2024 1 1 12 31

372/393



@
@
®

2024

SAP

SAP

SAP 34,176
/ SAP
SAP

SAP

(A-D

SAP

373/393

17,141

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SaaS PaaS laaS

SAP



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP 1,250 SAP
SAP
SAP
SAP
SAP
(€.5)
SAP
SAP SAP
SAP
SAP
2024 12 31 SAP Sapphire Ventures 6,266
SAP (D.6) (F.2)

Sapphire Ventures

374/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

Form 20-F

2024 1

2025 2 19

EU IFRS HGB(Handelsgesetzbuch ) 315e
IFRS

20 (GAS20)  IFRS

375/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

317 EU (1DW)
(1SA)
PCAOB

EU IFRS
(HGB) 315e
IFRS

376/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

PCAOB
SAP SE 2024 12 31
2013

C0SO
SAP SE C0SO 2024 12 31

@
&)
®

SAP SE

SAP SE PCAOB

PCAOB SAP SE

PCAOB

377/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooodo
HGB 317 3a
sap-2024-12-31-DE.zip
ESEF ESEF HGB 328 1
HGB 317 3a
ESEF
HGB 328 1
2024 1 1 2024 12 31
HGB
317 3a 1DW HGB 317 3a
(IDW AsS 410 (06.2022)) ESEF
1AASB
1DW
ESEF
ESEF HGB 328 1 4 1
HGB 328 1 4 2
HGB 328 1 ESEF
ESEF
ESEF
ESEF HGB 328 1
HGB 328 1
ESEF
ESEF ESEF
EU 2019/815
ESEF XHTML

378/393



XBRL iXBRL

2019/815 4 6

EV 10
2024 5 15

SAP SE

2024
(HGB)  289b

(GPrifbv)
[AKEG] 162

ESEF

289

ESEF

2023

XHTML

EU

315b

ESEF

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

OooooOodd
EU
XBRL
2024 5 17
SAP SE
11 (
315¢
(WpHG) 32 1 EMIR
SAP SE
ESEF
ESEF

379/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2025 2 19
BDO AG

( ) ( )

( ) ( )

380/393



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

Independent Auditor®s Report

To SAP SE, Walldorf

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE
COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

AUDIT OPINIONS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the financial year from January 1, 2024 to
December 31, 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In addition, we have audited the combined management report (report on the position of the company and of
the group) of SAP SE for the financial year January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. In accordance with the
German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of those parts of the combined management report
listed in section ““OTHER INFORMATION?”.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the
IFRSAccounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASB) (hereafter®“IFRS
Accounting Standards””) as well as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements ofGerman
commercial law pursuant to 8§ 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German CommercialCode] and, in compliance
with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilitiesand financial position of
the group as at December 31, 2024 and of its financial performance for thefinancial year from January 1,
2024 to December 31, 2024 and

the accompanying combined management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of thegroup®s
position. In all material respects, this combined management report is consistent with theconsolidated
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriatelypresents the
opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the combinedmanagement report does not
cover the content of those parts of the combined managementreport listed in section ““OTHER
INFORMATION?” .

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB (German Commercial Code), we declare that our audit has not led to

any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
combined management report.
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BASIS FOR THE AUDIT OPINIONS

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report in
accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as ““EU
Audit Regulation®”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in supplementary compliance with the
International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and
standards are further described in the ““AUDITOR"S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT”” section of our auditor®s report. We are
independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial
and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) letter (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we
have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined management report.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1, 2024 to December 31,
2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these
matters.

We have identified the following matters as key audit matters to be disclosed in our auditor®s report:
1. Cloud revenue recognition
2. Assessment of the Group®s uncertain tax treatments

3. Measurement of unlisted equity securities

CLOUD REVENUE RECOGNITION

Matter

The Group generated revenue in 2024 of EUR 34,176 million, of which EUR 17,141 million relate to cloud
revenues from fees earned from providing customers a cloud offering with software as a service, platform as
a service, infrastructure as a service and/or premium cloud support through subscriptions for use of the
Group®s cloud solutions. For most of the Group®s cloud offerings, measured both in volume and number, the
customer is entitled to continuously access and use one or more cloud solutions for a specified term,
therefore cloud revenue is recognized based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the term of access.
However, some cloud business models are provisioned on a consumption basis where a customer commits to a
fixed value of spend on cloud services throughout the contract term, but with the discretion to call off
cloud services on an as needed basis. For those arrangements cloud revenue is recognized based on
consumption as it best reflects the measure towards satisfaction of the performance obligation(s).
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The evaluation of cloud revenue contracts bears an inherent risk of errors due to the complex nature of

certain contracts. SAP defined detailed accounting policy guidelines in line with the applicable accounting
standards and has established uniform processes throughout the group to manage the accounting for its cloud
contracts. Applying them often requires significant management judgement, in particular with respect to
whether certain agreements with the same customer are economically linked and need to be combined, whether
the various services that are owed by the Group according to the contract qualify as separate performance
obligations, the allocation of the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations
in the contract based on standalone-selling prices and the point in time at which the provision of services
by the Group for the specific performance obligation commences.

Cloud revenue recognition is a key audit matter due to the significance of the cloud revenue and the high
degree of complex judgement required.

The respective cloud revenue disclosures of the Group are contained in section ““A.1 Revenue”” of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Response and Observations

We evaluated the design and we tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to
the revenue process, including controls related to the identification of certain economically linked
agreements and separate performance obligations, the allocation of the transaction price to the performance
obligations in certain contracts, and the point in time at which the provisioning of service commenced. We
tested a sample of underlying contractual agreements and other related documents to evaluate the Group®s
assessment of whether certain agreements were economically linked, the identified performance obligations,
the allocation of the transaction price and the point in time at which the provision of service for the
performance obligations identified commenced. We tested key contractual terms and conditions from the
respective contracts to evaluate the identified performance obligations and the point in time at which the
provision of service for the identified performance obligations commenced.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management®"s judgements used for revenue
recognition of cloud contracts, particularly in the area of assessing whether certain contracts are
economically linked and need to be combined, identifying separate performance obligations, allocating the
transaction price to the performance obligation, and assessing the point in time at which the provision of
services commenced, acceptable.
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ASSESSMENT OF THE GROUP®"S UNCERTAIN TAX TREATMENTS

Matter

The Group disclosed contingent liabilities relating to tax uncertainties of EUR 1,250 million. The Group
operates in multiple tax jurisdictions which continually revise, change, and implement tax laws with
complexities and uncertainties due to different interpretations of these tax laws, especially relating to
transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of intellectual property. The identification,
recognition, measurement and disclosure of certain income tax risks specifically from transfer pricing and
intercompany transactions for the use of intellectual property requires significant management judgement in
determining key assumptions to be applied to the interpretation of tax laws, related regulations, case laws
and mutual agreement procedures across multiple jurisdictions. Significant management judgement is also
required to determine whether a transfer pricing tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained and
to assess whether intercompany transactions are based on the arm"s length principle. These management
judgements demand a high degree of expertise, for which the Group regularly engages external experts to
provide tax opinions to support their own risk assessment.

The respective disclosures regarding uncertain tax positions of the Group are contained in section ““C.5
Income Taxes”” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Response and Observations

We involved internal experts with specialized skills and knowledge in taxation to evaluate the
appropriateness of management®s methods and key assumptions used to estimate certain uncertain tax
positions. We verified our understanding of the relevant facts by evaluating certain of the Group®s
transfer pricing documentation and we assessed whether the Group®s processes and guidelines in connection
with certain intercompany transactions support an arm"s length position. For certain group business
activities, we evaluated the reasonableness and consistency of management®s judgments (including
application of tax regulations and interpretations), key assumptions and processes. We assessed the overall
reasonableness of conclusions reached regarding the identification, recognition, measurement and disclosure
of certain uncertain tax positions from transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of
intellectual property.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management®s judgements related to the estimation

of uncertain tax positions, specifically from transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of
intellectual property, acceptable.
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MEASUREMENT OF UNLISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

Matter

The Group holds unlisted equity securities held at fair value of EUR 6,266 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily relating to Sapphire Ventures investments. These investments in unlisted equity securities are
classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss requiring a recurring fair value
measurement using significant unobservable inputs. The measurement of the fair value of certain investments
is complex and, with regard to the assumptions made, highly dependent on management"s estimates and
judgments. This applies particularly to the significant measurement uncertainty associated with the fair
value of such investments relating to significant unobservable inputs used, such as the selection of
appropriate comparable company data, in deriving revenue multiples as well as forecasted performance of the
investees.

The respective disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of unlisted equity securities of the Group
are contained in sections ““D.6 Equity Investments”” and ““F.2 Fair Value Disclosures on Financial
Instruments”” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Response and Observations

We involved internal experts with specialized skills and knowledge in valuation to assist in assessing and
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation technique used for a selection of certain investments in
unlisted equity securities relating to Sapphire Ventures investments. We tested the appropriateness of the
valuation technique selected by comparing it to our expectation based on industry experience and knowledge
of the investment. We assessed the source, reliability and relevance of evidence used in determining
significant unobservable inputs and we evaluated the significant unobservable inputs considered in the
recurring measurement of fair value by comparing them to historical and market information. In addition, we
developed an independent range of acceptable fair value estimates utilizing available market information
from third party sources to assess whether managements estimates are reasonable.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management®s judgements related to the fair value
measurement of unlisted equity securities acceptable.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The executive board and the supervisory board are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises:

the combined non-financial statement provided in section ““Group Sustainability Statement”” of
thecombined management report,

the separately published corporate governance statement, to which reference is made in section
““Corporate Governance Fundamentals”” of the combined management report,

the disclosures extraneous to the combined management report and marked as unaudited,

the annual report on Form 20-F and the other parts of the annual report, except for the auditedfinancial
statements and combined management report as well as our auditor®s report and

the other parts of the annual report, except for the audited consolidated financial statements
andcombined management report as well as our auditor®s report.

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined management report do not
cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and thereby acknowledge
whether the other information

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the combinedmanagement
report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In addition, we were engaged to perform an independent assurance engagement on selected qualitative and
quantitative sustainability disclosures, which is also other information of the integrated report 2024. In
regard to the nature, extent and conclusions of this independent assurance engagement for specific other
information we refer to our independent assurance report dated February 19, 2025.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The executive board is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
comply, in all material respects, with the IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU and the
additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB as well as the IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and that the consolidated financial
statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and financial performance of the group. In addition, the executive board is responsible
for such internal control as the executive board has determined necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i. e.
fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive board is responsible for assessing the
group”s ability to continue as a going concern. The executive board also has the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, the executive board is
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the executive board is responsible for the preparation of the combined management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the group®s position and is, in all material respects,
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive board
is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as the executive board has considered necessary
to enable the preparation of a combined management report that is in accordance with the applicable German
legal requirements, the German Accounting Standard number 20 (GAS 20) and the IFRS Practice Statement
Management Commentary and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the
combined management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the group®s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report.
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AUDITOR™S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND OF THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined
management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the group®s position and, in all material
respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit,
complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of
future development, as well as to issue an auditor®"s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the combined management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted
Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) and
supplementary compliance with the ISAs and standards of the PCAOB will always detect a material
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this combined management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of
the combined management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the combined management report in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive board and the reasonableness
of estimates made by the executive board and related disclosures.

conclude on the appropriateness of the executive boards® use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor®s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the combined management
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.
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evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the group in compliance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU as well as with the IFRS Accounting Standards, as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming the audit opinions
on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined management report. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

evaluate the consistency of the combined management report with the consolidated financial statements,
its conformity with German law, and the view of the group®s position it provides.

perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive board in the combined
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the
significant assumptions used by the executive board as a basis for the prospective information, and
evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express
a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a
substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant
independence requirements and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and, where applicable, the actions taken or safeguards applied to
eliminate independence threats.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING IN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO PCAOB

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

We have audited SAP SE's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the ““COSO criteria””). In our opinion, SAP SE
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria.

Executive Board"s and Supervisory Board"s Responsibility for the Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial Statements

The executive board is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management®s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

A company®s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company"s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company®s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing SAP SE's internal control over financial reporting in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor®s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting in
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on SAP SE"s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to SAP SE in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

REPORT ON THE ASSURANCE ON THE ELECTRONIC RENDERING OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT, PREPARED FOR
PUBLICATION PURPOSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH § 317 (3A) HGB

Assurance Opinion

We have performed assurance work in accordance with § 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report
(hereinafter the ““ESEF documents””) contained in the electronic file ““sap-2024-12-31-DE.zip”” and
prepared for publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB
for the electronic reporting format (““ESEF format””). In accordance with German legal requirements, this
assurance work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the consolidated financial
statements and the combined management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the
information contained within these renderings nor to any other information contained in the file identified
above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report
contained in the electronic file identified above and prepared for publication purposes complies in all
material respects with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. Beyond this
assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying combined management report for the financial year from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024,
contained in the ““Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined
management report”” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained within
these renderings or on the other information contained in the file identified above.
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Basis for the Assurance Opinion

We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined
management report contained in the file identified above in accordance with § 317 (3a) HGB and the IDW
Assurance Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic Rendering of Financial Statements and Management Reports,
Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with § 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS 410 (06.2022). Our responsibility
in accordance therewith is further described in the ““Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the
ESEF Documents”” section. Our audit firm has applied the requirements of the IDW Quality Management Standards,
which implement the 1AASB"s International Standards on Quality Management.

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the ESEF Documents

The executive board of the company is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents with the electronic
renderings of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report in accordance with § 328
(1) sentence 4 No. 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 328
(1) sentence 4 No. 2 HGB.

In addition, the executive board of the company is responsible for such internal controls that they have
considered necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material intentional or
unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the process for preparing the ESEF documents as part of the
financial reporting process.

Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF documents

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB. We exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the assurance work. We also

identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements
of § 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain assurance
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance opinion.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in order to
design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the file containing the ESEF documents
meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version in force at the date of the
financial statements, on the technical specification for this electronic file.

evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the audited
consolidated financial statements and to the audited combined management report.

evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance with the
requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version in force at the
date of the financial statements, enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the

XHTML rendering.
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FURTHER INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 10 OF THE EU AUDIT REGULATION

We were elected as auditor by the annual general meeting on May 15, 2024. We were engaged by the chairperson of
the Audit and Compliance Committee on May 17, 2024. We have been the auditor of the consolidated financial
statements of SAP SE without interruption since the financial year 2023.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this auditor®s report are consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

In addition to the financial statement audit of SAP SE, we have performed various financial statement audits at
subsidiaries and have provided to group entities the following services that are not disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements or in the combined management report for the audited entity or its controlled
entities:

assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability disclosures of the Integrated
Report 2024,

limited assurance engagement on the combined non-financial statement according to 8 8 315 b and ¢ HGB in
conjunction with § § 289b to 289e HGB,

service organization attestation procedures,

audit of EMIR requirements according to section 32 para. 1 German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) in
conjunction with section 3 Counterparty Audit Certificate Ordinance (GPriufbV),

audit of the compensation report including related disclosures of SAP SE pursuant to the requirements of
section 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act [AktG].

OTHER MATTER— USE OF THE AUDITOR"S REPORT

Our auditor®s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and the
audited combined management report as well as the assured ESEF documents. The consolidated financial statements
and the combined management report converted to the ESEF format— including the versions to be published in the
German Company Register — are merely electronic renderings of the audited consolidated financial statements and
the audited combined management report and do not take their place. In particular, the ESEF report and our
assurance opinion contained therein are to be used solely together with the assured ESEF documents provided in
electronic form.

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Dr. Jens Freiberg.
Frankfurt am Main, February 19, 2025

BDO AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesel Ischaft

Signed by Dr. Freiberg Signed by Klinke
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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